

## High Dimensional Graph Theoretical Approaches for Various Omics Data

Enzo Battistella

### ► To cite this version:

Enzo Battistella. High Dimensional Graph Theoretical Approaches for Various Omics Data. Statistics [math.ST]. Université Paris-Saclay, 2021. English. NNT: 2021UPASL047. tel-03409196

## HAL Id: tel-03409196 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03409196

Submitted on 29 Oct 2021

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



# High Dimensional Graph Theory Approaches for Various Omics Data

Thèse de doctorat de l'Université Paris-Saclay

École doctorale n° 582, Cancérologie, Biologie, Médecine, Santé (CBMS) Spécialité de doctorat: Recherche clinique, innovation technologique, santé publique Unités de recherche: Université Paris-Saclay, CentraleSupélec, Inria, Mathématiques et Informatique pour la Complexité et les Systèmes, 91190, Gif-sur-Yvette, France. Gustave Roussy, Inserm UMR 1030, Radiothérapie Moléculaire et Innovation Thérapeutique, ImmunoRadAl Référent: Faculté de Médecine

Thèse présentée et soutenue à Gif-Sur-Yvette (CentraleSupélec), le 13/07/2021, par

### **Enzo BATTISTELLA**

#### Composition du jury:

Présidente
Rapporteur & Examinateu
Rapporteur & Examinateu
Examinateur
Examinateur
Examinatrice
Examinateur
Directeur
Co-Directeur
Co-Encadrante

NNT: 2021UPASL047

# Remerciements

Je souhaiterais tout d'abord remercier mes directeurs de thèse les Professeurs Éric Deutsch et Nikos Paragios pour m'avoir offert l'opportunité de réaliser ma thèse sous leur guidance, pour les projets palpitants auxquels ils m'ont permis de participer et pour les précieux conseils qu'ils m'ont dispensés. Je tiens également à remercier tout particulièrement la Docteure Maria Vakalopoulou pour son aide au quotidien, sa grande disponibilité, l'immense travail de relecture qu'elle a réalisé pour la rédaction de mes articles et de ma thèse et pour sa joie et sa bonne humeur.

Je suis extrêmement reconnaissant à Karteek Alahari, Michalis Vazirgiannis, Laurent Dercle, Laure Fournier, Christophe Massard, Charlotte Robert et Vassili Soumelis pour l'honneur qu'ils m'ont fait en acceptant de faire partie de mon jury et de lire mon manuscrit. Je remercie spécialement les rapporteurs Karteek Alahari et Michalis Vazirgiannis pour leurs remarques et commentaires.

Un grand merci à la Professeure Lidia Kavraki pour m'avoir reçu dans son laboratoire de la Rice University. Cette collaboration me fut très instructive et ses conseils très appréciés. J'ai pu vivre une expérience exceptionnelle grâce aux membres de son équipe. Les pensionnaires de Chez Margot ont particulièrement contribués à rendre ce séjour si mémorable. Je remercie spécialement mes colocataires et amis Karla Alvarado Romero, Alberto Zendejas Frias, Giovanni Paolo Delle Donne, Yash Deshpande et Lidia Di Cerbo.

Je tiens à remercier ensuite mes collègues du Mics à Centrale Supélec et de l'équipe de Gustave Roussy dont la camaraderie et l'esprit d'entraide m'ont permis de traverser les périples de la vie de chercheur parsemés de hauts et de bas. Merci au Professeur Paul-Henry Cournède et au Docteur Charlotte Robert pour leur support et leur aide. Je remercie les membres de l'équipe de Gustave Roussy Émilie Alvarez-Andres, Nathan Benzazon, Jade Briend-Diop, Alexandre Carré, Stéphane Niyoteka, Angéla Rouyar-Nicolas et Roger Sun. Un grand merci à Théo Estienne, Théophraste Henry, Marvin Lerousseau et Amaury Leroy pour l'animation qu'ils ne manquent pas de mettre dans le bureau et pour leur humour particulier, qui a du chien.

Je remercie profondément mes amis de toujours Auguste Courtin et Clément Mazoyer avec qui j'ai grandi et qui me supportent depuis plus de 20 ans. Votre amitié et vos taquineries incisives me sont très chères. Merci à Aurore Aspar, Julie Montels, Marie Portes et Eva Salomone dont le soutien m'est essentiel dans les moments difficiles depuis les classes préparatoires. Une pensée spéciale pour Aurore Aspar et Marie Portes pour tous nos événements du groupe piquenique. Je remercie également mes amis du Lycée Pierre Bourdieu Téophile Costes, Léa Palabe, Augustin Picard, Cécile Trapp, Louis Villa et Cindy Voyer; les Télécommiens Benoît Colas, Samuel Delcourt, Thomas Eboli, Joseph Enguehard, Alexandra Gaudron et Bastien Ponchon; mes amis Abdou Benchenna, Claire Bonfils, Cécile Cruset, Mohammed El Abridi, Pierre Gautier, Victoria Génissel, Jérémy Guiselin et Hajar Khairallah. Je voudrais remercier en particulier Marie-Charlotte Jaeger pour son soutien, Aymeric Auriol, Arnaud Bonetti et Guillaume Lorre pour nos nombreuses séances de théâtre, Pierre Meziane le déménageur de l'extrême et hôte de qualité, Élodie Lecué pour nos multiples séances de télétravail motivantes et dans la bonne humeur.

Finalement, je tiens à remercier profondément ma famille sur qui j'ai toujours pu me reposer. Merci à mes parents qui m'ont tout donné et se sont assurés que je ne manque jamais de rien. Merci Papa pour ton humour et ton optimisme toujours bienvenus. Merci Maman pour ton organisation sans faille, ton attention et ta bienveillance. Merci pour tout ce que vous m'avez appris et pour avoir toujours été là pour moi. Merci à ma Tante, mon Oncle, mes Cousins Jean-Florent, Lucie et Mathis, à ma Marraine et mes deux Filleules qui comptent beaucoup pour moi. Merci à mes Grand-Mères pour tout le temps qu'elles m'ont accordé, vous êtes un exemple de force pour moi. Et merci à mon Grand-Père qui a toujours été un modèle de droiture et de labeur. Il était fier de ses petits-fils et de leur parcours. J'aurais aimé qu'il puisse assister à ma soutenance.

# Résumé

Cette thèse introduit l'usage d'approches reposant sur les « conditional random fields » à diverses applications médicales et données omiques. Ces méthodes permettent de tirer parti au mieux d'informations structurelles lourdes à interpréter et analyser dont, en particulier, des propriétés notables provenant de la théorie des graphes. L'emploi de la théorie des graphes d'ordre supérieur revêt un intérêt tout particulier pour l'expression des relations biologiques complexes. Nous démontrons leur pertinence dans les domaines du « clustering » et de la sélection de variables pour la classification. Nous nous sommes appuyés sur plusieurs applications médicales et données omiques pour mettre ces résultats en lumière.

Dans un premier temps, nous avons proposé un système générique et résilient de sélection de variables et de classification reposant sur des méthodes d'ensemble pour une augmentation significative des performances. Notre cas d'étude principal pour cette partie est la caractérisation de la sévérité de la maladie et l'issue clinique de patients atteints par la COVID-19. Dans ce but, nous avons recouru à des images scanners et plus précisément sur des informations extraites de segmentations automatiques des organes et zones lésées des poumons que nous avons combinées avec des informations cliniques obtenues en pratique de routine. Après une étape fondamentale de réduction de dimension, nous avons identifié un nombre restreint de facteurs déterminés comme primordiaux pour la classification. Nous reportons des performances prometteuses dépassant celles de radiologues experts sur toutes les tâches considérées. Nous avons étendu plus avant et adapté cette méthodologie pour traiter d'autres données omiques, maladies et attendus médicaux. Nous nous sommes particulièrement intéressés à la prédiction de la réponse à un traitement d'immunothérapie pour des patients atteints de cancer du sein. Cette étude multi-omique utilise des données génétiques, cliniques et des données histopathologiques valorisées par un algorithme de segmentation automatique des lymphocytes.

Par la suite, nous étudions un procédé de clustering pour la définition d'une signature de gènes présentant un intérêt clinique vis-à-vis de la caractérisation pan-cancer de lésions. L'oncologie représente un domaine d'application parfait pour ce type d'approche du fait de l'hétérogénéité tumorale et de l'importance particulière de l'étude de cette affliction dramatique à l'ampleur mondiale. Bien des études se sont essayées à la description du cancer grâce à la génomique. Cependant, la complexité de la tâche réside dans la grande dimensionnalité des données et le coût tant matériel, humain et temporel de la réalisation d'expériences visant à déterminer les fonctions de gènes encore inconnus. Nous prouvons la pertinence de la signature génétique très compacte générée par notre méthode en exploitant des approches supervisées et non-supervisées pour la caractérisation des types et sous-types de tumeurs. Nous avons également employé des mesures statistiques de significativité pour faire état de l'intérêt biologique des gènes que nous avons isolés. Dans cette étude, nous portons un intérêt substantiel à l'évaluation des techniques de clustering et proposons une méthode de comparaison spécifique à la génomique. Notre approche combine la prise en compte de critères mathématiques et biologiques afin d'établir des clusters présentant une bonne séparation des gènes guidée par les données employées et en accord avec les connaissances actuelles d'interactions entre protéines.

Finalement, nous avons défini une nouvelle approche d'apprentissage de distance d'ordre supérieur à viser de sélection et de pondération de variables. Cette formulation et la méthode de résolution que nous proposons se fonde sur les « conditional random fields » et permet de gérer efficacement la complexité structurelle d'informations d'ordre-supérieur. Fort de la grande expressivité de ce paradigme, nous avons exploré diverses propriétés de théorie des graphes d'ordre supérieur telles que les cliques, l'excentricité, la connectivité et la longueur des chemins. Nous établissons que ces attributs, dans le cadre d'une tâche de classification, possèdent une grande expressivité et permettent d'obtenir des résultats supérieurs à ceux des méthodes standards.

 $\mathbf{iv}$ 

# Abstract

This thesis presented conditional-random-field-based approaches for medical applications on diverse omics data. This methodology allowed leveraging more complex, structural information and notable assets from graph theory, particularly interesting to express intricate biological properties. We demonstrated their usefulness for clustering and feature selection towards classification. Their relevance was exemplified over several medical applications and omics data.

First, we proposed a generic and resilient feature selection and classification pipeline we developed for COVID-19 patients staging and outcome prediction using only CT scans and clinical information. Relying on an automated segmentation technique, we extracted imaging information. After a required step of dimensionality reduction, we singled out a few relevant factors for classification. We obtained promising performance outperforming radiologist experts on all the tasks. We further extended and adapted our methodology to cope with other different omics data, diseases, and medical expectations.

Second, we focused on a clustering process towards the determination of a clinically relevant gene signature for pan-cancer lesions characterization. Oncology is a perfectly suited area for this kind of approach as tumors present a high heterogeneity while being a major affliction worldwide. Many studies are involved in its description through genomics. However, the task's complexity dwells in the data's large dimensionality and the experimental cost for identifying unknown gene functions. We highlighted our compact signature's relevance by resorting to unsupervised and supervised tumor types and subtypes distinction combined with statistically significant biological considerations.

Finally, we formulated a new higher-order distance learning framework for feature selection and weighting, relying on conditional random fields and clustering. We proposed a mathematical optimization method for its resolution able to handle the high-order information complexity efficiently. Strong from this paradigm's expressiveness, we investigated the use of high-order graph theory properties as cliques, eccentricity, connectivity, or path lengths. We established those attributes' informativeness in classification settings and reported superior results than with standard approaches.

# Contents

Co	Vii		
Li	st of	Figures	ix
Li	st of	Tables	xiii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Medical Incentives	4
	1.2	Technical Incentives	6
	1.3	Objectives of the Thesis	6
	1.4	Main Contributions	7
	1.5	Publications	8
<b>2</b>	For	mal Standard Approaches Definitions	9
	2.1	Notations	10
	2.2	Supervised Paradigm	10
	2.3	Unsupervised Paradigm	19
	2.4	Conditional Random Field (CRF)	25
3	Ens	emble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 Pneu-	
	mor	nia and Cancer	<b>31</b>
	3.1	Introduction	33
	3.2	Related Work	34
	3.3	Methodology	36
	3.4	AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia	38
	3.5	Holistic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2-positive (HER2+) early $% \left( {\rm HER2} + $	
		breast cancer (BC)	59
	3.6	Atopic Dermatitis Severity Prediction	61
	3.7	Future Work	64
4	Can	cer Gene Profiling through Unsupervised Discovery	67
	4.1	Introduction	69
	4.2	Methodology	70
	4.3	Dataset	76
	4.4	Results and Discussion	76
	4.5	Conclusions	93

<b>5</b>	GH	OST: Graph Higher-Order Similarity Topologies Learning for Classifica-	
	tion	L	95
	5.1	Introduction	97
	5.2	Related Work	98
	5.3	Methodology	99
	5.4	Implementation Details	112
	5.5	Results and Discussion	113
	5.6	Conclusion	114
6	Con	nclusion 1	17
	6.1	Main Contributions	118
	6.2	Perspectives and Future Applications	119
	6.3	Medical Graph Generation	122
$\mathbf{A}$	App	pendix	I
	A.1	Appendix: Chapter 3	Ι
	A.2	Appendix: Chapter 4	Π
	A.3	Appendix: Chapter 5	VI
в	Glos	ssary	XI
Bi	bliog	graphy X	III

# List of Figures

#### 

3.2	Overview of the method for automatic quantification, staging and prognosis of Covid-19. Our study includes 8 independent cohorts, resulting in 693 Covid-19 patients in total. A variety of clinical and biological attributes were collected and combined with imaging biomarkers for short and long term prognosis of Covid- 19 patients. Our study is composed by three different steps: (i) Proposing a state-of-the-art deep learning based consensus of 2D & 3D networks for automatic quantification of Covid-19 disease, reaching expert-level annotations, (ii) A ra- diomics study integrating interpretable features extracted from disease, lung and heart regions. A consensus-driven Covid-19 low dimensional bio(imaging)-holistic profiling and staging signature has been proposed using robust machine learning algorithms, fusing imaging, clinical and biological attributes. & (iii) An ensemble of robust linear & non-linear classification methods for the proper identification of patients needing intubation	30
33	Correlation between body mass index (BMI) and fat ratio	42
3.4	Training and validation curves for one template/ atlas $(A_i)$ of CovidE2D and the CovidE3D.	45
3.5	Box-Plot in terms of DSC and HD between CovidENet and its individual com- ponents, Obs1 & Obs2. One can observe that CovidENet (blue) performs better and closer to Obs1-Obs2 (red) regarding DSC and HD metrics than its individual components CovidE2D & CovidE3D	50
3.6	Plots indicating the correlation between automatically measured disease extent and the average disease extent from CovidE2D, CovidE3D, and CovidENet re- spectively, and the manual segmentation. Disease extent is expressed as the per- centage of lung affected by the disease. The red line shows a perfect correlation (Spearman $R = 1$ ). Spearman rank correlation coefficients are displayed for each comparison.	51
3.7	Qualitative analysis for the comparison between manual and the proposed Cov- idENet disease quantification. Delineation of the diseased areas on chest CT in different slices of Covid-19 patients. From left to right: Input, CovidENet- segmentation, Obs1-segmentation, Obs2-segmentation	52

3.8	Covid-19 Holistic Multi-Omics Signature & Staging: Spider chart representing average profiles (average values of the variables after normalization between 0 and 1) concerning severe versus non-severe separation are shown along with the prevalence of biomarkers (diameter of the circle). The prevalence of the biomarker corresponds to its number of selections during the feature selection process. Clas- sification performance, confusion matrices, and area under the curve concerning the proposed method and the consensus of expert readers (reader+) are reported on the right side. Selective associations of features with the outcome (NS/S) are shown at the figure's top right (box plots)	53
3.9	Short & Long Term Prognosis. Spider chart representing average profiles (average values of the variables after normalization between 0 and 1) for the short deceased (SD), long deceased (LD), and long recovered (LR) classes are shown along with their correlations with the outcome (diameter of the circle). The presented correlation corresponds to Pearson Correlation for LR/LD outcome (Table 5). Classification performance, confusion matrices, and area under the curve of the proposed method and - when feasible - the consensus of expert readers (reader+) are reported on the right side. ROC curves correspond to the one-vs-all classification of the SD/LR/LD patients. Selective associations of features with the outcome (LD/LR) are shown at the bottom of the figure (box plots)	54
3.1	0 Overview of the features extraction, selection, and prediction process for pamela cohort (Section 3.5).	60
4.1	<b>Proposed Framework.</b> A general overview of the different steps of our process. Our proposed framework is composed of two steps. First, a clustering algorithm, here LP-Stability, is used to generate clusters of genes having similar expression profiles. Then, the clustering that performs best on both mathematical and bi- ological scores is selected as a gene signature. In the second step, the generated signature is used to perform sample clustering and sample classification. The per- formance on this step is evaluated by analysing the distribution of the samples into the different clusters or the performance on the classification tasks, here the target was the tumor types and subtypes characterization	71
4.2	<b>Evaluation of the clustering performance for different Enrichment Thresh- old values.</b> LP-Stability (upper left), CorEx (upper right), K-Means (lower left), Random (lower right). The figure presents the percentage of the enriched clus- ters for the threshold values of 0.005, 0.025, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1 and using Kendall's correlation-based distance. The higher differences in the enrichment thresholds are reported from the Random Clustering when the number of clusters is relatively high. For the rest of the algorithms and especially LP-Stability, the different	
	thresholds only slightly impact the reported results.	77

x

- 4.3 Evaluation of the clustering performance for different distances. The performance of the different distances are presented for both Random (left) in terms of Dunn's Index and LP-Stability clustering (middle and right) in terms of Dunn's Index and Enrichment Score. Only DI results are presented for Random as ES computation on a same clustering is not influenced by the distance used. Both ES and DI are presented in percentages in terms of the number of clusters. The figure highlights the superiority of the correlation-based distances and in particular the one reported by Kendall's for both mathematical and biological aspects. . . .
- 4.4 **Evaluation of the different clustering algorithms.** For the different evaluated algorithms the ES and the DI are presented in terms of number of clusters and using Kendall's correlation-based distance. For both metrics, LP-Stability reports the highest and more stable values. Moreover, the rest of the algorithms tends to report their higher scores for a very small number of clusters (often 2), indicating their failure to discover clustering structures.
- 4.5 Gene Signature Assessment for the CorEx algorithm. The graph depicts the distribution of the different tumor types in 10 different clusters using the best signature produced by CorEx algorithm (5 genes). From the graph one can observe that the different tumor types are quite intermixed across the different clusters without any association between them.
- 4.6 Gene Assessment performed with LP-Stability clustering and Kendall's correlation-based distance. The plot presents the distribution of tumors using the signature produced by LP-Stability and Kendall's correlation-based distance (right) in comparison to the Spearman's one (left). This assessment is performed in order to compare the influence of the distance in the clustering. We can observe that there are some similar clusters between the two distances such as the well defined clusters of GBM and LIHC together with LUAD/LUSC cluster (Cluster 5), a squamous cluster (Cluster 7) and some well defined BRCA clusters (Clusters 1 and 8). Thus, regarding sample clustering, it appears that the good characterization of monotonic relations offered by Spearman's Rank correlation-based distance is better suited than the more general characterization of the Kendall's one.
- 4.7 Gene Signature Assessment via tumor distribution analysis across 10 sample clusters generated in the different signatures feature space. The graph presents the distribution of the different tumors for Random Clustering signature (27 genes), CorEx, K-Means, a referential gene signature [Thorsson, 2018] and LP-Stability. The distribution of tumors for Random and CorEx algorithms is quite intermixed without a lot of associations between the tumor types while K-Means, referential and LP-Stability signatures seem to favor some good tumor associations.

78

80

80

82

84

4.8	Gene Assessment performed with LP-Stability clustering and Kendall's		
	correlation-based distance. The plot presents the distribution of tumors using		
	the signature produced by LP-Stability and Kendall's correlation-based distance		
	(right) in comparison to the Spearman's one (left). This assessment is performed		
	in order to compare the influence of the distance in the clustering. We can observe		
	that there are some similar clusters between the two distances such as the well		
	defined clusters of GBM and LIHC together with LUAD/LUSC cluster (Cluster		
	5), a squamous cluster (Cluster 7) and some well defined BRCA clusters (Clusters		
	1 and 8). Thus, regarding sample clustering, it appears that the good charac-		
	terization of monotonic relations offered by Spearman's Rank correlation-based		
	distance is better suited than the more general characterization of the Kendall's		
	one	85	
4.9	Comparison of the different signatures. Blue: criteria based on the gene		
	clustering performance, Green: criteria based on the informativeness of the signa-		
	ture for unsupervised clustering tasks and Gold: criteria based on the relevance		
	of the signature for supervised classification tasks.	92	

# List of Tables

2.1	Main advantages and drawbacks of the standard classification algorithms intro- duced in this chapter	16
3.1	Acquisition and reconstruction parameters of the dataset used in this study. Note: For quantitative variables, data are presented as mean $\pm$ standard deviation, and numbers in brackets indicate their range. $CT = Computed$ Tomography; $CTDIvol$ = Volume Computed Tomography Dose Index : $DLP = Dose$ Length Product.	47
3.2	Patient characteristics for the automatic quantification of Covid-19 disease. Note: For quantitative variables, data are presented as mean $\pm$ standard deviation, and numbers in brackets indicate their range. $CT = Computed Tomography; CTDIvol$	
3.3	= Volume Computed Tomography Dose Index; $DLP = Dose Length Product.$ Patient characteristics for the automatic staging and prognosis tools. Note: For quantitative variables, data are presented as mean $\pm$ standard deviation, and num- bers in brackets indicate their range. For qualitative variables, data are numbers of patients, and numbers in parentheses are percentages. $CT = Computed$ To- mography, $CTDIvol =$ volume Computed Tomography Dose Index; $DLP = Dose$ Length Product. *Available clinical data: $n = 692$ for diabetes and high blood pres- sure(leading to 0.19% of missing data on the training set), $n = 674$ for lymphocyte count (leading to 2.05% and 5.10% of missing data on the training and test sets respectively), $n = 654$ for CRP (leading to 4.66% and 8.92% of missing data on the training and test sets respectively), $n = 362$ for Body Mass Index, and $n = 339$	47
	for D-dimers. **Percentage of lung volume on the whole CT. ***Data available for 688 nationts	49
3.4	Quantitative evaluation of the CovidENet and its components CovidE2D & Co- vidE3D architectures regarding Dice Coefficient and Hausdorff Distance. The mean, median, and standard deviation for each of the developed tools are pre- sented together compared to the 2 independent experts. With bold, we indicate the highest values per metric.	50
3.5	Correlation between outcome and the 23 features of the holistic Covid19 signature. Note: , $GLRLM$ , $GLDM$ , $LD = long-term-deceased$ , $LR = long-term deceased$ , $NS$	00
3.6	= non-severe, $S =$ severe, $SI =$ short-term intubation, $SD =$ short-term deceased. Prognosis of medical experts and their consensus for the non-severe (NS) versus Severe (S), Intubated (SI) versus Deceased (SD) and NS/SI/SD patients Note: Classification Performance Reader <sup>A</sup> (Senior), Reader <sup>B</sup> (Established), Reader <sup>C</sup> (Resident), Reader <sup>+++</sup> (Consensus among Human Readers), Reader <sup></sup> (Aver-	55
	age performance of Human Readers)	56

3.7	Performance for the Deceased (LD) and Recovered (LR) in the long-term outcome	
	for each of the selected classifiers and their ensemble. Note: $P$ -SVM = Support	
	Vector Machine with a polynomial kernel; $S$ - $SVM = Support$ Vector Machine with	
	a sigmoid kernel.	56
3.8	An ablation study of the different selected features. A leave-one-out method has	
	been applied by removing one feature sequentially to test the features' impor-	
	tance and the performance robustness. Note: a) D0: disease extent, b) D1:	
	disease variables that are shape/geometry related, c) D2: disease variables that	
	are tissue/texture, d) O1: heart/lungs variables that are shape/geometry related,	
	e) O2: heart/lungs variables that are tissue/texture, f) B1: age, gender, biolog-	
	ical/obesity/diabetes/fat/high blood pressure. $LD = long-term-deceased;$ $LR =$	
	long-term deceased: $NS = non-severe$ : $S = severe$ : $SI = short-term intubation$ : $SD$	
	= short-term deceased	57
39	Training and test results obtained on Pamela cohort. Ablation results per features	
0.0	types are also reported	61
3 10	Test confusion matrix on Pamela cohort	61
0.10		01
4.1	Description of the dataset used in this study. The different tumors and	
	tumor types together with the corresponding number of samples are summarised.	
	Urothelial Bladder Carcinoma (BLCA), Breast Invasive Carcinoma (BRCA), Cer-	
	vical Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Endocervical Adenocarcinoma (CESC), Gliobla	3-
	toma Multiforme (GBM), Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma (HNSC),	
	Liver Hepatocellular Carcinoma (LIHC), Rectum Adenocarcinoma (READ), Lung	
	adenocarcinoma (LUAD), Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma (LUSC) and Ovarian	
	Cancer (OV)	75
4.2	Comparison of the different evaluated algorithms in terms of PPI Enrichment Score	
	(ES) with a threshold of 0.005. Dunn's Index (DI). Average ES and computational	
	time LP-Stability algorithm outperforms the rest of the algorithms reporting	
	highest DI and Average ES score and the lowest computational time	79
13	Discovery Power: A complete comparison for the distribution of the tumor types	10
4.0	(above 10%) from the best performing algorithms. I.P. Stability with 27 genes	
	using Kondall's correlation based distance and K Means with 20 games using Fu	
	didgen distance. The last column indicates the algorithm that provided the best	
	distribution for the specific turner turne. It highlights the superiority of the LD	
	distribution for the specific tumor type. It nightights the superiority of the LP-	0.9
		83
4.4	Analysis of the biological pathways and most significant genes per cluster for the	
	sample clustering performed using our proposed signature of 27 genes via LP-	
	Stability algorithm and Kendall's correlation-based distance. The table highlights	
	the separation between inflamed and non-inflamed tumors and the identification	
	of well-known cancer subtypes such as BRCA	86

4.5	<b>Expression Power</b> of the sample clustering using as features respectively our	
	proposed signature, a referential signature from literature [Thorsson, 2018] and	
	average performance using 10 sets of randomly-selected genes of same size as the	
	proposed signature. We observe that the two best performing signatures are the	
	ones produced with our pipeline. The first using K-Means clustering the second,	
	our proposed signature, using LP-Stability.	90
4.6	<b>Tumor Types Classification</b> performance using the average performance of 10	
	sets of randomly-selected genes of same size as the proposed signature, CorEx,	
	K-Means, the referential [Thorsson, 2018] and our proposed signatures	91
4.7	Tumor Subtypes Classification performance using the average performance	
	using 10 sets of randomly-selected genes of same size as the proposed signature,	
	CorEx, K-Means, the referential [Thorsson, 2018] and our proposed signature.	
	Only the 5 types of tumors with more than $50 \times n\_subtypes$ samples were studied	91
5.1	Results with the synthetic dataset of the different experiments in the second-order	
	settings for the various inference strategies.	113
5.2	Results on the synthetic dataset of the different higher-order experiments with the	
	distance to center inference strategy	114
5.3	Performance of the different learning frameworks over the Covid-19 dataset. The 3	
	first rows stand for second-order frameworks with or without the use of a balanced	
	error function and path length information. The fourth row is the higher-order	
	framework combining the second-order, the cluster and the third-order metrics.	
	The last row is the performance of the ensemble of standard classifiers as defined	
	in Chapter 3	115
A.1	Performance for the Severe (S) and Non-Severe (NS) short-term outcome for each	
	of the top-5 selected classifiers and their ensemble presented in Section 5. Note:	
	L-SVM = Support Vector Machine with a linear kernel; $RBF$ -SVM = Support	
	Vector Machine with a Radial Basis Function kernel	Ι
A.2	Performance for the Intubated (SI) and Deceased (SD) patients in the short-term	
	outcome outcome for each of the top-5 selected classifiers and their ensemble.	
	Note: $P$ -SVM = Support Vector Machine with a polynomial kernel	Π
A.3	Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Proposed Signature Training-Validation	
	tumor types classification performance using the proposed signature $(27 \text{ genes})$ .	
	Voting Classifier is composed of classifiers having reached a balanced accuracy	
	above $80\%$ on validation	IV
A.4	Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Proposed Signature Training-Test tu-	
	mor types classification performance using the proposed signature $(27 \text{ genes})$ after	
	retraining on entire Training-Validation set	V

A.5	Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Referential Signature [Thorsson, 2018]			
	Training-Validation tumor types classification performance using the referential			
	signature (78 genes). Voting Classifier is composed of classifiers having reached a			
	balanced accuracy above $80\%$ on validation and presenting a difference of balanced			
	accuracy between training and validation below $20\%$	V		
A.6	Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Referential Signature [28] Training-Test			
	tumor types classification performance using the referential signature (78 genes)			
	after retraining on entire Training-Validation set	V		
A.7	Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Random Signatures Training-Validation			
	tumor types classification average performance over 10 random signatures (27			
	genes each). Voting Classifier is composed of classifiers having reached a balanced			
	accuracy above 80% on validation.	VI		
A.8	Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Random Signatures Training-Test tumor			
	types classification average performance over 10 random signatures (27 genes each)			
	after retraining entire Training-Validation set	VI		

## Chapter 1

# Introduction

Recently, the medical field has greatly benefited from many technical advances enabling the collection of constantly more medical data of diverse modalities. One tremendous improvement was in DNA and RNA sequencing techniques [Kurian, 2014] which has permitted a more standard use of genomics information for specific diseases while promoting proteomics data. The rising awareness of the macroscopic clinical variables' informativeness and the spreading of new analysis techniques enabled to amass a substantial quantity of medical records. Besides, imaging machines' routine use has generated quantities of images such as CT scans, MRI, ultrasound, or even histological images. Their variety and complementarity offer high promises towards the definition of a holistic model while at the same time representing an incredibly complex task to tackle. Indeed, biological processes understanding and modeling require leveraging intricately intertwined high-dimensional data.

To tackle the data high-dimensionality, previous medical studies relied on standard correlations to select the most relevant genes [Lippitz, 2016], drugs [Konecny, 2000] or environmental causes [Correa, 1981] for diverse diseases and contexts. Notwithstanding, mere correlation, even if allowing to identify interesting variables that might offer a good insight on a disease, is generally not enough to enlighten on prominent aspects as patients' outcome, treatment, or disease characterization. Towards these objectives, a predictive-oriented approach considering the data relationships in their entirety is required.

In parallel, the field of machine learning has flourished these last years and highly expanded its areas of application. When dealing with such an amount of data and variables, machine learning approaches are especially appropriate for their versatility and efficiency. Thus, it motivated developing a flurry of machine learning algorithms to provide continuous or categorical predictions from any type of data and at destination of any application field. In particular, thanks to its main paradigms with supervised, semi-supervised, unsupervised, and reinforcement approaches, machine learning became of prime importance for the medical community. The supervised and unsupervised approaches have been intensely investigated in medicine. Indeed, unsupervised techniques enable uncovering unknown relations without any a priori knowledge or any need for annotation. In particular, clustering [Xu, 2008] is a widespread technique used to discover new groups of variables as genes or new relations between samples, for instance, tumor samples genomic similarity [Alon, 1999]. Clustering's strength dwells in the ability to discover previously unknown relations and patterns in the data. It represents an excellent tool for exploring biological properties without the need to resort to expensive and time-consuming wet-lab experiments. Supplementally, supervised techniques seek to optimize their predictions given a set of targeted annotations, referred to as ground truth. Their versatility empowers the determination of highly clinically relevant tasks such as the classification of samples [Sharma, 2016], prediction of treatment response [Dettling, 2003], and outcome [Horvat, 2018]. Therefore, machine learning's potential benefits in medicine are tremendous and could enhance biological process understanding, drug discovery, patient care, and treatment.

With this aim, a whole research field has arisen to design powerful machine models able to handle still untractable information amounts. Besides, while machine learning enabled a crucial shift from previous studies, merely aiming at finding correlations between variables and outcomes, to new approaches adopting a predictive goal [Obermeyer, 2016]. Nevertheless, the daunting challenge of the data's critical dimension and their highly entangled relations in determining medical outcomes remains a significant hurdle. In the medical field, the variables' dimensionality usually dramatically exceeds the number of samples. This hindrance leads to the well-documented and dreaded curse of dimensionality, which implies a great difficulty to generalize and poor results [Friedman, 1997]. To cope with this difficulty, feature selection techniques [Jain, 1997] are generally employed. They resort to various strategies to find the most predictive variables while eliminating redundancy and avoiding information loss. Prominent feature selection techniques are Lasso [Tibshirani, 1996], Elastic Net [Zou, 2005] or statistics-based approaches as for instance chi2 [Liu, 1995]. Besides, medical applications critically require excellent performances for actual applicability. Thus, improving performance soundness is crucial. Towards this end, ensemble processes [Ruta, 2005] intend to combine algorithms strengths and to be leveraged for both feature selection and classification tasks. In addition to this model robustness shortfall on medical applications, most machine learning techniques' lack of interpretability impedes their daily clinical use despite their great potential [Vellido, 2019]. Indeed, despite their state-of-the-art performance in most application fields, the ever more spread deep learning approaches face some reluctance regarding their clinical use. It is due mainly to the necessity of robust, explainable results. For patients' care-related questions, the process to come out with a prediction regarding, for instance, outcome or treatment has to be motivated by medical arguments a physician can comprehend and analyze. Notwithstanding, this particular point is the main flaw of many machine learning approaches hampering their use for clinically relevant tasks.

At the same time, graph modeling development represents a significant opportunity to leverage complex, intricate high-dimensional data. Originally, in our ever more interconnected society, the field of graph theory has flourished in studying social network properties [Barabâsi, 2002; Wang, 2011]. While bringing potent analysis tools, they aim to model convoluted relations between groups of subjects. The graph structure models the subjects as nodes and the relations as edges. Complex relations are generally analyzed through the concept of cliques (a subset of vertices of a graph such that every two distinct vertices in the clique are adjacent). The notion of path length

in a graph is also of prime importance to characterize two subjects' similarity. Besides, a node's centrality and connectivity are crucial to assess its importance in the graph. Graph theory has tremendous applications. We can evoke works on subjects' distance in graphs demonstrating interesting social sciences theories as the degree of separation, first exemplified by Milgram and theorize in [Kleinfeld, 2002]. This so-called small world theory is the basis of many studies and has been extended to many real-life complex networks, from co-authorship graphs [Koseoglu, 2016] to protein-protein interactions graphs [Telesford, 2011]. It also enables identifying critical subjects ensuring connection in a network or groups of great cohesiveness defining communities. From spotting weak points in physical [Demšar, 2008] or internet [Krioukov, 2004] networks to modeling opinion diffusion processes [Battistella, 2018], graphs resilience and adaptability are remarkable. Therefore, graph theory adoption in the biological and medical communities has been swift. However, often employed in elementary settings, graphs latent potentials are yet to be exploited in those fields. Notably, their ability to consider high-order interactions has been heavily underrated because of the difficulty to elaborate tractable models efficiently accounting for those properties. In machine learning, several fields are investigating this new paradigm. For instance, we can report the recent efforts towards new techniques for leveraging complex graph structures as the generation of ever more efficient embeddings [Celikkanat, 2018], hyper-graph partitioning [Gottesbüren, 2019] or decomposition [Dudek, 2019]. Besides, at the junction of computer science and biology, the need for expressive and complex dependency structures is dire. For instance, some innovative holistic approaches are considering more complex techniques to fuse data of different kinds [Wang, 2018] or in drug discovery to better exploit proteins 3Dstructures [Becker, 2003]. In general, high-order properties are leveraged only at a local level [Yin, 2017] or by considering nodes co-occurrences in some small patterns [Benson, 2016] as cliques of order 3. These approaches are only surrogates shadowing the humongous amount of information leveraged in higher-order structures [Grover, 2016].

#### Contents

1.1	$\mathbf{Med}$	ical Incentives	1
	1.1.1	Genomics and Cancerology	4
	1.1.2	Covid-19 Pneumonia	5
1.2	Tech	nnical Incentives $\ldots \ldots $	3
	1.2.1	Clustering Honing	3
	1.2.2	Higher-Order Conditional Random Field Harnessing	3
1.3	Obj€	ectives of the Thesis $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	3
1.4	Mair	n Contributions	7
1.5	Pub	lications	3

### **1.1** Medical Incentives

#### 1.1.1 Genomics and Cancerology

Medicine is a primordial research axis because of the stakes regarding the improvement of healthcare and the better understanding of human biology. Notwithstanding, the challenges are high as the colossal number of patients is ever increasing, the heterogeneity of the diseases is significant, and the complexity of the interactions in a living system is extreme. Therefore, mathematics and computer science fields have a lot to offer to the medical community by bringing a systemic and automatic approach to tackle the vast amount of information and account for the complexity of the structures to model. Such algorithms are all the more attractive in genomics settings, the field of study of organisms' whole genomes, by opposition to genetics, the field of study of the role of genes in inheritance (definitions of the National Human Genome Research Institute). Interest in Genomics is exemplified by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, which states that whole genome studies constitute a crucial factor in 9 of the 10 leading causes of death in the United States. However, knowledge about gene interactions and correlations to disease is costly to obtain through time-consuming wet-lab experiments. Hence, genes' omnipresence in biology and medicine induces a vast array of possible applications for machine learning techniques. Thus, data-driven approaches that allow tackling the intricacy of gene relations efficiently and fast are required.

In particular, cancer is the leading cause of death worldwide, with the appalling numbers of 19.3 million new cases diagnosed and 10 million deaths in 2020 [Bray, 2018]. It is a multifaceted disease [Bertucci, 2008], still hard to comprehend, and presenting a variety of types and subtypes in which severity, outcome, and treatment have frequently been highly correlated to a combination of environmental components and genes expressed [Hanahan, 2011]. Recent breakthroughs in immunotherapy have profoundly impacted the landscape of cancer treatment, such as lymphomas [Ansell, 2015], lung [Reck, 2016] and kidney cancers [Motzer, 2015]. It offered a new efficient alternative for patients with advanced cancers with a tumor response from 10 to 40% on the long term [Chen, 2017a; Hellmann, 2017]. However, finding relevant biomarkers enabling the definition of immune checkpoint inhibitors is a challenging task of prime importance to develop immunotherapy benefits and patients coverage. Cancerology thus constitutes a perfect application for genomics studies aiming to bring a systematic and automatic analysis of relevant genes [Garraway, 2013]. An abundance of studies has tackled the problem in various ways and, genomics [Balmain, 2003] has dramatically evolved and benefited from machine learning advances to address various aspects of cancer complexity as the convoluted task of subtypes characterization. However, both fields often rely on a priori expert knowledge guiding the definition and selection of variables to consider and lack agnostic approaches. Also, the great tumor heterogenity [Marusyk, 2010] represents a major hurdle to cancer analysis and understanding.

#### 1.1.2 Covid-19 Pneumonia

COVID-19 or SARS-Cov-2 is a new infectious disease that has been identified in 2019 in China. Since then, it has spread worldwide and has been characterized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020 [Bedford, 2020]. This disease cause is a novel Beta coronavirus named severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-Cov-2) [Anonym, 2020]. SARS-Cov-2 infects the airway epithelial cells with consequences ranging from no or few symptoms to acute respiratory distress, the leading cause of death. Symptoms include a decrease in the number of lymphocytes and white blood cells, new pulmonary infiltrates on chest radiography, and no noticeable improvement after treatment with antibiotics for three days [Zhou, 2020b]. The SARS-Cov-2 pandemic had caused more than 1.6 million deaths worldwide by the end of 2020 and has overwhelmed healthcare resources in most countries. Disease assessment, staging, and prognosis are a bottleneck for patients, health care professionals, and health care facilities. Reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) is the referential method to confirm the infection by identifying viral RNA. However, its positivity can be delayed, and false negative RT-PCR results can be encountered, especially with some of the new variants of the disease. Chest Computed Tomography (CT) scans allow the early detection of Covid-19 caused pneumonia, particularly when performed more than 3 days after symptoms onset. Chest CT is faster and can rule out differential diagnoses such as bronchopneumonia of bacterial origin, requiring antibiotics [Ai, 2020]. This has led to chest CT resort as a primary tool for patient triage in several centers during the pandemic.

The Covid-19 pandemic [Zhu, 2020] has dramatically shaken the whole world and generated considerable pressure on hospitals. This coronavirus has tried their adaptability and resources management ability. In a time of shortage, institutions had to optimize beds, intubation machines, and personnel allocation while doctors were facing a new disease; they were still unexperimented to fight [Zhou, 2020a]. Many machine learning studies have attempted to provide an automatic data-driven solution leveraging the already substantial number of patients to learn on in this context.

In recent years, literature was overflown by computer vision adaptations to medical imaging tasks [Chassagnon, 2020b; Beutel, 2000] to better leverage the imaging information extracted from the data. In particular, the flourishing field of radiomics considering different first and second-order, shape and texture features obtained highly promising results [Kumar, 2012; Sun, 2018; Yip, 2016]. All the experience gathered through these studies brings valuable insight into coping with Covid-19 challenges. More specifically, the tremendous amount of work that has already been carried out on other Pneumonia diseases will be of great benefits in this context [Chassagnon, 2019].

### **1.2** Technical Incentives

The technical obstacles when dealing with medical applications of machine learning are significant. We can evoke the aforementioned dimensionality curse, the need for excellent, robust, and interpretable results. To cope with those difficulties, we investigated two prominent paradigms combination.

#### 1.2.1 Clustering Honing

Clustering is a prominent unsupervised technique aiming to unearth latent patterns in the data and establish uncharted relations between samples. Nonetheless, the task's intrinsic difficulty in assessing the obtained clusters' pertinency remains a formidable hurdle for both clustering selection and comparison. This particular limitation is all the more critical that plenty of algorithms relying on distinct properties exist. To cope with this issue, several mathematical and fieldspecific metrics have been proposed [Kaufmann, 1987; Wagner, 2015]. However, in genomics, the lack of a standard evaluation method encompassing both mathematical well-definition properties and a concrete consideration of characteristics required for field experts impairs many studies' reliability.

#### 1.2.2 Higher-Order Conditional Random Field Harnessing

Conditional Random Field (CRF) is a family of potent statistical graphical model which has been well-exploited over the years in the fields of computer vision, medical images, or general machine learning. It consists of an energy optimization task where we seek to assign labels minimizing an objective function composed of unary, pairwise, or higher-order potentials [Komodakis, 2010]. CRF is an auspicious approach as it enables predictions consistent with structural dependencies at the difference of standard classifiers considering each sample independently. Those relations are represented by the graph edges in the pairwise case. More generally, higher-order relations are composed of interdependencies represented by sets of nodes. Then, the computational cost for leveraging such complex systems is soaring. Several approaches have been tackling the challenging optimization of higher-order CRF with some limitations as the exponential increase of variables or the generalizability [Ishikawa, 2010; Fix, 2011].

### **1.3** Objectives of the Thesis

This thesis work aims to offer machine learning and graphical-model-based solutions to diverse medical problems. Graph-theory represents the articulation between the different parts and its integration to standard machine learning pipelines is the ultimate goal. In particular:

• Chapter 3 provides a robust approach for feature selection and classification problems. Its main application focuses on healthcare resources management to alleviate the pressure due

to the Covid-19 pandemic over hospitals. This work's objective is to determine Covid-19 severity relying only on standard CT scans and clinical information. We further prove the versatility of our approach through a task of treatment response prediction for breast cancer patients and a task of disease severity determination for atopic dermatitis.

- Chapter 4 aims to provide an automatic and unbiased methodology for identifying clinically relevant genes for tumor tissue characterization. This study singles out a low dimensional gene signature discriminative of the tumor sample types and subtypes. Thus, it offers an alternative to the expensive and time-consuming wet-lab experiments to establish gene characteristics.
- Chapter 5 intents to present an innovative theoretical approach to leverage the higher-order relations existing naturally in medical data by learning a dedicated distance metric over the data manifold.

### **1.4 Main Contributions**

Each chapter of this thesis work provides distinct original contributions tackling feature selection, outcome prediction and clusters discovery for diverse data types.

Chapter 2 introduces the mathematical foundations of the different methods we leverage in the remaining of the thesis to provide a self-contained work. Moreover, it presents and summarizes the different supervised and unsupervised techniques we exerted for feature selection, classification, clustering and the conditional random field approach along with their respective advantages and limitations.

Chapter 3 proposes an end-to-end machine learning procedure for feature selection and classification for medical applications. Its main focus is predicting from Covid-19 patients CT-scans the severity of the disease, but it also presents a task of treatment response prediction for cancer patients and another one of atopic dermatitis severity determination. In Covid-19 context, we single out the crucial factors of comorbidities from both images and clinical information. Using those selected features, we managed to outperform trained radiologists in the patients' outcome's determination. This work has been published in [Chassagnon, 2020a; Battistella, 2021c].

In Chapter 4, we deal with genomics and cancerology through unsupervised clustering. We aim to provide a methodology for establishing groups of genes having a similar influence on cancer, and to design a low-dimensional cancer-relevant gene signature. This work first emphases the need of a joint use of mathematical and biological metrics to estimate the well-definition of genes clusters. We demonstrate our approach's strength on 10 different cancer types for which the generated signature outperforms all baseline signatures in terms of expressiveness, biological property, and clinical relevance. This work has been published in [Battistella, 2019] and submitted to IEEE transactions on bioinformatics and computational biology [Battistella, 2021d].

Chapter 5 proposes a theoretical and algorithmical work to learn a metric dedicated to a chosen dataset and classification task. Thereby, we prove the suitability of graph-based information and, in particular, higher-order structures on an excellent sample characterization. The method's versatility and robustness are demonstrated on the previously discussed COVID patients contexts.

### 1.5 Publications

#### Journal articles

- Enzo Battistella et al. "Cancer Gene Profiling through Unsupervised Discovery". In: *arXiv* preprint arXiv:2102.07713 (2021), Submission in IEEE transactions on bioinformatics and computational biology (Under review)
- Enzo Battistella et al. "AI-driven quantification, staging and outcome prediction of COVID-19 pneumonia". In: *Medical Image Analysis* 67 (2021), p. 101860

#### **Conference** Papers

- Enzo Battistella et al. "Holistic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2-positive (HER2+) early breast cancer (BC) treated with neoadjuvant lapatinib and trastuzumab without chemotherapy: A correlative analysis from SOLTI-1114 PAMELA". in: *CANCER RESEARCH*. vol. 81. 4. American Association for Cancer Research. 2021
- Bastien Caba et al. Machine Learning-Based Classification of Acute versus Chronic Multiple Sclerosis Lesions using Radiomic Features from Unenhanced Cross-Sectional Brain MRI (4121). 2021
- Enzo Battistella et al. "Gene Expression High-Dimensional Clustering towards a Novel, Robust, Clinically Relevant and Highly Compact Cancer Signature". In: *IWBBIO 2019*. Granada, Spain, May 2019
- Spyridon Bakas et al. "Identifying the best machine learning algorithms for brain tumor segmentation, progression assessment, and overall survival prediction in the BRATS challenge". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.02629* (2018)
- Siddhartha Chandra et al. "Context aware 3D CNNs for brain tumor segmentation". In: International MICCAI Brainlesion Workshop. Springer. 2018, pp. 299–310

## Chapter 2

# Formal Standard Approaches Definitions

#### Contents

2.1 Notations	3	10
2.2 Supervise	d Paradigm	10
2.2.1 Algor	rithms	10
2.2.2 Featu	re Selection	16
2.2.3 Metri	ics	18
2.3 Unsuperv	ised Paradigm	19
2.3.1 Algor	rithms	20
2.3.2 Proxi	imity Measures	22
2.3.3 Metri	ics	23
2.4 Condition	al Random Field (CRF)	<b>25</b>
2.4.1 CRF	Formal Definition	25
2.4.2 CRF	Energy Minimization	26

In this chapter, we introduce the different theoretical notions we investigate in the following chapters. The advantages and limitations of the different approaches are presented and related to the requirements in the medical field and, more specifically, in the medical applications that are developed afterwards.

#### 2.1 Notations

Let us consider n points S = [1, n] in a space of dimension m where the coordinates of each sample i are described by  $x_i = (x_i^1, ..., x_i^m)$  while its label are denoted by  $y_i \in \mathcal{L}$  with  $\mathcal{L}$  a set of labels, and  $d = |\mathcal{L}|$ . The label predicted by a model for a sample i is  $y(x_i)$ . Besides, we denote by  $\mu(M)$  the mean of a set M and  $\sigma(X)$  its variance. We consider 1(.) the indicator function. During performance evaluation, we abbreviate the true positive as TP, true negative as TN, the false positive as FP and the false negative as FN.

In clustering settings, a sample p binary assignment variable to a center q is denoted x(p,q) which takes value 1 if the assignment is effective and 0 otherwise. If we denote k the number of clusters in a clustering C, then the clustering is a set of clusters  $C = \{C_1, ..., C_k\}$  defined such that  $\forall 1 \leq i, j \leq k, C_i \cap C_j = \emptyset$  and  $\bigcup_{1 \leq i \leq k} C_i = S$ . The number of points in cluster  $C_i$  is denoted by  $n_i$ . We call centroid  $\mu_i$  of cluster  $C_i$  the mean of the points of the cluster.

Finally, we get a discrete random variable  $X_p = \{X_p^1, ..., X_p^b\}$  from a point  $p \in S$  by binning into b bins. We denote  $P(X_p)$  the probability mass function of  $X_p$ . Then, the Shannon Entropy H of variable  $X_p$  is defined by  $H(X_p) = -\sum_{1 \leq i \leq b} P(X_p^i) \ln P(X_p^i)$ . When considering two random variables  $X_p$  and  $X_q$ , we denote the joint probability mass function as  $P_{X_p,X_q}$  and the marginal probabilities as respectively  $P_{X_p}$  and  $P_{X_q}$ .

### 2.2 Supervised Paradigm

The supervised paradigm is one of the most potent approach when datasets with reliable ground truth annotations are available. In particular, in the medical field, classification algorithms usually aim to efficiently identify a patient's disease, infer his outcome or determine the mostsuited treatment. Notwithstanding, these approaches suffer specific flaws. They are more datagreedy than their unsupervised counterparts, as, during their training phase, they have to capture the most generalizable and accurate model of the training set. Also, the curse of dimensionality is much more pregnant with those methods and is likely to entail overfitting, i.e. a lack of generalizability. Feature selection techniques are a standard alternative to handle this difficulty. They aim to single out the variables presenting the highest interest regarding a given target prediction. Not only do feature selection approaches enable better prediction performance, but they also provide a relevant characterization of discriminative variables.

#### 2.2.1 Algorithms

In this section, we define the most standard classification algorithms we use in the following. An overview of their pros and cons is provided in Table 2.1. **k-Nearest Neighbor (K-NN)** [Cover, 1967] is based on a local approximation scheme. K-NN has various formulations including a classification one. In this case, the learning step consists in assigning to the sample to predict the label of the most common class among the k closest samples of the training set. This approach offers the good property of a fast learning as we only have to retain the training set samples. Besides, it provides reliable predictions for data in an amount large and representative enough. Notwithstanding, its consistency highly depends on the choice of the parameter k, which has to be optimized carefully. In addition, the basic formulation of this algorithm is inefficient on too large datasets, to improve the query time one can resort to alternatives relying for instance on tree data structures as ball trees or KD trees.

Support Vector Machine (SVM) [Hearst, 1998] is a robust and adaptable classification method. Its interpretability and potency justify its success in the medical community. In its original formulation, it aims at finding the hyperplane of equation  $w^T x - b = 0$  separating linearly data into two classes with a maximum-margin. The margins determine the classification prediction results such as  $y_i = 1$  if  $w^T x - b \ge 1$  and  $y_i = -1$  if  $w^T x - b \le -1$ . In the more adaptable soft-margin settings, we rely on the hinge loss function to tackle the case where the data is not linearly separable. In this case, during the training step we are looking for w and boptimizing the objective function:

$$\min_{w,b} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \max(0, 1 - y_i(w^T x_i - b)) + \lambda \|w\|^2$$

The parameter  $\lambda$  enables a trade-off between increasing the size of the margins and a correct prediction of  $y_i$ . On the inference step, the label is given by  $\operatorname{sign}(w^T x - b)$ . To deal with nonlinear classification, SVM can be generalized thanks to the kernel trick [Vapnik, 1995]. It consists in replacing in the above objective function and margins equations the dot products with nonlinear functions allowing a warping of the space to account for more general data distributions. In particular, in the following, as alternatives to the linear SVM, one can consider the Sigmoid SVM with kernel  $tanh(\kappa x_i x_j + c)$  with  $\kappa > 0$  and c < 0, the Radial Basis Function (RBF) SVM with  $\exp(-\gamma ||x_i - x_j||^2)$  and the Polynomial SVM with  $(x_i x_j)^d$ .

**Decision Tree (DT)** [Safavian, 1991] relies on a graphical modeling approach allowing great interpretability of the predictions. The decision tree concept depend on the data iterative partitioning according to categorical split attributes defined from the input variables. Split attributes are either a variable's categories for categorical variables or defined from inequations for continuous ones, e.g. for the variable age, the split attribute could be age > 40. At each step, a split attribute selection is performed based on a statistical measure optimization criterion. One of the

most common criterion is the Gini impurity index.

$$Gini(t) = 1 - \sum_{j=1}^{d} p(j|t)^2$$

with p(j|t) the relative frequency of class j at node t of the tree. Thus, the decision tree presents the advantage of considering any variable type without any need for normalization. Nevertheless, the decision tree is sensitive to overfitting for which pruning methods constitute a usual remedy to enhance DTs generalizability.

**Random Forest (RF)** [Ho, 1995] is an ensemble technique leveraging multiple simple decision trees to improve their generalization ability. The predictions of each tree composing the forest are merged through a majority voting approach to build the final prediction. Besides, the specificity of random forest compared to mere ensemble techniques is bootstrap aggregating (bagging) during the learning process. Bagging aims to increase predictors' performance by decreasing the variance (the variation the estimate function will incur under small fluctuations of the training data) while maintaining the bias. More specifically, bagging consists in training the predictors on different subsets of the training set selected with replacement. Random forest adopts a variant of this approach, called features bagging, which for each bootstrap split also applies a selection of a subset of the split attributes. Therefore, it creates a set of decorrelated decision trees leveraging different variables.

AdaBoost [Freund, 1999] is an ensemble technique combining T weak learners' predictions. Let us consider without loss of generality a decision tree of low depth as a weak learner. AdaBoost recursively fits a decision tree to the training set with importance weights assigned to the samples. Initially, all samples have the same weights. Then, at each step, the weights of complex cases are increased to bring more importance to misclassified samples. This approach rely on the weighted error rate for classifier  $t \leq T$ ,  $\gamma_t$ , and its subproduct the quality coefficient of predictor t,  $\alpha_t$ , defined as follows:

$$\gamma_t = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n w_{i,t} I(y_t(x_i) \neq y_i))}{\sum_{i=1}^n w_{i,t}}$$
$$\alpha_t = \text{sigmoid}(\gamma_t) = \ln(\frac{1 - \gamma_t}{\gamma_t})$$

 $\gamma_t$  penalizes more the misclassified samples with important weights. From the definition,  $\alpha_t$  is increasing for decreasing values of  $\gamma_t$ . In particular,  $\alpha_t$  is 0 when  $\gamma_t = 0.5$  and infinite for a perfect classifier i.e. when  $\gamma_t = 0$ . The update process for sample *i* and classifier *t* is:

$$w_{i,t+1} \longleftarrow w_{i,t} \exp(\alpha_t \mathbb{1}(y_t(x_i) \neq y_i))$$

Intuitively, we increase the weight given to sample i by  $\exp(\alpha_t)$  if it is misclassified at time t. The final prediction is then obtained using a voting scheme weighted by the quality of the classifier:

$$Y_T(x) = \operatorname{sign}(\sum_{t=1}^T \alpha_t y_t(x))$$

where  $Y_T(x)$  represents the prediction for a sample of coordinates x of the additive ensembling model considering T weak learners.

**Gradient Tree Boosting (GTB)** [Friedman, 2002] is a boosting generalization to handle arbitrary differentiable loss functions. As in the case of AdaBoost, we rely on an additive model for prediction and we use the same notations. The regression scheme can be summarized by:

$$\forall t > 1, \ Y_t(x) = \sum_{m=1}^t y_m(x)$$

with  $y_m(x)$  the prediction of the decision tree m. In the classification case, the same process is applied except that we are obtaining the probability that sample i belongs to the positive class thanks to the sigmoid function by considering  $p(y_i = 1|x_i) = \text{sigmoid}(Y_t(x_i))$ . Then, given a differentiable loss l to minimize, we want to determine  $y_t$  given  $Y_{t-1}$ .

$$y_t = \operatorname*{arg\,min}_{y} \sum_{i=1}^n l(y_i, Y_{t-1}(x_i) + y(x_i))$$

The final  $y_t$  is defined as the one minimizing the loss of the additive model. By default, the initial constant model  $Y_0$  is taken to minimize the expected loss. The optimization is performed thanks to a first-order Taylor approximation over the loss l on its second parameter, we get

$$l(y_i, Y_{t-1}(x_i) + y(x_i)) \approx l(y_i, Y_{t-1}(x_i)) + y(x_i)g_i(x_i)$$

with  $g_i = [\frac{\partial l(y_i, Y(x_i))}{\partial Y(x_i)}]_{Y=Y_{t-1}}$ . Removing the constant terms we get

$$y_t = \operatorname*{arg\,min}_y \sum_{i=1}^n y(x_i) g_i$$

The resolution is analogous to a functional gradient descent which explains the approach's name. Despite its computational complexity, GBT is a prominent method allowing to achieve high performance.

**Naive Bayes** [Georgen, 1995] is based on the Bayes' rule under the simplification hypothesis of conditional independence between every pair of features. In this "naive" approach, the formula

is expressed by:

$$P(y|x_1, ..., x_m) = \frac{P(y) \prod_{i=1}^m P(x_i|y)}{P(x_1, ..., x_m)} \approx P(y) \prod_{i=1}^m P(x_i|y)$$

using the classification paradigm of Maximum A Posteriori (MAP) estimation can be used to perform the prediction

$$y(x_i) = \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{y} P(y) \prod_{i=1}^{m} P(x_i|y)$$

Several different variants of naives bayes classifiers exist and differ by their modelling of the data distribution  $P(x_i|y)$ . Here, we first investigate the gaussian naive bayes where

$$P(x_{i}|y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma_{y}^{2}}} \exp(-\frac{(x_{i} - \mu_{y})^{2}}{2\sigma_{y}^{2}})$$

where parameters  $\sigma_y$  and  $\mu_y$  are estimated through maximum likelihood. And, then, the bernoulli naive bayes relying on the decision rule

$$P(x_i|y) = P(x_i|y)x_i + (1 - P(x_i|y))(1 - x_i)$$

and which binarize all the input variables. The advantage of naive Bayes approaches is their robustness despite a small number of training samples. Besides, by assuming the feature vectors' conditional independence, it earns a great resilience for high dimensional data.

Quadratic Discriminant Analysis (QDA) [Fisher, 1936] is derived from a simple probabilistic model. Similarly to naive bayes, it relies on the Bayes' rule

$$P(y = k \mid x) = \frac{P(x \mid y = k)P(y = k)}{\sum_{l} P(x \mid y = l)P(y = l)}$$

However, in this approach, instead of an independence assumption over the features, we model  $P(x \mid y)$  as a multivariate gaussian distribution:

$$P(x \mid y = k) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{m/2} \mid \Sigma_k \mid^{1/2}} \exp(-\frac{1}{2}(x - \mu_k)^t \Sigma_k^{-1}(x - \mu_k))$$

where  $\Sigma_k$  is the covariance matrix for class k and  $\mu_k$  its mean. Then, the logarithm of the posterior can be expressed as

$$\log P(y = k \mid x) = \log P(x \mid y = k) + \log P(y = k) + cst$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2} \log |\Sigma_k| - \frac{1}{2} (x - \mu_k)^t \Sigma_k^{-1} (x - \mu_k) + \log P(y = k) + cst$$

where *cst* is the constant disappearing in the following optimization. Finally, the predicted class is the one maximizing the log-posterior. To solve this optimization problem, one can rely on singular value decomposition (SVD) of the training data matrix  $X_k = USV^t$ . Thus, the covariance matrix can be decomposed as  $VS^2V^t$ . It results in a simplification of the covariance matrix as the computation of U is not required.

**Gaussian Process** [Williams, 1998] relies on the simple modelling of the P(y = k | x) by the sigmoid of a latent function f called nuisance function. By assuming that we have a noise-free latent process, we aim to discard the unobserved function f through integration. For inference, the process relies on a step of computation of the latent variable corresponding to the test case  $x^*$  considering the latent function on test  $f^*$  using

$$P(f^* \mid X, y, x^*) = \int P(f^* \mid X, x^*, f) P(f \mid X, y(X)) df$$

with X the data on training. Then, the probabilist prediction is produced with

$$p(y(x^*) = k \mid X, y(X), x^*) = \int \sigma(f^*) P(f^* \mid X, y(X), x^*) df$$

To solve this analytical hurdle, several methods might be used. Here, we rely on a Laplace approximation. It consists in modeling  $P(f \mid X, y(X))$  by a gaussian distribution to determine the posterior by successive derivatives. The gaussian process presents the advantage of being probabilistic which allows to compute empirical confidence intervals. However, it loses efficiency in high dimensional spaces and suffers from a high computational cost during inference.

Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP) [Hinton, 1990] is a deep neural network architecture with at least one hidden layer. A node *i* in a layer connects to all the nodes *j* of the next layer with a weight  $w_{i,j}$ . Each neuron of the hidden layers operates a linear summation and a non-linear activation function. In a standard perspective, the optimization of the weights is performed thanks to gradient descent and diffused in the network through back-propagation. MLP has the excellent property to be able to learn non-linear models. However, it is sensitive to feature scaling, and as the hidden layers bring non-convexity to the loss function, the local minimum reached is initialization dependant.

**Ensemble Techniques** allows to leverage the complementarity of well-performing techniques. In particular, we experimented two prominent techniques:

- Majority Voting Classifier is a straightforward framework consisting in adopting the label of the most predicted class.
- Stacking Classifier aims to reduce the bias (errors the model will commit because of simplifying assumptions) of the combined estimators by using an additional classifier performing

Algorithm	Pros	Cons
K-NN	Simple	Sensitive to the curse of dimensionality
	No assumption on distribution	Sensitive to outliers
		Need a relevant distance notion
SVM	Efficient in higher dimension	Poor performance with non-separable classes
	Efficient for separable classes	Need of well tuned hyperparameters
	Outliers robustness	
	Interpretability	
DT	Interpretability	Prone to overfitting
	Adaptable to data type and scale	High Variance
	Feature selection	
RF	Resilient to overfitting	Not interpretable
	Reduced Variance	High computational cost
	Robust to large imbalanced datasets	
	Robust to high dimensionality	
AdaBoost	Resilient to overfitting	Sensitive to outliers
	Low number of hyperparameters to tune	Sensitive to noise
GTB	Resilient to overfitting	Not interpretable
	Robust to outliers	Need of well tuned hyperparameters
	State-of-the-art performance on several applications	
Naive Bayes	Efficient with high dimensional data	Assumes features independence
	Scalable	Need representative training data
	Insensitive to irrelevant features	
QDA	High performance on gaussian data	Gaussian assumption
Gaussian Process	Provides model's confidence	High computational cost
	Versatile with kernel trick	Difficulty to scale
	Leverage Ockam's razor	
MLP	Able to consider non-linear models	Need important amount of data to train
	State-of-the-art performance on several applications	High computational cost
		Not interpretable
		Need of well tuned hyperparameters

the final prediction from the estimators' outputs.

Table 2.1: Main advantages and drawbacks of the standard classification algorithms introduced in this chapter

### 2.2.2 Feature Selection

**Lasso** [Tibshirani, 1996] (least absolute shrinkage and selection operator) is a regression analysis technique notorious for its regularization and feature selection abilities. Its major strength is to enforce sparse coefficients thus efficiently reducing the number of features. Formally, it is defined by a linear objective function with a  $l_1$ -norm regularization:

$$\min_{w} \frac{1}{n} \|Xw - y\|_{2}^{2} + \alpha \|w\|_{1}$$

**Ridge** [Warton, 2008] regression or Tikhonov regularization is another variant of a linear objective function. In addition, it copes with highly collinear variables while it favors homogeneous weights by exerting a shrinkage through its  $l_2$ -norm regularization. It enables a reduced Variance

and more stable solutions.

$$\min_{w} \frac{1}{n} \|Xw - y\|_{2}^{2} + \alpha \|w\|_{2}$$

**Elastic Net** [Zou, 2005] regularization is a combination of both lasso and ridge methods. It presents at the same time the advantages of sparsity offered by the  $l_1$ -norm while providing better stability with the  $l_2$ -norm. However, it incurs the risk of performing a double shrinkage, entailing a highly increased Bias and lower performance.

$$\min_{w} \frac{1}{n} \|Xw - y\|_{2}^{2} + \alpha \|w\|_{1} + \beta \|w\|_{2}$$

Statistics-Based Selection leverages different statistical metrics and seeks to eliminate dependency between the variables. For classification, some of the metrics to estimate the dependency of the features include for instance the chi-squared (chi2) metric [Pearson, 1900], the analysis of Variance (anova) F-test [Lomax, 2007] or the mutual-information [Shannon, 1948]. Given a probability  $p_i$  that an observation belongs to class i, the chi2 test is defined as

$$\sum_{i=1}^d \frac{(n_i - np_i)^2}{np_i}$$

with  $n_i$  the number of observations in the class *i*. The **anova F-test** statistic is simply defined as a ratio of the between-group variability over the within-group variability. If we denote  $\mu_i$  the sample mean over the class *i* and  $\mu$  the global sample mean, the former is defined as

$$\frac{1}{d-1} \sum_{i=1}^{d} n_i (\mu_i - \mu)^2$$

while the latter is expressed by

$$\frac{1}{n-d} \sum_{i=1}^{d} \sum_{j=1}^{n_i} (x_{i,j} - \mu_i)^2$$

where  $x_{i,j}$  is the j - th sample of group *i*. The **mutual-information** of two random variables is defined as

$$MI(X_i, X_j) = \sum_{X_i^p \in X_i} \sum_{X_j^q \in X_j} P_{(X_i, X_j)}(X_i^p, X_j^q) \log \frac{P_{(X_i, X_j)}(X_i^p, X_j^q)}{P_{X_i}(X_i^p) P_{X_j}(X_j^q)}$$

where  $P(X_i^p, X_j^q)$  is the joint probability function and  $P(X_i^p), P(X_j^q)$  are marginal probability functions.
#### 2.2.3 Metrics

To asses the quality of the classification predictions, several notions are worth investigating. Some of the most frequently used ones we considered in this thesis are summarised in this section.

**Balanced Accuracy** is a metric assessing the statistical Bias or systematic errors. This balanced version of accuracy enables to cope with unbalanced datasets and multi-class tasks. It consists in a normalization by each class' number of samples in the usual accuracy metric:

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1(y(x_i) = y_i)}{n_{y_i}}$$

**Precision** is a measure of statistical variability or random errors. It is expressed as

$$\frac{\mathrm{TP}}{\mathrm{TP}+\mathrm{FP}}$$

**Specificity** measures the proportion of negatives that are correctly identified. It corresponds to

$$\frac{1}{\text{TN} + \text{FP}}$$

**Sensitivity** or recall measures the proportion of positives that are correctly identified. Its expression is

$$\frac{\mathrm{TP}}{\mathrm{TP} + \mathrm{FN}}$$

The use of weighted metrics instead of the non-weighted is required when considering a multiclass classification task. The weighted scores (WS) are defined as

$$WS = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{l} n_l S_l$$

where  $S_l$  corresponds to the non-weighted score in one-vs-rest classification for the class l.

**Confusion Matrices** is a standard matrix representation summarizing the performance of an algorithm. It offers insights into each class's samples of the predictions' distributions between the different classes. It allows to determine the numbers and proportions of TP, FP, TN, FN.

**Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve** is a graphical representation illustrating a model's performance. It is established by considering different thresholds over the probabilities of prediction of a class in a one-versus-rest scheme. It shows the respective scores of two considered metrics at the different discrimination thresholds. Standard metrics to consider are the True Positive Rate (TPR) against the False Positive Rate (FPR) or equivalently the sensitivity against 1–specificity. Thus, in binary classification, only one ROC curve is needed to characterize the model's prediction ability. However, in general, in multi-class classification settings, one ROC curve by class is required and is obtained through a one-versus-rest approach. **AUC** is a quantitative metric defined as the area under the ROC curve. The higher the AUC the better the model. Indeed, metrics are chosen such as a the best prediction model yields a point in the upper left which will minimize the metric on abscissa and maximize the one on ordinate, e.g. maximize the TPR while minimizing the FPR. A random method yields the line y = x.

## 2.3 Unsupervised Paradigm

Unsupervised learning is a very efficient technique to study large high-dimensional datasets designed for discovering unknown indiscernible structures and correlations [Halkidi, 2001]. Clustering algorithms aspire to single out a group separation of the data favoring low variation inside the groups and high variation between groups. Notwithstanding, many clustering approaches are relying on different properties, leading to significantly different solutions. One of the main challenge of clustering is defining a metric/similarity function depicting the notion of closeness between objects under consideration. This includes the intrinsic clustering properties the algorithm seeks to optimize and the distance notion involved. The main advantage of unsupervised clustering compared to supervised approaches - or methods guided by specific biological functions or processes - is the ability to discover unknown patterns and associations without a priori. Furthermore, unsupervised discovery offers better tractability when applied to the tremendous amount of samples considered in medical tasks. This is one of the reasons that several studies focus on statistical pattern recognition methods such as the center-based K-Means [MacQueen, 1967], the model-based CorEx [Ver Steeg, 2014] or the stability-based LP-Stability [Komodakis, 2009] towards the identification of meaningful and predictive groups of biomarkers [Bailey, 2018]. Indeed, unsupervised approaches provide unbiased clusterings to rely on for feature selection of the data whereas resorting to experimental schemes and current knowledge lead to redundant signatures and loss of information [Cantini, 2017]. Evidence-based methods with the ability to determine beyond-human-grasp higher-order correlations could have tremendous diagnostic, prognostic, and treatment selection impact. In this direction, CorEx [Pepke, 2017] has recently been introduced to generate gene signatures evaluated and optimized over ovarian tumors. This signature managed to well characterize patients outcome. The study was however limited by being focused on only one specific tumor type and its clinical relevance was impaired by the high dimensionality of the gene signature which was composed of several hundred genes. This high dimensionality is a recurrent issue when identifying biomarkers. Some studies propose methods to combine and prune existing signatures towards more compacity and informativity [Cantini, 2017; Thorsson, 2018].

#### 2.3.1 Algorithms

**K-Means algorithm** [MacQueen, 1967] is a very popular and straightforward algorithm used for data following Gaussian distributions. First, the algorithm draws an initial random set of cluster centroids. Then, until convergence, it iteratively determines k clusters by assigning the points to their closest centroid and computing their new centroids  $\mu_i$ . The algorithm aims to solve

$$\min_{C} \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{p \in C_i} d(p, \mu_i) \; .$$

Considering the hyperparameters, only the number of clusters k has to be defined beforehand. Generally, K-Means is used with Euclidean distance for convergence issues. The main drawback of this technique is that the random initialization is a source of nondeterminism and may cause instability in the cluster generation for different runs. To address this issue, multiple clusterings are generated with a different initialization and the best one is selected.

**CorEx algorithm** [Ver Steeg, 2014] is a model-based algorithm that has been applied to various fields and, especially on gene clustering [Pepke, 2017] with great success. This algorithm aims to define a set S' of k latent factors accounting for the most variance of the dataset S. Formally, it relies on the Total Correlation of discrete random variables  $X_1, ..., X_p$  defined by

$$TC(X_1, ..., X_p) = \sum_{1 \le i \le p} H(X_i) - H(X_1, ..., X_p)$$

and the Mutual Information of two random variables as defined in Section 2.2.2. To guarantee a reliable definition of the latent variables, the algorithm minimizes the Total Correlation, TC(S|S'), corresponding to the additional information brought by the points in S compared to the latent factors of S'. Then, to obtain the clustering, each point p is allocated to the cluster of the latent factor f maximizing the mutual information,  $MI(X_p, f)$ . Similar to K-Means, the only requirement of the CorEx algorithm is the number of clusters k.

**LP-Stability algorithm** [Komodakis, 2009] is based on linear programming. It relies on the same definition of clusters as K-Means *i.e.* we want to minimize the distance between each point of a cluster and the center of the cluster. However, the novelty and interest of this technique are that instead of taking centroids as cluster centers, it defines stable cluster centers. Formally, we

aim to optimize the following linear system

$$PRIMAL \equiv \min_{C} \sum_{p,q} d(p,q) x(p,q)$$
$$s.t. \sum_{q} x(p,q) = 1$$
$$x(p,q) \le x(q,q)$$
$$x(p,q) \ge 0$$

where x(p,q) represents the fact that p belongs to the cluster of center q. The formula corresponds to the minimization of the distance between a point and its cluster center while ensuring that each point must belong to one and only one cluster and that centers belong to their own cluster. The determination of the stable centers relies on the following notion of stability:

$$S(q) = \inf_{s} \{s, d(q,q) + s \text{ PRIMAL has no optimal solution with } C(q,q) > 0\}$$

The stability of a point is the maximum penalty the point can receive while remaining an optimal cluster center in PRIMAL. Besides, to better exploit particular field constraints of the points or better tune the number of clusters, penalty value  $S_q \ge 0$  can be added to point q. Then, we consider the penalty vector S weighting the distance d such as  $\forall q, S_q \in S, d'(q, q) = d(q, q) + S_q$ . Doing so, we impose a stronger minimal stability for the cluster centers entailing a lower number of clusters.

Let us denote Q the set of stable cluster centers. The algorithm solves the clustering using the DUAL problem

$$DUAL \equiv \max_{D} D(h) = \sum_{p \in \mathcal{V}} h^{p}$$
$$s.t. \ h^{p} = \min_{q \in \mathcal{V}} h(p,q)$$
$$\sum_{p \in \mathcal{V}} h(p,q) = \sum_{p \in \mathcal{V}} d(p,q)$$
$$h(p,q) \ge d(p,q)$$

where h(p,q) corresponds here to the minimal pseudo-distance between p and q and  $h^p$  to the one from p. This previous DUAL problem is then conditioned by considering only centers in the set of stable points Q:

$$DUAL_{Q} = \max DUAL \ s.t. \ h_{pq} = d_{pq}, \forall \{p,q\} \cap Q \neq \emptyset$$

This method presents several advantages. It is versatile and can integrate any metric function while it does not make prior assumptions on the number of clusters or their distribution. It aims to define clustering in a global manner seeking an automatic selection of the cluster centers. For that matter, it relies on the optimization of the set of stable centers, as well as the assignment of each observation to the most appropriate cluster, meaning the one minimizing the distance to the center. This algorithm only requires a penalty vector S, influencing the number of clusters.

#### 2.3.2 Proximity Measures

As it is demonstrated later on, the choice of the best-suited metric for a given data type is of paramount importance. Indeed, regardless of the algorithm's efficiency, its performance higly depends on the distance used to warp the input data. The metric has to fully capture the data properties and distribution. To tackle the issue of the data's high dimensionality combined with a low ratio between samples and dimensions of each sample, we studied several different distance notions relying on very distinct definitions of closeness. In this study, we considered several standard metrics summarized below:

**Euclidean Distance** is one of the most commonly used metrics, measuring the dissimilarity between vectors. It is the common distance on a map, for instance, or any Euclidean space.

$$\operatorname{euclidean}(x_p, x_q) = \|x_p - x_q\|_2$$

**Cosine Distance** is also a distance that is very commonly used in the literature. It is inspired by the actual expression of the angle's cosine in geometry. It can be defined as follows:

$$\operatorname{cosine}(x_p, x_q) = 1 - \frac{x_p \cdot x_q}{\|x_p\|_2 \|x_q\|_2}$$

**Pearson's correlation** is based on the covariance of the compared samples. It compares the covariance of the two variables with the product of their respective variance. It assesses very well the linear correlations between the variables.

$$pearson(x_p, x_q) = \frac{cov(x_p, x_q)}{\sigma(x_p)\sigma(x_q)}$$

**Spearman's rank correlation** is a non-parametric measure of rank correlation, and it assesses to what extent the relation between two variables can be represented by a monotonic function. We denote by rg(x) the rank variable of the sample of coordinates x. It is calculated by:

spearman
$$(u, v) = \frac{\operatorname{cov}(\operatorname{rg}(x_p), \operatorname{rg}(x_q))}{\sigma(\operatorname{rg}(x_p))\sigma(\operatorname{rg}(x_q))}$$

**Kendall's rank correlation** is a measure of rank correlation considering the similitude of the ranking order of the observations for the two compared objects. It assesses the best non-linear

dependencies. It is calculated by:

$$\operatorname{kendall}(p,q) = 2\frac{N_C - N_D}{n(n-1)}$$

where  $N_C$  is the number of concordant pairs and  $N_D$  the number of discordant pairs. Pairs of observations  $(p_u, p_v)$  and  $(q_u, q_v)$  are considered concordant if their ranks agree i.e.  $p_u > p_v \Leftrightarrow$  $q_u > q_v$  they are said discordant if  $p_u > p_v \Leftrightarrow q_u < q_v$ .

Kullback-Leibler divergence measures how different two probability distributions are. It represents the expectation that two distributions present similar behavior. It is computed by:

$$\mathrm{KL}(p,q) = -\sum_{u} P(p_u) \log \frac{P(q_u)}{P(p_u)}$$

We made this measure symmetric by considering KL(p,q) + KL(q,p).

The different correlations cover the range of [-1, 1]. The value is positive when the observations evolve in a similar way for the compared variables and negative when they evolve in opposite ways. High absolute values indicate high correlations in the observations. On the other hand, high values in terms of distance indicate observations that are not similar in the specific feature space. To convert correlations c into distances, we used a approach similar to [Verhaak, 2010] formulated as  $\sqrt{2(1-c)}$ . For simplicity, distances coming from correlations is referred to as correlation-based distances for the rest of the manuscript.

#### 2.3.3 Metrics

Qualitative and quantitative evaluation is a critical step towards clustering effective adoption. It is based on independent and reliable measures for the proper comparison of the parameters and methods. Numerous existing metrics assess the quality of the clusters from a statistical point of view as the Silhouette Value [Kaufmann, 1987], Dunn's Index [Kovács, 2005] or more recently, the Diversity Method [Kingrani, 2017]. In addition, in the presence of annotations, the Rand Index [Hubert, 1985] is often considered. Clustering evaluation is even more challenging when considering an application field properties. For instance, we consider thoroughly the case of genomics where biologically informative clustering would be expected. Protein-Protein Interaction (PPI) and the Gene Ontology (GO) have been recently introduced in this subdomain to assess the biological soundness of the clusters through Enrichment Scores [Wagner, 2015; Pepke, 2017]. In this thesis, for the evaluation of clustering results, we relied on several standard metrics. For an agnostic evaluation, we resorted to:

**Enrichment Score (ES)** is the most commonly adopted technique to assess biological relevance in an automatic manner [Pepke, 2017]. For gene clusterings, the Enrichment in PPI is a standard approach relying on the study of the proteins corresponding to the considered genes.

Contrary to enrichment in a given biological process, PPI does not integrate specific information about predefined pathways and biological processes. However, it fulfills our aim of an unbiased and general metric. Enrichment for a cluster represents the probability of obtaining the same number of interactions in a random set of genes of the same size as in the evaluated cluster. It is represented by a p-value. In particular, the cluster is considered enriched if the p-value is below a given threshold (abbreviated by th in the following). The ES corresponds to the proportion of enriched clusters in the clustering. To calculate the ES, the Stringdb library based on String PPI network [Szklarczyk, 2018] was used. In this case, enrichment was computed using a hypergeometric test.

**Dunn's Index (DI)** [Kovács, 2005] studies the ratio between inter-cluster and intra-cluster variance. The former is meant to be large as the distributions in different clusters should be different. The latter has to be small as we want points that are in a same cluster to follow a common distribution. Formally,

$$Dunn(\mathcal{C}) = \frac{\min_{1 \le i, j \le k} dist(C_i, C_j)}{\max_{1 \le i \le k} Diam(C_i)}$$

where  $dist(C_i, C_j) = \min_{p \in C_i, p' \in C_j} d(p, p')$  is the distance between the two closest points of the clusters  $C_i$  and  $C_j$ ,  $Diam(C_i) = \max_{p,p' \in C_i} d(p, p')$  is the diameter of the cluster *i.e.* the distance between the two farthest points of the cluster  $C_i$ . This assessment score is highly sensitive to extreme, not well-formed clusters making it ideal for our problem.

Whereas, for knowledge-guided evaluations we relied on:

Adjusted Rand Index (ARI) is a similarity measure between a clustering C' and a ground truth C. RI corresponds to the proportion of pairs of elements in different clusters in both C and C' called a or in the same cluster in both C and C' called b.

$$\mathrm{RI} = \frac{a+b}{\binom{n}{2}}$$

RI is then corrected for chance by taking into account its expected value E(RI):

$$ARI = \frac{RI - E(RI)}{max(RI) - E(RI)}$$

Normalized Mutual Information (NMI) is a metric between a clustering C' and the ground truth class C defined from MI as:

$$\text{NMI} = \frac{MI(C, C')}{mean(H(C), H(C'))}$$

**Homogeneity** values clusters of a clustering C containing samples all belonging to a same cluster in the reference clustering C'.

homogeneity = 
$$1 - \frac{H(C|C')}{H(C)}$$

**Completeness** is a complement of homogeneity as it values clusterings C presenting clusters with their samples belonging to the same cluster in the reference clustering C'.

completeness = 
$$1 - \frac{H(C'|C)}{H(C')}$$

Fowlkes-Mallow Score (FMS) corresponds to the geometric mean of the pairwise precision and recall as they have been defined in section 2.2.3.

$$FMS = \frac{TP}{\sqrt{(TP + FP)(TP + FN)}}$$

## 2.4 Conditional Random Field (CRF)

CRF [Lafferty, 2001] is a statistical graphical approach allowing contextualized classification. CRF presents the crucial advantage on standard classifier to take into account the dependencies between samples. It has a prominent role in machine learning, pattern recognition and have earn a renewed interest in bioinformatics for labeling and parsing tasks. CRF is a variant of Markov Random Field (MRF) where the random variables  $\mathcal{X} = \{x_1, ..., x_n\}$  are conditioned upon a set of global observations which enables defining a discriminative classifier. Formally, the main difference distinguishing CRF from MRF is the conditioning of  $\mathcal{X}$  by a set of corresponding observations  $\mathcal{I} = \{I_1, ..., I_n\}$ . In practice, a discriminative framework from the paired observations and labels is built, aiming to model  $P(\mathcal{X} \mid \mathcal{I})$ .

#### 2.4.1 CRF Formal Definition

Second-order CRF is the basic notion of CRF considering only unary and pairwise dependencies, after an introduction to higher-order CRF, we focus this section on second-order for simplicity sake's. Second-order CRF relies on an undirected graph G = (V, E) such that V indexes the label sequences  $\mathcal{X} = (x_v)_{v \in V}$ . In this case, if we denote ~ the neighborhood relation in G,  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{I})$  constitutes a conditional random field iff  $P(x_v \mid \mathcal{I}, x_w, w \neq v) = P(x_v \mid \mathcal{I}, x_w, w \sim v)$ . This definition means that the graph satisfies the Markov property with respect to the probability of  $\mathcal{X}$  conditioned by  $\mathcal{I}$  *i.e.* for a given node, the corresponding label only depends on the observation and the neighboring nodes. The previous original definition might be extended to leverage hyper-graph structures to build higher-order CRFs. A hyper-graph H = (V, C) is defined by considering sets of nodes, hyperedges, of arbitrary size instead of the standard edges. The Markov property is then represented by the hyper-edges: a node's label is only conditioned by the nodes co-occurring in the same hyper-edge. Hyper-edges enable to take advantage of more complex dependency structures. Their use adheres to the spreading interest into higher-order structures initiated in complex networks in adequacy with the latest findings on the importance of considering structural properties [Benson, 2016]. The promises of these more informative CRFs have been illustrated in computer vision, in particular with cutting-edge graph matching approaches [Torresani, 2012], distance learning [Komodakis, 2014] or segmentation [Kadoury, 2013].

While the inference task for a CRF can be expressed as maximum a posteriori (MAP) formulation, here we are focusing on an energy-based formulation. This more convenient approach, establish the inference problem as a minimization of the hyper-graph energy. In general settings, it is defined as a sum over clique potential functions  $\phi = \{\phi_C\}_{C \in \mathcal{C}}$ :

$$E(x,\phi) = \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}} \theta_C(x_C)$$

where  $x_C = x_i, i \in C$ . Notice that in pairwise settings, the cliques correspond to the edges and  $\mathcal{C} = E$ 

#### 2.4.2 CRF Energy Minimization

Regarding CRF energy minimization, two prominent resolution techniques [Komodakis, 2010] exist. Each leveraging a hyper-graph specificities in a different way.

#### Graph-cuts

This category of approaches rely on a max-flow algorithm to find a min-cut in the graph allowing to solve some instances of discrete energies [Boykov, 2004] optimally. The resolution power of max-flow is limited to some particular cases, especially for higher-order formulations of the problem. Thus, many methods propose move-making approaches to simplify the energy formulation into a submodular, lower-order energy function. It resorts to terms substitutions and variables additions to remove non-submodular and higher-order terms. This approach has been successfully applied in [Ishikawa, 2010; Fix, 2011] to transform a general higher-order energy with binary labels to a simpler first-order energy easily solvable through, for instance, the roof duality technique QPBO [Boykov, 2004] relying on aforementioned min-cuts computation. Despite the potency of this approach, it suffers from a high complexity increase as the move-making approach tends to highly increase the number of terms and variables.

#### Message-Passing

We detail in this subsection the tree-reweighted message passing (TRW) algorithm [Wainwright, 2005] which overtook the previously dominant belief propagation approach. In secondorder settings, they rely on an linear integer program formulation equivalent to the energy minimization.

$$\begin{split} min_{x}E(\theta,x) &= min_{x}\sum_{p\in V}\theta_{p}x_{p} + \sum_{p,q\in E}\theta_{p,q}x_{p,q}\\ s.t. \; x\in\mathcal{F} \end{split}$$

where  $x = \{\{x_p\}, \{x_{p,q}\}\}$  defines unary and pairwise indicators of the labels assigned to the nodes of the CRF nodes. Besides,  $\forall p \in V, x_p(l) = 1 \iff$  label l is assigned to p. Similarly,  $x_{p,q}(l,m) = 1 \iff$  label l, m are assigned to p and q respectively. These definitions are taken into account in the feasible set of the optimization problem  $\mathcal{F}$  and can be summarized as:

$$\mathcal{F} = \begin{cases} x \mid \sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} x_p(l) = 1, & \forall p \in V \\ \sum_{m \in \mathcal{L}} x_{p,q}(l,m) = x_p(l), \forall (p,q) \in E, & \forall l \in \mathcal{L} \\ x_p(.) \in \{0,1\}, & \forall p \in V \\ x_{p,q}(.,.) \in \{0,1\}, & \forall (p,q) \in E \end{cases}$$

The first constraint simply transcribes the indicator status of the variables; the variables uniquely assign a label to a node of the CRF. The second variable ensures the consistency between unary and pairwise variables by enforcing  $x_p(l) = x_q(m) = 1 \iff x_{p,q}(l,m) = 1$ .  $\mathcal{F}$  is called the marginal polytope.

Regarding TRW implementation, it consists in solving the relaxed linear programming system where we have a laxer constraints  $x_p, x_{p,q} \ge 0$ . Thus, it aims to provide an approximation to the original system. TRW proceeds by resorting to the dual problem. The final solution's quality directly depends on the estimated dual lower bound, which has to be the larger possible. However, there is no theoretical guarantee over the performance.

#### **Dual Decomposition**

Relying on the message-passing framework, the dual decomposition approach is a widespread approach in optimization. Its efficient resolution by projected subgradients is introduced for MRF and CRF in [Komodakis, 2010]. It presents the crucial property of optimally solving the dual linear programming problem. Besides, its versatility allows the generalization to higher-order CRF as performed in [Komodakis, 2014].

Dual decomposition principle in isolating several much easier subproblems tailored to be equivalent to the original problem after summation. A possible and popular decomposition is to consider each node independently. Each subproblem might be solved by very efficient inference techniques as graph-cuts approaches without venturing into a scaling issue. The global resolution leads to a projected subgradient scheme, provably offering an optimal solution. Formally, dual decomposition expression relies on simple subproblems also called slave problems and on a master problem enacting as a coordinator. Starting from a general problem over a convex set C:

$$\min_{x} \sum_{i} f_i(x)$$
  
s.t.  $x \in \mathcal{C}$ 

where we assume that the independent minimization of the functions  $f_i$  is easy while the global minimization of  $\sum_i f_i$  is hard. The first step towards the dual decomposition is first to introduce a coupling parameter in the system.

$$\min_{\{x_i\}, x} \sum_i f_i(x_i)$$
  
s.t.  $x_i \in \mathcal{C}, \ x_i = x$ 

Our system is obviously still equivalent to the original one. The coupling system enforces the different subproblems to come up with a consistent solution. Then, we can introduce the Lagrangian dual function we leverage and which encompasses both the objective function and the constraints.

$$g(\{\lambda_i\}) = \min_{\{x_i \in \mathcal{C}\}, x} \sum_i f_i(x_i) + \sum_i \lambda_i(x_i - x) \qquad = \min_{\{x_i \in \mathcal{C}\}, x} \sum_i (f_i(x_i) + \lambda_i x_i) + \sum_i \lambda_i x_i$$

Then, to eliminate the dependency over the global solution x, we ultimately want to define, we introduce the constraint set  $\Lambda = \{\{\lambda_i\}, \sum_i \lambda_i = 0\}$ . Therefore,

$$\forall \{\lambda_i\} \in \Lambda, \quad g(\{\lambda_i\}) = \min_{\{x_i \in \mathcal{C}\}} \sum_i (f_i(x_i) + \lambda_i x_i)$$

Finally, the goal function to optimize is the Lagrangian dual problem defined as:

$$\max_{\{\lambda_i\}\in\Lambda} g(\{\lambda_i\}) = \max_{\{\lambda_i\}\in\Lambda} \sum_i g_i(\lambda_i)$$

This problem constitute our master slave which is decoupled in the slave problems:

$$\forall i, \quad g_i(\lambda_i) = \min_{x_i} f_i(x_i) + \lambda_i x_i$$
s.t.  $x_i \in \mathcal{C}$ 

This formulation has several good properties. First, the master problem definition is always convex and is approximated by a projected subgradient approach (as g might not be differentiable). Resulting in the update  $\lambda_i \leftarrow proj_{\Lambda}(\lambda_i + \alpha_t \nabla g_i(\lambda_i))$  where  $proj_{\Lambda}$  is the projection over set  $\Lambda$ ,  $\alpha_t > 0$  is an attenuation parameter at iteration t and  $\nabla g_i(\lambda_i)$  is the subgradient of  $g_i$  over  $\lambda_i$  which expression directly depends on the optimal solution of the slave problem i. The dual decomposition resolution process is summarized in Algorithm 1.

Algorithm 1: Dual Decomposition Optimization Strategy

1  $\lambda_i \leftarrow 0, \forall k$ 

2 do

- **3** | Slave problem *i* optimize  $x_i$  under current  $\lambda_i, \forall i$
- 4 Master updates  $\lambda_i \leftarrow proj_{\Lambda}(\lambda_i + \alpha_t \nabla g_i(\lambda_i)), \forall i$
- 5 while Not Convergence;

## Chapter 3

# Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 Pneumonia and Cancer

### Contents

3.1	Intro	oduction	33
<b>3.2</b>	Rela	ted Work	<b>3</b> 4
	3.2.1	ILD Quantification	34
	3.2.2	ILD Staging	35
3.3	Met	hodology	36
	3.3.1	Ensemble Feature Selection Approach	36
	3.3.2	Signature Refinement Technique	37
<b>3.4</b>	AI-I	$ {\it Oriven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVII} $	)-
	19 P	Pneumonia	<b>38</b>
	3.4.1	Features Extraction Methodology	38
	3.4.2	Holistic Multi-Omics Profiling & Staging	42
	3.4.3	Covid-19 Multi-Omics Profiling Signature	43
	3.4.4	Implementation Details	44
	3.4.5	Dataset	46
	3.4.6	Results and Discussion	48
3.5	Holi	stic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2-positive	
	(HE)	R2+) early breast cancer (BC)	59
	3.5.1	Dataset and Features Extraction	59
	3.5.2	Results and Discussion	60
3.6	Atop	bic Dermatitis Severity Prediction	61
	3.6.1	Predictive Gene Selection	62
	3.6.2	Dataset	62
	3.6.3	Classification Task	63
	3.6.4	Implementation Details	63
	3.6.5	Results and Discussion	64
<b>3.7</b>	Futu	ıre Work	64

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 32 Pneumonia and Cancer

The potential benefits of supervised machine learning techniques to the medical field are tremendous. Those techniques, including feature selection and classification, can address the problematic yet crucial questions of patients diagnosis and stratification. In this thesis, we study the efficiency of ensemble techniques at providing more robust results with reduced Bias. We propose a new methodology to combine different feature selection approaches and prove its relevance over different omics data and medical applications. First, this work presents a detailed application to Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), and then, we highlight a generalization to breast cancer and atopic dermatitis.

#### 3.1 Introduction

COVID-19 emerged in December 2019 in Wuhan, China [Zhu, 2020] caused by the SARS-Cov-2 virus, and it could lead to respiratory failure due to severe viral pneumonia [Zhou, 2020a]. The disease spread worldwide, leading the World Health Organization to declare it a pandemic in March 2020. One of the crucial actions to handle the pandemic is the fast and robust use of imaging and clinical and biological comorbidities for the quantification and staging of patients upon their hospital admission. Identifying patients who need intubation upon admission is critical for managing a hospital's resources and the most optimal patient care. Moreover, a robust staging of the patients could also facilitate the proper selection of patients for different treatments, reducing the unnecessary use of the hospital's intensive care units. Currently, the staging of the patients is mainly based on clinical and biological biomarkers such as age, sex, and other comorbidities [Zhou, 2020a; Li, 2020a; Yuan, 2020; Tang, 2020; Onder, 2020; Guo, 2020; Terpos, 2020], while the role of imaging is mainly focusing on an estimation of the disease extent from CT scans. This estimation is generally carried out manually by medical experts and hence suffers from inter- and intra-observer variability.

Medical analysis tools can assist medical experts in their everyday clinical practice. Artificial Intelligence (AI) is playing a pivotal role in developing such tools, and it aims either to reproduce human behavior regarding a specific task (a given set of observations and the corresponding experts' assessments) or to find and better understand correlations between input signals and outcomes (invisible to the human eye). In healthcare, AI has gained tremendous attention in the last years, addressing very challenging medical problems related to diagnosis and personalized medicine [Segler, 2018; Goecks, 2020; Ardila, 2019] including quantification and characterization tasks such as cancer screening or quantification of Interstitial Lung Diseases (ILD) [Chassagnon, 2019; Litjens, 2017]. During this pandemic, different AI tools were proposed from the community, presenting models able to distinguish Covid-19 patients from community-acquired pneumonia on CT [Li, 2020b] or even diagnose Covid-19 directly from CT scans [Mei, 2020]. This trend indicates that the medical community could significantly contribute to providing robust tools and algorithms that assist clinicians during the pandemic exploiting the full potentials of imaging. Classification is one of the machine learning paradigms the most relevant for medical application. In particular, diagnosis [Gandhi, 2013], treatment response prediction [Suárez-Fariñas, 2010], risk prevention [Wiens, 2012] and staging [Kratz, 2019] are some of the exciting problems that could greatly benefit from the highly active research to better leverage medical data with those approaches [Le, 2020].

In this study, we developed an automatic and robust method for patient's stratification. The contributions of this chapter are three-fold: (i) an ensemble multimodal feature selection strategy indicating the most informative features for the studied problem, (ii) an ensemble machine

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 34 Pneumonia and Cancer

learning pipeline for robust and efficient stratification of patients, and (iii) promising results on different applications to demonstrate the effectiveness of our method. In particular, we emphasis Covid-19 disease quantification and staging relying on the extraction and selection of image characteristics directly from the CTs and their fusion with known clinical and biological markers. Also, towards a better disease understanding, we aim at providing insights about the correlation with the outcome of the various features involved. The value of this approach is further highlighted through a study on breast cancer patients' treatment to response prediction from genes and histopathological data. We also exemplify the staging power of the pipeline with a study of atopic dermatitis severity determination from RNA-sequencing data.

The chapter is organized as follows: we first review related work mainly focusing on interstitial lung diseases (ILDs). Then, we present a description of all the components and implementation details of our method. After a presentation of the multi-center dataset, we address the evaluation settings and our experiments' results. Furthermore, we discuss our method's similarities and differences with other recently proposed approaches for quantification and staging of Covid-19. Then, we propose other study cases on cancer and dermatitis. Lastly, we propose possible directions for future research.

## 3.2 Related Work

This section provides a short review of previous works on the quantification of ILDs since Covid-19 and ILDs share many similarities due to their diffuse pathological manifestations, such as ground-glass opacities, band consolidations, and reticulations. Besides, we elaborate on studies that tackle the severity or treatment response for such types of disease.

#### 3.2.1 ILD Quantification

In the last years, automatic quantification of ILD diseases using CT scans has been a substantial research topic. It aims to develop models that can identify one or several types of pathological lung tissues in ILD cases (such as ground-glass, consolidation, honey-combing, etc.) and successfully separate them from healthy tissues. Initial efforts were mainly based on classification schemes. In particular, small patches including only a single tissue type were extracted and described using some handcrafted features focusing mainly on textural properties and employed to train different machine learning classifiers [Gangeh, 2010; Huber, 2012]. Following recent advances in deep learning and especially the success of convolutional neural networks (CNNs), researchers have recently leveraged such tools in thoracic imaging tasks [Chassagnon, 2019], and, notably, in ILD quantification. The main advantage of CNNs is their ability to automatically generate features from the input and create meaningful specific representations of the problems at stake. In particular, a patch-based framework using a convolutional architecture is presented in [Anthimopoulos, 2016] for the automatic quantification of 5 different ILD patterns. Similarly,

in [Gao, 2018] a patch-based approach is adapted for classification in 6 different ILD patterns. Despite the competitive performance reported by this approach compared to other ones based on handcrafted features, the use of patches, besides being time-consuming and inefficient, does not exploit the texture of the entire lung.

Many existing CNNs architectures have been further adapted to perform semantic segmentation in an end-to-end fashion. Semantic segmentation refers to inferring a class for each of the pixels of an image instead of a single class for an image. Such models are present in literature both in 2D [Badrinarayanan, 2017; Ronneberger, 2015] and 3D [Çiçek, 2016] and have also been used for ILD quantification. The authors of [Vakalopoulou, 2018] present the coupling of 2D fully convolutional networks with deformable registration for the automatic quantification of systemic sclerosis disease. Moreover, in [Anthimopoulos, 2018], the authors propose using dilated filters to segment different ILD tissue types. For instance, in [Bermejo-Peláez, 2020] an ensemble of 2D, 2.5D, and 3D networks is proposed for the segmentation of 8 different radiographic ILD patterns. It is noteworthy to mention since Covid-19 shares similar patterns with ILDs, these recent advances on ILD quantification are of great benefit for their adaptation to the Covid-19 case.

#### 3.2.2 ILD Staging

Staging patients with ILDs is crucial as it could significantly help clinicians with their daily practice while choosing treatment options [Kolb, 2014]. Many studies have recently tried to identify and extract biomarkers from CT scans and associate them with ILD patients' severity and treatment. These biomarkers are usually enhanced with clinical and physiological information to provide a scoring system as a survival predictor. Among the variety of biomarkers, disease extent is one of the most powerful ones providing strong associations with severity and mortality [Cottin, 2019; Tomassetti, 2015]. Visual scoring of the disease extent on CT can be time-consuming [Robbie, 2017] highlighting the need for automatic disease quantification tools. Moreover, except for the disease extent, the disease's location is also essential for the staging. In [Depeursinge, 2015; Christe, 2019] the quantification of the disease is performed on different lung regions providing descriptive information about the severity of the ILD patients.

A variety of works report that radiomics, quantitative features extracted from the images, provide valuable information about the severity and response to treatment for different diseases, including cancer [Sun, 2018]. These features could also provide excellent tools for monitoring disease progression and therapeutic response [Wu, 2019]. In particular, in [Bocchino, 2019] intensity-based characteristics such as skewness and kurtosis were used together with disease extent to distinguish between systemic sclerosis patients with and without ILD diseases. Moreover, in [Lafata, 2019] a variety of image radiomics and their relationship with the pulmonary function were investigated. Their results indicate that high-throughput radiomics data extracted from the lungs may be associated with pulmonary function measured by standard PFT metrics.

## 3.3 Methodology

In this section, we provide a method for the automatic selection and combination of multimodal variables towards a holistic signature. Based on this signature, we develop advanced machine learning techniques integrating multi-modal data for classification purposes. Our method endows robustness, good generalization properties and explainability. We detail our framework in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Overview of our approach for feature selection and classification.

High dimensional features coming from different sources such as clinical, biological and imaging data are used as input to our framework. A min-max normalization of the attributes was performed by calculating the minimum and maximum values for the training and validation cohorts. The same values were also applied to the test set.

#### 3.3.1 Ensemble Feature Selection Approach

To prevent overfitting and discover the most informative and robust attributes for the patients' staging and prognosis, we propose a robust biomarker selection process. Feature selection is essential for classification tasks and has been widely studied in the literature, especially for radiomics [Sun, 2018]. First, the training data set was subdivided into training and validation on the principle of 80%-20% maintaining the distribution of classes between the two subsets identical to the observed one. To perform feature selection, we have created 100 subdivisions on this basis

Those methods are detailed in the Section 2.2.1. These classifiers were trained and validated to distinguish between the different classes considered. In addition to these 5 classifier-based feature selection approaches, we also considered statistics-based approaches based on Mutual Information, Chi-squared statistics, and Univariate linear regression tests. Those metrics are introduced in Section 2.2.2. Each of these methods  $g_k$  was used to assess the importance of the features regarding staging. Features  $f_i$  were ranked according to their prevalence  $prev_{g_k,f_i}$ , the total number of splits they were selected for each of the methods. Our experiments indicated that depending on the feature selection method different features and characteristics were indicated as necessary. We adopted a consensus approach to leverage the different feature selection properties by choosing the features presenting a sum of prevalences over all the methods above a given threshold t i.e., satisfying  $\sum_k prev_{g_k,f_i} > t$ .

#### **Ensemble Stratification**

The classification component was addressed using an ensemble learning approach. Similarly to the feature selection approach, the training data set was subdivided into training and validation sets on the principle of 80%-20%. This subdivision was performed such that the distribution of classes between the two subsets was identical to the observed one. We have implemented a 10-fold cross-validation on this basis and evaluated the average performance of the following supervised classification methods: Nearest Neighbor, {Linear, Sigmoid, Radial Basis Function (RBF), Polynomial Kernel} Support Vector Machines (SVM), Gaussian Process, Decision Trees, Random Forests, AdaBoost, Gradient Boosting, Gaussian Naive Bayes, Bernoulli Naive Bayes, Multi-Layer Perceptron & Quadratic Discriminant Analysis. Those methods are defined in details in Section 2.2.1. These classifiers have been trained using the identified selected features. A consensus model was designed, selecting the top 5 classifiers with acceptable performance, > 60%in terms of balanced accuracy, and consistent performance between training and validation, performance decrease < 20% in balanced accuracy. The selected models were trained and combined through a weighted winner takes all approach to determine the optimal outcome. Those weights were determined using balanced accuracy on validation. Then, the selected classifiers were retrained using the entire training set, and their performance was reported on the external test cohort.

#### 3.3.2 Signature Refinement Technique

A limitation of using a consensus feature selection approach lies in the possibility to select features presenting redundant information singled out independently by different selection methods used. We propose an additional refinement by ablation to be applied on a signature to cope with this difficulty.

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 38 Pneumonia and Cancer

In the same cross-validation settings as before, we iteratively trained the ensemble classifier, presented in the previous section, on the training set using all the signature features except one. Then, we removed the gene, which ablation incurred the best-averaged results on validation. This process was repeated until no gene remained. According to the elbow method, the final retained signature was designed by considering all the genes after the inflection point. Then, the selected classifiers were retrained using the entire training set and the refined signature, and their performance was reported on the test set.

This ablation step is a complement to the previous selection and might not be needed. The signature identified through our initial consensus feature selection approach on the Covid-19 dataset (Section 3.4) was already optimal. The further refinement did not bring any improvement and so was not reported. However, this process proved to be primordial in the atopic dermatitis generalization example presented in Section 3.6.

## 3.4 AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

COVID-19 emerged in 2019 and spread around the world swiftly. Computed tomography (CT) imaging has been proven to be an essential tool for screening, disease quantification, and staging. The latter is of extreme importance for organizational anticipation (availability of intensive care unit beds, patient management planning) and accelerating drug development through rapid, reproducible, and quantified assessment of treatment response. Even if there are currently no specific guidelines for the patients' staging, CT might be used along with some clinical and biological biomarkers. In this study, we collected a multi-center cohort, and we investigated the use of medical imaging and artificial intelligence for disease quantification, staging, and outcome prediction. Our approach relies on automatic deep learning-based disease quantification. It uses an ensemble of architectures and a data-driven consensus for the staging and outcome prediction of the patients fusing imaging biomarkers with clinical and biological attributes. Auspicious results on multiple external/independent evaluation cohorts, as well as comparisons with expert human readers, demonstrate the potentials of our approach.

#### 3.4.1 Features Extraction Methodology

This section describes our AI-driven scheme for the quantification of CT scans for patients suffering from Covid-19 pneumonia and the extraction of imaging information from different segmented areas. In the following parts of this section, we provide details for all the system's different components.



Figure 3.2: Overview of the method for automatic quantification, staging and prognosis of Covid-19. Our study includes 8 independent cohorts, resulting in 693 Covid-19 patients in total. A variety of clinical and biological attributes were collected and combined with imaging biomarkers for short and long term prognosis of Covid-19 patients. Our study is composed by three different steps: (i) Proposing a state-of-the-art deep learning based consensus of 2D & 3D networks for automatic quantification of Covid-19 disease, reaching expert-level annotations, (ii) A radiomics study integrating interpretable features extracted from disease, lung and heart regions. A consensus-driven Covid-19 low dimensional bio(imaging)-holistic profiling and staging signature has been proposed using robust machine learning algorithms, fusing imaging, clinical and biological attributes. & (iii) An ensemble of robust linear & non-linear classification methods for the proper identification of patients needing intubation.

#### Lung, Breast and Heart Segmentation

Segmentations of the heart and breast were extracted using the software ART-Plan (Thera-Panacea, Paris, France). ART-Plan is a CE-marked solution for automatic annotation of organs, harnessing a combination of anatomically preserving and deep learning concepts. The lungs' segmentation was also performed using ART-Plan software, but the models used were re-trained using Covid-19 patients to address proper segmentation of diseased lungs. In particular, the existing lung models, providing segmentation of left and right lungs, were re-trained using 50 Covid-19 lung annotations provided by medical experts. The models were evaluated on 130 Covid-19 patients partially annotated by two different experts, reporting mean dice coefficient higher than 0.96 for both left and right lungs and mean standard deviation lower than 0.015. The approach's relevance is confirmed by the high dice coefficient of 0.96 obtained, very similar to the one of 0.97 reported by the medical experts.

#### Ensemble of Deep Architectures for Disease Quantification

Our proposed Covid-19 dedicated tool for lung lesions segmentation was built using an ensemble method combining 2D & 3D deep learning architectures. All the Covid-19 related CT abnormalities, similar to other ILD diseases (ground-glass opacities, band consolidations, and reticulations), were segmented as a single class. The proposed method (CovidENet) borrows elements from already established fully convolutional neural network designs from literature [Çiçek, 2016; Badrinarayanan, 2017] while it incorporates powerful design aspects such as deformable registration methods for natural data augmentation. Combining the different CovidENet components has been performed using their scoring output (before hard decision), fusing the different networks' output based on majority voting. This approach is a standard technique when ensembling predictions between multiple neural networks. Our motivation to adopt a 2D architecture was driven by the interest in exploring the spatial resolution on the axial space after mapping to a shared space. Simultaneously, the integration of 3D networks was dictated by the will of integrating consistency on the coronal/sagittal plane.

**CovidE2D Component:** Deep learning architectures based on 2D networks are commonly used to segment ILD diseases [Anthimopoulos, 2018; Vakalopoulou, 2018] due to the timeconsuming annotation task and the 2D nature of the available datasets. We based the first component (CovidE2D) of our CovidENet architecture on AtlasNet 2D architecture [Vakalopoulou, 2018]. AltasNet has already been used for ILD segmentation in systemic sclerosis patients, achieving outstanding performance on limited annotated ILD datasets. AtlasNet couples deformable registration with deep learning, naturally performing data augmentation while preserving the human anatomy. The main idea lies in training different deep learning classifiers ( $C_i$ ) in a simplified space after registering each sample ( $S_i$ ) on predefined templates/atlases ( $A_i$ ). During inference (Algorithm 2), the final segmentation is obtained by using the inverse transformation ( $T_i^{-1}$ ) to back-project to the original anatomy. A majority voting scheme is used to produce the final projection, combining the different networks' results.

#### Algorithm 2: AtlasNet Inference

 $\begin{array}{l|l} \mathbf{1} \hspace{0.1cm} S \leftarrow sample;\\ \mathbf{2} \hspace{0.1cm} C_{i} \leftarrow \text{the i-th trained network;}\\ \mathbf{3} \hspace{0.1cm} \mathbf{for} \hspace{0.1cm} i \in i..N \hspace{0.1cm} \mathbf{do}\\ \mathbf{4} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} step \hspace{0.1cm} 1: \hspace{0.1cm} T_{i} \leftarrow argminE(\hat{T};S,A_{i});\\ \mathbf{5} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} \begin{array}{c} step \hspace{0.1cm} 1: \hspace{0.1cm} T_{i} \leftarrow argminE(\hat{T};S,A_{i});\\ \mathbf{5} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} \begin{array}{c} step \hspace{0.1cm} 1: \hspace{0.1cm} T_{i} \leftarrow argminE(\hat{T};S,A_{i});\\ \mathbf{5} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} \begin{array}{c} step \hspace{0.1cm} 1: \hspace{0.1cm} T_{i} \leftarrow argminE(\hat{T};S,A_{i});\\ \mathbf{5} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} step \hspace{0.1cm} 2: \hspace{0.1cm} S_{i}^{warped} \leftarrow T_{i}(S);\\ \mathbf{6} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} step \hspace{0.1cm} 2: \hspace{0.1cm} S_{i}^{warped,seg} \leftarrow C_{i}(S_{i}^{warped});\\ \mathbf{7} \hspace{0.1cm} \left| \hspace{0.1cm} step \hspace{0.1cm} 3: \hspace{0.1cm} S_{i}^{seg} \leftarrow T_{i}^{-1}(S_{i}^{warped,seg});\\ \mathbf{8} \hspace{0.1cm} \mathbf{end}\\ \mathbf{9} \hspace{0.1cm} step \hspace{0.1cm} 4: \hspace{0.1cm} S^{seg} \leftarrow Combine(S_{i}^{seg}); \end{array} \right) \end{array}$ 

#### 3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

For the registration of the CT scans to the templates, an elastic registration framework based on Markov Random Fields was used, providing the optimal displacements for each template [Ferrante, 2017]. In particular, the registration is performed by a non-linear transformer T, corresponding to the operator that optimizes in the continuous domain  $\Omega$  the following energy,

$$E(T; S, A_i) = \iint_{\Omega} \sum_{j=1}^k w_j \rho_j (S \circ T, A_i) d\Omega + \alpha \iint_{\Omega} \psi(T) d\Omega$$
(3.1)

41

where  $\rho_j$  corresponds to the different similarity metrics (sum of absolute difference, normalized cross-correlation, etc.) used to compare the source 3D volume to the target anatomy,  $w_j$  are linear constraints factorizing the importance of the different metric functions and  $\psi(\cdot)$  is a penalty function acting on the transformation's spatial derivatives. More specifically, in our experiments each  $C_i$  consists of a SegNet [Badrinarayanan, 2017] based architecture. For the CovidE2D models, the CT scans were separated on the axial view. Each network included 5 convolutional blocks, each one containing 2 Conv-BN-ReLU layer successions. Max-pooling layers were also distributed at the end of each convolutional block for the encoding part. Upsampling operators were used on the decoding part to restore the slices' spatial resolution together with the same successions of layers.

**CovidE3D Component:** To fully exploit the 3D nature of our dataset, the second component of our proposed CovidENet is based on a 3D fully convolutional network similar to 3D-UNet [Çiçek, 2016]. To train this model, 3D sub-volumes of the CT scan, including either the left or the right lung without any downsampling, were extracted. The corresponding sub-volumes labels were extracted from the ground-truth annotation masks. To this end, we trained the model with the CT scan sub-volume as input and the annotation as the target. To extract the left and the right lung regions, we used the lung segmentation model presented at [Hofmanninger, 2020]. Regarding the architecture, the model consisted of 5 blocks with a down-sampling operation applied every 2 consecutive Conv3D-BN-ReLU layers. Additionally, five decoding blocks were utilized for the decoding path, were at each block, a transpose convolution was performed to up-sample the input. Skip connections were also employed between the encoding and decoding paths. The dimensions of the input corresponded to the CT scan's spatial dimensions, and, consequently, the spatial dimensions of the features maps were not bound to some fixed dimension to feed the entire left/ right lung volumes. As such, 3D volumes of arbitrary spatial dimensions could be fed to the network, and thus the batch size was fixed to 1.

#### **Features Extraction**

Radiomics features were extracted from the CT scans using the previously described disease, lung, and heart segmentations. All images were resampled by cubic interpolation as a preprocessing step to obtain isometric voxels with sizes of 1 mm. Subsequently, disease, lung, and heart masks were used to extract 107 radiomic features for each of them (left and right lungs were

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 42 Pneumonia and Cancer

considered separately for the disease extent and whole lung). These features included first-order statistics (maximum attenuation, skewness, 90th percentile etc), shape features (surface, maximum 2D diameter per slice, volume etc) and texture features (GLSZM, GLDM, GLRLM). For the extraction, the open-source Pyradiomics library was used [Van Griethuysen, 2017].



Figure 3.3: Correlation between body mass index (BMI) and fat ratio.

Two other image indexes were also calculated, namely disease extent and fat ratio. The disease extent was calculated as the percentage of lung affected by the disease over the entire lung volume. The disease components were extracted by calculating the number of individual connected components for the entire disease regions. The fat ratio, calculated as an indicator of obesity, was used as a surrogate of the body mass index and calculated by dividing the volume of thoracic fat by the thorax volume. The index was defined in an unsupervised manner. To obtain fat segmentation, CT scans were smoothed using a Gaussian kernel with a standard deviation of 2. A threshold of the densities in the range of [-29, 130] was applied on the smoothed CTs to isolate the fat regions. Fat masks were calculated starting from the highest to the lowest part of the lungs. To avoid gender bias, we used breast segmentation to exclude breast fat. Then the volume of the fat segmentation was divided by the body volume. To validate this morphometric measurement, we assessed its correlation with BMI in the 362 patients for which BMI was available, and we found a strong correlation using Pearson correlation (r= 0.64; p < 0.001; Figure 3.3).

#### 3.4.2 Holistic Multi-Omics Profiling & Staging

We investigated various imaging features extracted using disease, cardiac, and lung segmentations toward the combination of the disease extent with disease characteristics and patients commodities. These imaging characteristics (radiomics) were then combined with meaningful

#### 3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

clinical and biological indicators that have been reported to be associated with Covid-19 prognosis. Patient charts were reviewed to assess short-term (4 days after the chest CT) and long-term prognosis (31 days after the chest CT). Patients were divided into 2 groups for the staging task: deceased or under mechanical ventilation patients labeled severe cases (S) when the other patients were labeled non-severe cases (NS). For the prognosis task, three distinct subpopulations were defined: those who had a short term negative outcome (SD = short-term deceased within 4 days after admission), those who didn't recover within 31 days after the chest CT (LD= long-term deceased, either died after day 4 or still intubated at day 31) and those who recovered (LR= long-term recovered). The last two groups formed the short intubated (SI) group of patients.

#### 3.4.3 Covid-19 Multi-Omics Profiling Signature

We have adapted the aforementioned selection method to maintain structural properties, we selected the features in the top 5 prevalence in each region. We ensured symmetry by selecting the opposite side counterpart of the most prevalent features in the lungs and disease lesions. This way, we have extracted 15 different radiomics features. These features are distributed in: imaging features from the disease regions (5 features), lung regions (5 features), and heart (5 features). On these radiomics features, biological and clinical data were added (6 features: age, sex, high blood pressure (HBP), diabetes, lymphocyte count, and CRP level) and image indexes (2 features: disease extent and fat ratio). In the end, our biomarker consisted of 23 features in total.

Regarding imaging features, we identified the following features as the most important for Covid-19 patients staging. These features include both first- and second-order statistics along with some shape features.

- Disease areas: Non-Uniformity of the GLDM, Dependence Non-Uniformity of the GLDM, Mesh Volume, Voxel Volume, Non-Uniformity of the GLRLM.
- Lung areas: Kurtosis, Mean Absolute Deviation, Zone Emphasis of the GLSZM, Non-Uniformity of the GLSZM, Variance of the GLSZM.
- Heart areas: Maximum 2D diameter Slice, Non-Uniformity of the GLSZM, Sphericity, Flatness, Minimum Length on the Axis.

The selected disease area features capture both disease extent and disease textural heterogeneity. Disease textural heterogeneity is associated with lesions, which generates imaging patterns more complex than pure ground-glass opacities usually found in mild disease. The selected lung features capture the dispersion and heterogeneity of lung densities, both of which may reflect the presence of an underlying airway disease such as emphysema but also the presence of sub-radiological disease. Lastly, the selected heart features can be seen as a surrogate for cardiomegaly and coronary calcifications.

#### 3.4.4 Implementation Details

#### **Deep Learning Segmentation**

Each CT scan was normalized for the models training by cropping the Hounsfield units in the range [-1024, 300]. Various hyperparameters, including loss functions, learning rates, and optimizers, have been compared. In this section, we report the best-performing ones for each component. Regarding implementation details, 6 templates/ atlases  $(A_i)$  were used for the AtlasNet framework and normalized cross-correlation and mutual information as similarity metrics for the registration to each template. All 6 models of the CovidE2D networks were trained using weighted cross-entropy loss. And, the CovidE3D network was trained using a dice loss. CovidENet aims to fuse different training strategies (2D, 3D) and different loss functions to explore the capabilities of deep learning architectures fully. Several studies [Anthimopoulos, 2018; Vakalopoulou, 2018], demonstrate 2D networks' high robustness for ILD segmentation when using cross-entropy.

The Dice loss (DL) and weighted cross-entropy (WCE) are defined as follows:

$$DL = 1 - \frac{2pg + 1}{p + g + 1}; \tag{3.2}$$

$$WCE = -(\beta g \log(p) + (1 - g) \log(1 - p))$$
(3.3)

where p is the prediction determined from the network value and g the target/ground-truth value.  $\beta$  is the weight given for the least representative class. For network optimization, the class was used for the diseased regions only.

For the CovidE2D experiments, we used classic stochastic gradient descent for the optimization with initial learning rate = 0.01, decrease of learning rate =  $2.5 \cdot 10^{-3}$  every 10 epochs, momentum =0.9 and weight decay = $5 \cdot 10^{-4}$ . For CovidE3D experiments, we used the AMSGrad and a learning rate of 0.001. TensorFlow library [Abadi, 2016] was used for the implementation of the CovidENet components.

The training of a single network for both CovidE2D and CovidE3D was completed in approximately 12 hours using a GeForce GTX 1080 GPU, while the prediction for a single CT scan was performed in a few seconds. Training and validation curves for one template of CovidE2D and the CovidE3D networks are shown in Figure 3.4. Early stopping has been used for ending the training process, and the most appropriate model for each CovidENet component was selected regarding performance on the validation set until this point.



3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

Figure 3.4: Training and validation curves for one template/ atlas  $(A_i)$  of CovidE2D and the CovidE3D.

#### **Prognosis Mechanism**

To perform the short-term deceased (SD), long-term Deceased (LD), long term recovered (LR) classification task, an SD/SI (SI: intubated at 4 days) classifier, and an LD/LR classifier was applied hierarchically, performing first the short-term staging and then the long-term prognosis for patients classified as in need of mechanical ventilation support. More specifically, a majority voting method was applied to classify patients into SD and SI cases. Then, another hierarchical structure was applied on the cases predicted as SI only to classify them into those who didn't recover within 31+ days of mechanical ventilation (LD) and those who recovered with 30 days on mechanical ventilation (LR).

#### Covid-19 Multi-Omics Profiling & Staging

For the feature selection, features having the best combined prevalence (sum of prevalences over the 8 selection techniques) were kept. For this feature selection task, Decision Tree Classifier was taken of maximum depth 3, Linear SVM was taken with a linear kernel, a polynomial kernel function of degree 3 and a penalty parameter of 0.25, Gradient Boosting was used with a regression tree boosted over 30 stages, AdaBoost was used with a Decision Tree Classifier of maximum depth 2 boosted 3 times and Lasso method was used with 200 alphas along a regularization path of length 0.01 and limited to 1000 iterations.

Concerning the implementation details, to overcome the unbalanced dataset for the different classes, each class received a weight inversely proportional to its size. For the NS versus S majority voting classifier, the top 5 classifiers consist of RBF SVM, Linear SVM, AdaBoost, Random Forest, Decision Tree. The SVM methods were granted a polynomial kernel function of degree 3, and the Linear kernel had a penalty parameter of 0.3 while the RBF SVM had a penalty

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 46 Pneumonia and Cancer

parameter of 0.15. Besides, the RBF SVM was granted a kernel coefficient of 1. The Decision Tree classifier was limited to a depth of 2 to avoid overfitting. The Random Forest classifier was composed of 25 of such Decision Trees. The AdaBoost classifier was based on a decision tree of maximal depth of 1 boosted 4 times. For the SI versus SD majority voting classifier, the top 5 classifiers consists of polynomial SVM, Linear SVM, Decision Tree, Random Forest, and AdaBoost. The Linear and Polynomial SVM were granted a polynomial kernel function of degree 2 and a penalty parameter of 0.35. The Decision Tree classifier was limited to a depth of 1, and Random Forest was composed of 50 of such trees. The AdaBoost classifier was based on a decision tree of maximal depth of 1 boosted 2 times. Finally, the LR versus LD majority voting classifier was only using the 4 classifiers with balanced accuracy > 0.6, namely Linear and Sigmoid SVM, Decision Tree, and AdaBoost Classifiers. The SVM methods were defined with a kernel function of degree 3 and a penalty parameter of 1. Decision Tree was defined to a depth of 1, AdaBoost being defined with such a Decision Tree boosted 3 times. For the implementation of all the models, the Scikit-learn library was used [Pedregosa, 2011].

#### 3.4.5 Dataset

Our Institutional Review Board (AAA-2020-08007) approved this retrospective multi-center study, which waived the need for patients' consent. Patients diagnosed with Covid-19 from March 4th to April 5th from eight large University Hospitals were eligible if they had positive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (PCR-RT) and signs of Covid-19 pneumonia on unenhanced chest CT. Only the CT examination that was performed at the initial evaluation was included in our dataset. Exclusion criteria were (i) contrast medium injection and (ii) important motion artifacts. No patient was intubated at the time of the CT acquisition. A total of 693 patients, after application of all the exclusion criteria, are forming the full dataset (321, 360 CT slices).

Chest CT exams were acquired on 4 different CT models from 3 manufacturers (Aquilion Prime from Canon Medical Systems, Otawara, Japan; Revolution HD from GE Healthcare, Milwaukee, WI; Somatom Edge and Somatom AS+ from Siemens Healthineer, Erlangen, Germany). The different acquisition and reconstruction parameters are summarized in Table 3.1. CT exams were mostly acquired at 120 (n=481/693; 69%) and 100 kVp (n=186/693; 27%). Images were reconstructed using iterative reconstruction with a 512  $\times$  512 matrix and a slice thickness of 0.625 or 1 mm depending on the CT equipment. Only the lung images reconstructed with highfrequency kernels were used for analysis. For each CT examination, dose length product (DLP) and volume Computed Tomography Dose Index (CTDIvol) were collected.

For the Covid-19 radiological pattern segmentation part, 50 patients from 3 centers (A: 20 patients; B: 15 patients, C: 15 patients) were included to compose a training and validation dataset, 130 patients from the remaining 3 centers (D: 50 patients; E: 50 patients, F: 30 patients)

#### 3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

Table 3.1: Acquisition and reconstruction parameters of the dataset used in this study. Note: For quantitative variables, data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, and numbers in brackets indicate their range. CT = Computed Tomography; CTDIvol = Volume Computed Tomography Dose Index; DLP = Dose Length Product.

	Center A	Center B	Center C	Center D	Center E	Center F	Center G	Center H
CT equi-	Somatom	Resolution	Aquilion	Somatom	Revolution	Aquilion	Revolution	Somatom
pment	AS+	HD	Prime	Edge	HD	AS+		
Kilovoltage	100-120	120	100-120	100-120	120-140	100-120	120	100-120
DIP	$109 \pm 42$	$306 \pm 104$	$102 \pm 30$	$131 \pm 44$	$177 \pm 48$	$115 \pm 26$	$285 \pm 108$	$332 \pm 156$
(mGy.cm)	[44-256]	[123-648]	[43-189]	[55-499]	[43-276]	[75 - 186]	[70 - 679]	[179 - 755]
CTDIvol	$3.2 \pm 1.5$	$8.7 \pm 2.8$	$2.7 \pm 0.9$	$3.2 \pm 0.9$	$5.5 \pm 1.8$	$2.5 \pm 0.6$	$7.9 \pm 2.9$	$8.5 \pm 4.0$
(mGy)	[1.2-11.9]	[3.9-18.5]	[1.0-5.3]	[1.4-9.5]	[1.2-12.3]	[1.7-4.3]	[1.7-18.0]	[4.4-19.8]
Slice thick-	1 mm	0.625  mm	1 mm	$0.625 \mathrm{mm}$	1  mm	1 mm	0.625  mm	1  mm
ness								
Convolution	i70	Lung	FC51-FC52	i50	Lung	FC51-FC52	Lung	i70
Kernel								
Iterative	SAFIRE 3	ASIR-v 80%	IDR 3D0.67	SAFIRE 4	ASIR-v $60\%$	IDR 3D	ASIR-v 60%	SAFIRE 3
reconstruc-								
tions								

were included to compose the test dataset (Table 3.2). The patients from the training cohort were annotated slice-by-slice. In contrast, the patients from the testing cohort were partially annotated on the basis of 20 slices per exam covering the lung regions equidistantly. The proportion between the CT manufacturers in the datasets was pre-determined to maximize the model's generalizability while considering the data distribution.

Table 3.2: Patient characteristics for the automatic quantification of Covid-19 disease. Note: For quantitative variables, data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, and numbers in brackets indicate their range. CT = Computed Tomography; CTDIvol = Volume Computed Tomography Dose Index; DLP = Dose Length Product.

	Training/Validation	Test Dataset	
	Dataset (Centers A+B+C;	(Centers D+E+F;	p-value
	N=50)	n=130)	
Age (y)	$57 \pm 17$ [26-97]	$59 \pm 16$ [17-95]	0.363
No. of Men	31(62)	87(67)	0.534
Disease ex-			
$tent^*$			
Manual	$18.1 \pm 14.9 \ [0.3-68.5]$	$19.5 \pm 16.5 \ [1.1-75.7]$	0.574
Automated	-	$19.9\% \pm 17.7 \ [0.5-73.2]$	-
DLP	$180 \pm 124$ [43-527]	$139 \pm 49.0 \ [43-276]$	0.026
(mGy.cm)			
CTDIvol	$4.9 \pm 3.4 \ [1.0-13.0]$	$4.0 \pm 1.9 \ [1.2-12.3]$	0.064
(mGy)			

For the staging (NS/S) and prognosis (short- and long-term) study, 513 additional patients from centers A (121 patients), B (157 patients), D (138 patients), G (77 patients) and H (20 patients) were included. Data of 536 patients from 5 centers (A, B, C, D, and H) were used for

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 48 Pneumonia and Cancer

training, and those of 157 patients from 3 other centers (E, F, and G) composed an independent test set (Table 3.3). In addition to the CT examination - when available - patient sex, age, and body mass index (BMI), blood pressure, diabetes, lymphocyte count, CRP level, and D-dimer level were also collected (Table 3.3).

For short-term outcome assessment, patients were divided into 2 groups: short-term Non-Severe (NS) and short-term Severe (S). For long-term outcomes, medical records were reviewed from May 7th to May 10th, 2020 to determine if patients died or had been intubated during the month following the CT examination. The data associated with each patient (holistic profiling) and the corresponding outcomes in terms of severity assessment and the outcome and readers assessment have been made publicly available.

Fifteen radiologists (GC, TNHT, SD, EG, NH, SEH, FB, SN, CH, IS, HK, SB, AC, GF, and MB) with 1 to 7 years of experience in chest imaging participated in the data annotation which was conducted over a 2-week period. The Covid-19 radiological pattern segmentation was manually annotated slice by slice on the whole CT scans for the training and validation sets. On each of the 50 cases (23, 423 axial slices) composing this dataset, all the Covid-19 related CT abnormalities (ground-glass opacities, band consolidations, and reticulations) were segmented as a single class. Additionally, the whole lungs were segmented to create another class (lung). To facilitate the collection of the ground-truth for the lung anatomy, a preliminary lung segmentation was performed with Myrian XP-Lung software (version 1.19.1, Intrasense, Montpellier, France) which was then manually corrected. For the test cohort, 20 CT slices equally spaced from the superior border of the aortic arch to the lowest diaphragmatic dome were selected in a total of 130 patients composing a 2,600 images dataset. Each of these images was systematically annotated by 2 out of the 15 participating radiologists. Annotation consisted of manual delineation of the disease and manual segmentation of the lung without any preliminary segmentation.

Furthermore, 3 radiologists, an internationally recognized expert with 20+ years of experience in thoracic imaging (Reader<sup>A</sup>), a thoracic radiologist with 7+ years of experience (Reader<sup>B</sup>) and a resident with a 6-month experience in thoracic imaging (Reader<sup>C</sup>) were asked to perform a triage (severe versus non-severe cases) and for the severe cases (short-term deceased versus short-term intubated) prognosis process to predict the short-term outcome.

#### 3.4.6 Results and Discussion

#### Statistical Analysis

The dice similarity score (DSC) was calculated to assess the similarity between the 2 manual segmentations of each CT exam in the test dataset and between manual and automated segmentations. The Hausdorff distance (HD) was also calculated to evaluate the automated segmentations' quality similarly. Disease extent was calculated by dividing the volume of the

#### 3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

Table 3.3: Patient characteristics for the automatic staging and prognosis tools. Note: For quantitative variables, data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, and numbers in brackets indicate their range. For qualitative variables, data are numbers of patients, and numbers in parentheses are percentages. CT = Computed Tomography, CTDIvol = volume Computed Tomography Dose Index; DLP = Dose Length Product. \*Available clinical data: n = 692 for diabetes and high blood pressure(leading to 0.19% of missing data on the training set), n = 674 for lymphocyte count (leading to 2.05% and 5.10% of missing data on the training and test sets respectively), n = 654 for CRP (leading to 4.66% and 8.92% of missing data on the training and test sets respectively), n = 362 for Body Mass Index, and n = 339 for D-dimers. \*\*Percentage of lung volume on the whole CT. \*\*\*Data available for 688 patients.

	Training/Validation Dataset	Test Dataset	
	(Centers $A+B+C+D+H$ ;	(Centers E+F	p-value
	n=536)	+G;n=157)	
Age (y)	$63 \pm 16$ [22-98]	$62 \pm 17$ [17-98]	0.495
No. of Men	374(70)	103(78)	0.321
High blood pression <sup>*</sup>	235 (44)	71 (45)	0.773
Diabetes*	97 (18)	37 (24)	0.888
Body mass index $(kg/m^2)^*$	$27.7 \pm 5.1$ [17.0-44.1]	$27.1 \pm 5.1 \ [14.5-42.7]$	0.390
Lymphocyte count $(\times 10^9/L)^*$	$1.3 \pm 2.7 \; [0.1 - 48.5]$	$1.3 \pm 3.3  [0.23-41.0]$	0.915
CRP (mg/L)*	$104.3 \pm 82.9 \ [1.0-430.7]$	$94.2 \pm 74.8 \ [2.0-342]$	0.166
D-dimers $(microg/L)^*$	$2458 \pm 6533$ [181-86248]	$815 \pm 924$ [168-6138]	< 0.001
Disease extent**	$22.2 \pm 18.4 \ [0.0-89.8]$	$24.0 \pm 18.7 \ [1.1-89.8]$	
Fat ratio on CT	$18.6 \pm 5.9 \ [1.7-42.3]$	$18.3 \pm 5.5 \ [2.7-30.6]$	0.589
Short-term outcome			0.994
Deceased	28(5)	8(5)	
Intubated	80(15)	23(15)	
Alive and Not Intubated	428(80)	126(80)	
Follow-up duration			
Worsening during			0.554
follow-up***			0.004
Deceased	69(13)	17(11)	
Intubated	68(13)	22(14)	
DLP (mGy.cm)	$181 \pm 115$ [43-755]	$218 \pm 106$ [ 43-679 ]	< 0.001
CTDIvol (mGy)	$4.9 \pm 3.2$ [1.0-19.8]	$6.1 \pm 3.0 \ [1.2-18.0]$	< 0.001

lesions in the lung by the lung volume and expressed in the total lung volume percentage. Disease extent measurement between automated and manual segmentations was compared using paired Student's t-tests. Similarly, correlations between disease extent measurements from Covid2D, Covid3D, CovidENet, and manual segmentations were compared using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient.

For stratifying the dataset into the different categories, traditional machine learning metrics, namely balanced accuracy, weighted precision, and weighted specificity and sensitivity, were

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 50 Pneumonia and Cancer

Table 3.4: Quantitative evaluation of the CovidENet and its components CovidE2D & CovidE3D architectures regarding Dice Coefficient and Hausdorff Distance. The mean, median, and standard deviation for each of the developed tools are presented together compared to the 2 independent experts. With bold, we indicate the highest values per metric.

	Dice						Hausdorff Distance					
Methods	Mean		Median		STD		Mean		Median		STD	
	Obs1	Obs2	Obs1	Obs2	Obs1	Obs2	Obs1	Obs2	Obs1	Obs2	Obs1	Obs2
CovidE2D	0.69	0.67	0.70	0.68	$\pm 0.13$	$\pm 0.13$	9.40	9.23	9.33	9.30	$\pm 1.83$	$\pm 1.80$
CovidE3D	0.62	0.65	0.67	0.70	$\pm 0.17$	$\pm 0.16$	9.43	8.70	9.43	8.60	$\pm 1.87$	$\pm 1.81$
CovidENet	0.69	0.70	0.71	0.73	$\pm 0.13$	$\pm 0.13$	9.18	8.75	9.16	8.72	$\pm 1.86$	$\pm 1.78$
Obs1-Obs2	0.70		0.72 ±0		±0	.12	9.16		9.16		$\pm 1.83$	
CovidENet	0.70		0.	72	$\pm 0.12$		8.96		8.94		$\pm 1.82$	

utilized.



Figure 3.5: Box-Plot in terms of DSC and HD between CovidENet and its individual components, Obs1 & Obs2. One can observe that CovidENet (blue) performs better and closer to Obs1-Obs2 (red) regarding DSC and HD metrics than its individual components CovidE2D & CovidE3D.

#### **Disease Quantification**

The evaluation of CovidENet, of its components, and the comparison with the 2 independent experts are summarised in Table 3.4. CovidE2D component performed better than the CovidE3D for the segmentation of Covid-19 disease. It is highlighted by the higher DSC and HD values achieved by the CovidE2D component (Figure 3.5). However, their fusion led to a significant improvement, comparable to human readers. Moreover, CovidENet performed equally well compared to trained radiologists in terms of DSC and better in terms of HD (Figure 3.5, 3.7 and Table 3.4). The mean/median DSCs between the two expert annotations on the test dataset were 0.70/0.72 for disease segmentation, while DSCs between CovidENet and the manual segmentations were 0.69/0.71 and 0.70/0.73. In terms of HDs, the average expert distance was 9.16 mm while it was 8.96 mm between CovidENet and the experts.



3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

51

Figure 3.6: Plots indicating the correlation between automatically measured disease extent and the average disease extent from CovidE2D, CovidE3D, and CovidENet respectively, and the manual segmentation. Disease extent is expressed as the percentage of lung affected by the disease. The red line shows a perfect correlation (Spearman R = 1). Spearman rank correlation coefficients are displayed for each comparison.

Furthermore, the superiority of CovidENet is indicated by the disease extent estimation performance on the test dataset. Indeed, no significant difference was observed between disease extent evaluated by the CovidENet and the manual segmentations' average  $(19.9\% \pm 17.7[0.5 - 73.2]$ vs  $19.5\% \pm 16.5[1.1 - 75.7]$ ; p= 0.352). As shown in Figure 3.6 correlation to disease extent from manual segmentations was better when using CovidENet (r = 0.94, p < 0.001), compared to Covid3D (r = 0.71, p < 0.001) or Covid2D (r = 0.92, p < 0.001) which oversegmented the disease.

Examples of disease segmentations are presented in Figure 3.7. One can observe that the segmentations provided by CovidENet are very close to the ones generated by the experts. In particular, the algorithm detected the diseased regions even in relatively small areas, capturing all the different opacities of Covid-19, such as ground-glass and consolidation.

#### Covid-19 Holistic Multi-Omics Profiling & Staging

The holistic Covid-19 pneumonia signature is presented in (Table 3.5) along with the correlations with the outcome. The average signature for the severe and non-severe cases in the



Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 52 Pneumonia and Cancer

Figure 3.7: Qualitative analysis for the comparison between manual and the proposed CovidENet disease quantification. Delineation of the diseased areas on chest CT in different slices of Covid-19 patients. From left to right: Input, CovidENet-segmentation, Obs1-segmentation, Obs2-segmentation.

test set are presented in Figure 3.8. Consensus ensemble learning through majority voting was used to determine the subset of AI methods with have robust, reproducible performance with good generalization properties. Human "reader+++" was used as a reference through consensus among three chest radiologists (resident, 7+ years of experience, 20+ years of experience in thoracic imaging). Our method aiming to separate patients with S/NS outcomes had a balanced accuracy of 70% (vs 67% for human readers consensus), a weighted precision of 81% (vs 78%), a weighted sensitivity of 64% (vs 70%) and specificity of 77% (vs 64%) and outperformed the consensus of human readers (Figure 3.8, Table 3.6). Our method successfully predicted 81% of the severe/critical cases as opposed to only 61% for the consensus reader. The superiorty of our approach is also indicated by the higher AUC reported (0.76) compared to the one achieved by the different readers (0.69). Severe cases, as depicted in Figure 3.8 referred to diabetic men, with



3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

Figure 3.8: Covid-19 Holistic Multi-Omics Signature & Staging: Spider chart representing average profiles (average values of the variables after normalization between 0 and 1) concerning severe versus non-severe separation are shown along with the prevalence of biomarkers (diameter of the circle). The prevalence of the biomarker corresponds to its number of selections during the feature selection process. Classification performance, confusion matrices, and area under the curve concerning the proposed method and the consensus of expert readers (reader+) are reported on the right side. Selective associations of features with the outcome (NS/S) are shown at the figure's top right (box plots).

a higher level of volume/heterogeneity of the disease and C-reactive protein levels. Moreover, as indicated in Figure 3.8 the non-uniformity on GLRLM for both lung and disease together with the disease extent seems to contribute considerably to the classification of the patients to NS versus S cases.

#### **Prognosis & Staging**

The Covid-19 pneumonia pandemic spiked hospitalizations while exerting extreme pressure on intensive care units. In the absence of a cure, staging and prognosis are crucial for clinical decision-making for resource management and experimental outcome assessment in a pandemic context. Our objective was to predict patient outcomes before mechanical ventilation support. The proposed ensemble classifier aiming to predict the SD/(LD or LR) had a balanced accuracy of 88% (vs 81% for human readers consensus), a weighted precision of 94% (vs 87%), a weighted sensitivity of 94% (vs 88%) and specificity of 81% (vs 75%) and outperformed consensus of human readers (Table 3.6). Our method for prognosis of SD/ LD/ LR had a balanced accuracy of 71%, a weighted precision of 77%, a weighted sensitivity of 74%, and specificity of 82% to provide


Figure 3.9: Short & Long Term Prognosis. Spider chart representing average profiles (average values of the variables after normalization between 0 and 1) for the short deceased (SD), long deceased (LD), and long recovered (LR) classes are shown along with their correlations with the outcome (diameter of the circle). The presented correlation corresponds to Pearson Correlation for LR/LD outcome (Table 5). Classification performance, confusion matrices, and area under the curve of the proposed method and - when feasible - the consensus of expert readers (reader+) are reported on the right side. ROC curves correspond to the one-vs-all classification of the SD/LR/LD patients. Selective associations of features with the outcome (LD/LR) are shown at

the bottom of the figure (box plots).

full prognosis (Figure 3.9). Concerning the performance of our method for the classification of LD and LR patients (Table 3.7), our ensemble classifier reports a balanced accuracy of 69%, a weighted precision of 76% a weighted sensitivity of 74% and a weighted specificity of 65%. As indicated in Figure 3.9 the performance of our method reaches an AUC of 0.86 for the SD, 0.86 for the LR, and 0.76 for the LD classes. Moreover, the age, HBP, and lung non-uniformity on the GLSZM seem to associate better for this task.

Moreover, to assess each feature category's impact on the implemented models, we performed an ablation study by successively removing one category of features from the 6 categories defined for each classification task. Results are presented in Table 3.8. The feature categories were identified as follows: a) D0: disease extent, b) D1: disease variables that are shape/geometry related, c) D2: disease variables that are tissue/texture, d) O1: heart/lungs variables that are shape/geometry related, e) O2: heart/lungs variables that are tissue/texture, f) B1: age, gender, biological/obesity/diabetes/fat/high blood pressure. One can observe that the *Clinical Only* category contributes a lot to the separation of SD/LD/LR. Simultaneously, for the NS/S

Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 54 Pneumonia and Cancer

# 3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

Table 3.5: Correlation between outcome and the 23 features of the holistic Covid19 signature. Note: , GLRLM, GLDM, LD = long-term-deceased, LR = long-term deceased, NS = non-severe, S = severe, SI = short-term intubation , SD = short-term deceased.

Features Correlation							
reatures		S/NS		SI/SD		LR/LD	
Age		0.067		0.674		0.334	
Sex		0.132		-0.049		-0.059	
CRP		0.002		0.015		0.018	
HBP		0.033		0.293		0.332	
Diabetes		0.065		-0.130		-0.061	
Lympho	cytes	0.033		0.020		0.012	
Fat Inde	х	0.055		-0.192		0.122	
Disease 1	Extent	0.328		-0.069		0.214	
	Non-uniformity on the GLSZM	0.067		-0.137		-0.112	
Heart	Sphericity	-0.161		-0.246		-0.101	
	Flatness	-0.126		-0.039		-0.110	
	Minimum Length on the Axis	0.044		0.067		-0.083	
		Left	Right	Left	Right	Left	Right
	Kurtosis	-0.284	-0.289	0.077	0.009	0.005	0.006
	Mean Absolute	0.205	0.322	-0.003	-0.001	0.017	-0.026
Lung	Deviation	0.505					
	Zone Emphasis	0.200	0.210	-0.023	0.045	0.213	0.199
	on the GLSZM	0.299	0.310				
	Non-Uniformity on the GLSZM	-0.305	-0.305	-0.018	-0.031	-0.174	-0.138
	Variance on the GLSZM	0.305	0.348	0.018	0.031	0.174	0.138
	Mesh Volume	0.297	0.363	-0.087	0.024	0.209	0.125
	Volume Volume	0.297	0.363	-0.087	0.024	0.209	0.125
Disease	Dependence						
	Non-Uniformity	0.266	0.338	-0.067	$10^{-4}$	0.202	0.168
	on the GLDM						
	Non-Uniformity	0.997	0.262	0.070	0.017	0.002	0.1.49
on the GLDM		0.287	0.303	-0.079	0.017	0.203	0.142
	Non-uniformity						
		0.284	0.340	-0.076	0.037	0.194	0.123
	on the GLRLM						

cases, their contribution is marginal, contrary to the other imaging characteristics.

#### Discussion

AI-enhanced imaging, clinical and biological information proved his ability for identifying patients with severe short/long-term outcomes, bolstering healthcare resources under the extreme

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 56 Pneumonia and Cancer

Table 3.6: Prognosis of medical experts and their consensus for the non-severe (NS) versus Severe (S), Intubated (SI) versus Deceased (SD) and NS/SI/SD patients Note: Classification Performance Reader<sup>A</sup> (Senior), Reader<sup>B</sup> (Established), Reader<sup>C</sup> (Resident), Reader<sup>+++</sup> (Consensus among Human Readers), Reader<sup>---</sup> (Average performance of Human Readers).

	Balanced	Weighted	Weighted	Weighted
	Accuracy	Precision	Sensitivity	Specificity
NS/SI/SD				·
$\operatorname{Reader}^A$	0.62	0.77	0.68	0.69
$\operatorname{Reader}^B$	0.59	0.75	0.67	0.65
$\operatorname{Reader}^C$	0.61	0.76	0.68	0.62
Reader <sup>+++</sup>	0.63	0.77	0.70	0.67
Reader <sup></sup>	$0.61 \pm 0.01$	$0.76 \pm 0.01$	$0.68 \pm 0.01$	$0.66 \pm 0.03$
Proposed	0.67	0.81	0.63	0.80
NS/S				
$\operatorname{Reader}^A$	0.69	0.79	0.70	0.67
$\operatorname{Reader}^B$	0.66	0.77	0.70	0.62
$\operatorname{Reader}^{C}$	0.65	0.76	0.70	0.60
Reader <sup>+++</sup>	0.67	0.78	0.70	0.64
Reader <sup></sup>	$0.67 \pm 0.01$	$0.77 \pm 0.01$	$0.70 \pm 0.01$	$0.63 \pm 0.03$
Proposed	0.70	0.81	0.64	0.77
SI/SD				•
$\operatorname{Reader}^A$	0.81	0.87	0.88	0.75
$\operatorname{Reader}^B$	0.79	0.84	0.84	0.74
$\operatorname{Reader}^C$	0.81	0.87	0.88	0.75
Reader <sup>+++</sup>	0.81	0.87	0.88	0.75
Reader <sup></sup>	$0.81 \pm 0.01$	$0.87 \pm 0.01$	$0.87 \pm 0.01$	$0.75 \pm 0.03$
Proposed	0.88	0.94	0.94	0.81

Table 3.7: Performance for the Deceased (LD) and Recovered (LR) in the long-term outcome for each of the selected classifiers and their ensemble. Note: P-SVM = Support Vector Machine with a polynomial kernel; S-SVM = Support Vector Machine with a sigmoid kernel.

	Balanced		Weighted		Weighted		Weighted	
Classifier	Accuracy		Pecision		Sensitivity		Specificity	
	Train	Test	Train	Test	Train	Test	Train	Test
L-SVM	0.77	0.62	0.81	0.7	0.74	0.63	0.81	0.61
S-SVM	0.63	0.69	0.71	0.76	0.56	0.63	0.7	0.74
AdaBoost	0.82	0.69	0.84	0.76	0.8	0.74	0.83	0.65
Decision	0.7	0.72	0.8	0.78	0.6	0.68	0.81	0.76
Tree	0.7	0.72	0.0	0.78	0.0	0.08	0.01	0.70
Ensemble	0.82	0.60	0.84	0.76	0.8	0.74	0.83	0.65
Classifier	0.82	0.03	0.04	0.70	0.0	0.74	0.05	0.05

pressure of the current Covid-19 pandemic. The information obtained from our AI staging and prognosis could be used as an additional element at admission to assist decision-making.

#### 3.4. AI-Driven Quantification, Staging and Outcome Prediction of COVID-19 Pneumonia

Table 3.8: An ablation study of the different selected features. A leave-one-out method has been applied by removing one feature sequentially to test the features' importance and the performance robustness. Note: a) D0: disease extent, b) D1: disease variables that are shape/geometry related, c) D2: disease variables that are tissue/texture, d) O1: heart/lungs variables that are shape/geometry related, e) O2: heart/lungs variables that are tissue/texture, f) B1: age, gender, biological/obesity/diabetes/fat/high blood pressure. LD = long-term-deceased; LR = long-term deceased; NS = non-severe; S = severe; SI = short-term intubation; SD = short-term deceased.

Study	Tool	Balanced	Accuracy	Weighted	Precision	Weighted	Sensitivity	Weighted	Specificity
Case	Lask	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test
	NS/S	0.73	0.70	0.82	0.81	0.67	0.64	0.80	0.77
All Features	SI/SD	0.90	0.88	0.92	0.94	0.92	0.94	0.88	0.81
	LD/LR	0.82	0.69	0.84	0.76	0.8	0.74	0.83	0.65
	SD/LD/LR	0.77	0.71	0.8	0.77	0.78	0.74	0.9	0.82
	NS/S	0.73	0.7	0.82	0.8	0.68	0.65	0.79	0.74
Without D0	SI/SD	0.89	0.88	0.92	0.94	0.92	0.94	0.88	0.81
Without D0	LD/LR	0.56	0.5	0.74	0.54	0.74	0.74	0.39	0.26
	SD/LD/LR	0.65	0.58	0.73	0.64	0.76	0.74	0.79	0.72
	NS/S	0.74	0.69	0.82	0.8	0.67	0.64	0.8	0.74
Without D1	SI/SD	0.89	0.88	0.91	0.93	0.91	0.93	0.88	0.81
Without D1	LD/LR	0.56	0.5	0.74	0.54	0.74	0.74	0.39	0.26
	SD/LD/LR	0.65	0.58	0.73	0.64	0.76	0.74	0.79	0.72
	NS/S	0.73	0.69	0.82	0.8	0.67	0.64	0.8	0.74
Without D2	SI/SD	0.89	0.88	0.91	0.93	0.91	0.93	0.88	0.81
Without D2	LD/LR	0.58	0.5	0.74	0.54	0.76	0.74	0.48	0.26
	SD/LD/LR	0.67	0.58	0.73	0.64	0.76	0.74	0.82	0.72
	NS/S	0.73	0.7	0.82	0.79	0.72	0.73	0.75	0.67
Without O1	SI/SD	0.89	0.88	0.91	0.93	0.91	0.93	0.88	0.81
Without OI	LD/LR	0.58	0.5	0.73	0.54	0.74	0.74	0.42	0.26
	SD/LD/LR	0.66	0.58	0.72	0.64	0.76	0.74	0.81	0.72
	NS/S	0.75	0.69	0.83	0.8	0.67	0.62	0.82	0.76
Without O2	SI/SD	0.89	0.88	0.91	0.93	0.91	0.93	0.88	0.81
Without O2	LD/LR	0.78	0.59	0.82	0.68	0.83	0.68	0.72	0.5
	SD/LD/LR	0.74	0.65	0.78	0.73	0.79	0.7	0.87	0.78
	NS/S	0.73	0.71	0.82	0.81	0.67	0.66	0.79	0.77
Without B1	SI/SD	0.67	0.58	0.74	0.65	0.74	0.67	0.6	0.48
without B1	LD/LR	0.74	0.53	0.79	0.64	0.79	0.68	0.7	0.37
	SD/LD/LR	0.58	0.41	0.59	0.48	0.59	0.48	0.73	0.66
	NS/S	0.71	0.58	0.8	0.73	0.68	0.58	0.73	0.58
Clinical Only	SI/SD	0.89	0.88	0.91	0.93	0.91	0.93	0.88	0.81
	LD/LR	0.73	0.53	0.79	0.64	0.8	0.68	0.65	0.37
	SD/LD/LR	0.72	0.6	0.77	0.7	0.78	0.7	0.85	0.74

Various studies resorted to deep learning for the diagnosis and quantification of Covid-19 with CT scans. In particular, studies have already reported on deep learning diagnosing Covid-19 pneumonia on chest CTs. In [Li, 2020b], the authors proposed using a deep learning architecture based on ResNet50 for the diagnosis of Covid-19, reporting high performances while investigating the attention maps produced from their network. A similar method is presented in [Mei, 2020] reporting the use of deep learning on Covid-19 diagnosis. Furthermore, in [Huang, 2020], the authors propose using a UNet architecture to quantify the disease using 14482 slices for training and 5303 slices for the test, reporting a median DSC of 0.8481. However, since their dataset is not publicly available, it is impossible to perform a direct comparison. A 3D deep learning

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 58 Pneumonia and Cancer

architecture (DenseUNet) is proposed in [Chaganti, 2020] for the quantification of Covid-19 disease. The segmentation is then used to regress many scores proposed in that study, such as lung high opacity, lung severity, high opacity, and opacity percentages. Again, a direct comparison could not be reported, as the evaluation of the method was not assessed using DSC or HD but on their ability to regress the proposed scores. Finally, recently [Tilborghs, 2020] presents a comparable study of deep learning-based methods for the automatic quantification of Covid-19.

Assessing the severity of Covid-19 patients is a swiftly evolving topic in the medical community, with some methods being currently under review. Extracting valuable information from the imaging using recent advances is very important and could potentially facilitate clinical practice. Indeed, Disease extent is known to be associated with severity [Li, 2020a; Yuan, 2020]. Simultaneously, the disease textural heterogeneity better reflects heterogeneous lesions than the pure ground-glass opacities observable in mild cases. In [Li, 2020c], the authors proposed using Siamese networks for the severity assessment of Covid-19 directly from CT scans. In [Bai, 2020], the authors proposed a deep learning pipeline based on LSTMs using 2D CT slices and a fusion of imaging and clinical information to assess the severity and progression of Covid-19 patients. The proposed method reports an accuracy of 89.1% on a test cohort of 80 patients, outperforming classical machine learning techniques. Besides, having a smaller test cohort, our method explores interpretable features, thus helping to understand the disease better and provide additional information for the staging of the patients. Recently [Lassau, 2020] proposed the assessment of severity using a deep learning tool achieving an AUC of 0.79 on an independent cohort but with low sensitivity. Again, even if we could not perform a direct comparison, our method reports similar performance in a completely independent cohort. Besides, it is based on interpretable features extracted from different regions. Finally, in [He, 2020] a 2D deep learning-based approach using multi-task learning is presented to separate Covid-19 patients into severe and non-severe cases.

#### **Clinical Impact**

Our study is one of the first to have developed a robust, holistic Covid-19 multi-omics signature for disease staging and prognosis. It demonstrated an equivalent/superior-to-human-reader performance on a multi-centric data set. Our approach complied with appropriate data collection and methodological testing requirements beyond the existing literature [Mei, 2020]. The proposed holistic signature harnessed imaging descriptors of disease, underlying lung, heart and fat, and biological and clinical data. Among them, disease extent is known to be associated with severity [Li, 2020a; Yuan, 2020], disease textural heterogeneity reflects more the presence of heterogeneous lesions than pure ground-glass opacities observable in mild cases. Heart features encode cardiomegaly and cardiac calcifications. Lung features show patients with a severe form of the disease having a wider dispersion and heterogeneity of lung densities, reflecting the presence of an underlying airway disease such as emphysema and the presence of sub-radiological disease.

#### 3.5. Holistic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2-positive (HER2+) early breast cancer (BC) 59

Among clinical variables, a higher CRP level, lymphopenia, a higher prevalence of hypertension and diabetes were associated with a poorer outcome, consistent with previous reports [Zhou, 2020a; Guo, 2020; Terpos, 2020]. Interestingly, age was less predictive of disease severity than of poor outcome in severe patients. It is linked to the fewer therapeutic possibilities for these generally more fragile patients. Lastly, the average body mass index (BMI) in both non-severe and severe groups corresponded to overweight. Despite being correlated with BMI, the fat ratio measured on the CT scanner was only weakly associated with outcome. Several studies have reported obesity to be associated with severe outcomes [Huang, 2020; Chaganti, 2020] and an editorial described the measurement of anthropometric characteristics as crucial to better estimate the risk of complications [Stefan, 2020]. Notwithstanding, a meta-analysis showed that whereas being associated with an increased risk of Covid-19 pneumonia, obesity was paradoxically associated with reduced pneumonia mortality [Wynants, 2020]. Overall, the combination of clinical, biological, and imaging features demonstrates their complementary value for staging and prognosis.

# 3.5 Holistic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2positive (HER2+) early breast cancer (BC)

In patients with primary HER2+ early BC, dual HER2 blockade in the absence of chemotherapy has shown high activity in a subgroup of patients. Although chemotherapy-free treatment strategies are being pursued, there is a need to identify these patients before treatment initiation. Here, we tackle the difficult task of evaluating the ability of clinical, gene expression and pathomics data to predict response following dual HER2 blockade without chemotherapy. We aim to automatically decipher the data's complementarity towards a low dimensional holistic signature that determines outcomes, and using it as a clinical biomarker for patient stratification through a robust learning artificial intelligence approach. An overview of the task is presented in 3.10.

#### 3.5.1 Dataset and Features Extraction

PAMELA (Lancet Oncology 2017) is a prospective study in HER2+ BC designed to evaluate the ability of the PAM50 HER2-enriched intrinsic subtype to predict pCR following 18-weeks of neoadjuvant lapatinib and trastuzumab (and hormonal therapy if hormone receptor-positive [HR+]). A total of 15 clinical-pathological variables were evaluated, including tumor cellularity, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs), the expression of 567 BC-related genes/signatures, and pathomics data from pre-treatment samples from all patients recruited in PAMELA. For the imaging information obtained from H/E slides, we first generate nuclei segmentation maps using a deep learning architecture of Self-Supervised Nuclei Segmentation relying on an attention network[Sahasrabudhe, 2020]. The semantic segmentation produced by this network was used to derive at the patch level image and shape characteristics of the digital pathology samples,

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 60 Pneumonia and Cancer



Figure 3.10: Overview of the features extraction, selection, and prediction process for pamela cohort (Section 3.5).

resulting in a pathomics-derived feature vector of 300 variables. An integrative approach that harnesses clinical, genomics, and pathomics data into a unified prediction framework were used. Patients were divided into a training set 80% and a testing set 20% with proportions of pCR and non-pCR corresponding to the ones observed. A 100-fold Cross-validation (CV) was performed on the training. CV was used to tune the classifiers' parameters and select the 5 classifiers performing best on validation regarding balanced accuracy and having an average specificity above 80%. To ensure the results' robustness and generalizability, we present results averaged over 100 splits into training and test.

#### 3.5.2 Results and Discussion

From the high dimensional feature space of size 882, we propose a low dimensional holistic signature composed of 8 predictive features that the consensus selection has singled out. The signature includes 4 genomics variables (i.e. expression levels of ERBB2, ESR1, Luminal A signature and Risk of Relapse score), 2 clinical-pathological variables (i.e. histologic grade and ER-status), and 2 imaging variables (i.e. mean Short Run Low Gray Level Emphasis of the gray level run length matrix and the mean absolute deviation). An ablation study was also performed to determine the relevance of the different categories of variables. Genomics variables appeared to be the most informative category as its ablation leads to the highest decrease of the metrics (11% on average). The results with a 75% balanced accuracy, 69% precision, 65% sensitivity, 86% specificity, and 0.84 AUC demonstrate the relevance of the approach. Also, we highlight this technique's clinical relevance, which, thanks to its discriminative power, represents an utterly precise exclusion principle for trials. We report successful classification of 86% of non-pCR cases and 65% of pCR cases. Our overall results for the different types of characteristics used, are summarised in Table 3.9 while the confusion matrix of our proposed 8 features signature for

the prediction of pCR response is presented in Table 3.10. One could observe that the proposed approach results to promising overall performance. The proposed method has excellent potentials for an effective and clinically meaningful implementation of patients' pre-selection on treatment response criteria after neoadjuvant dual HER2 blockade. Besides, the generality of the method used here makes it transposable to any cancer type or therapy.

Table 3.9: Training and test results obtained on Pamela cohort. Ablation results per features types are also reported.

Footuros	Balanced Accuracy		Precision		Sensitivity		Specificity		AUC
reatures	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Test
All 8 features	0.89	0.75	0.87	0.69	0.84	0.65	0.94	0.86	0.84
Only Genomics	0.83	0.73	0.73	0.62	0.79	0.65	0.87	0.81	0.81
Only Clinical	0.73	0.69	0.68	0.68	0.6	0.51	0.86	0.86	0.80
Only Imaging	0.66	0.48	0.7	0.26	0.4	0.15	0.92	0.82	0.52

Table 3.10: Test confusion matrix on Pamela cohort.

Ground Truth \Predicted	Non-pCR	pCR
Non-pCR	85.85%	14.15%
pCR	35.42%	64.58%

# 3.6 Atopic Dermatitis Severity Prediction

Pruritus is a major symptom of atopic dermatitis (AD) and causes an important burden for patients and society. Its mechanisms are complex and partly understood, making therapeutic perspectives promising. To address this question, we used the largest (n = 82) available AD transcriptome lesional skin dataset (MAARS dataset). All patients auto-evaluated pruritus intensity using a visual scale going from 1 to 10. The median score was 7. We first explore our data using correlation, differential analysis, and sparse PLS to conclude that more innovative approaches should be favored. We applied an automatic deep learning and statistical-based model using an ensemble of architectures, and a data-driven consensus for the gene selection and the pruritus prediction. Final minimalist signatures were obtained using an ablation selection technique. Its application on our data revealed interesting genes for pruritus prediction: Heme Oxygenase 1 (HMOX1), Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Serine Protein Kinase (CASK), Vestigial Like Family Member 2 (VGLL2), Mannosidase Alpha Class 2A Member 1 (MAN2A1), one long non-coding RNA (GPRC5D-AS1) and two novel transcripts (AC113382.1 and AL031123.1). It predicted pruritus classes with 0.77 balanced accuracy, 0.86 precision, 0.67 sensitivity, and 0.88 specificity. We validated our strategy on two external cohorts, with n = 70 samples in total. A new signature was designed with similar prediction performance. However, interestingly it appeared the two gene signatures had no gene in common. Functional interpretation including both signatures showed interesting shared function and potential therapeutic targets. Our study is so far the first to apply ML to pruritus understanding, and encourage the use of innovative approaches for complex data comprehension.

#### 3.6.1 Predictive Gene Selection

Using all the coding genes considered, we built a high-dimension space of size 22596. A minmax normalization of the attributes was performed by calculating the minimum and maximum values for the training and validation cohorts. The same values were also applied on the test set. We adapted the feature selection pipeline proposed in this chapter to tackle the dimensionality curse problem and discover significant and robust predictive genes for the pruritus score determination. Indeed, applying a space dimension reduction step ahead of a classification task is of prime importance especially in genomics studies as it has been shown and discussed in Chapter 4.

More specifically, we separated the cohort into two classes: high pruritus and low pruritus samples. The separation threshold chosen between the two classes was the observed median, i.e. 7. The cohort was subdivided into training and test on the principle of 80%-20% maintaining the observed distribution of classes between the two subsets. Then, on this basis, the training set was further divided into 5 subdivisions to perform feature selection. We considered a selective threshold of 40% of the total possible prevalence (40 selections). This threshold was determined to be optimal through experiments.

### 3.6.2 Dataset

#### **Internal Cohort**

The data were obtained from the MAARS Consortium18, whose dataset is publicly available on the Array Express interface (E-MTAB-8149). AD patients have been recruited in three European Dermatology departments, after provided written informed consent under institutional review board-approved protocols. Sampling and data generation occurred between 2012 and 2013. A vast amount of clinical features was collected, including visual auto-evaluation of the pruritus scale. A 6 mm punch biopsy was performed in the lesional skin of AD patients. Bulk transcriptomic analysis was performed after mRNA extraction with Affymetrix GeneChip® Whole Transcript Expression Arrays.

#### **External Cohort**

To assess the reproducibility and robustness of our approach, we applied our prediction on two independent datasets. To reduce technological and technical biases, we sourced independent cohorts using a comparable transcriptomic technology and with available annotation on pruritus severity. Among the total number of pre-selected transcriptomic cohorts (n=48), only two studies met our inclusion criteria with n = 30 and n = 40 AD lesional skin samples. They were

generated by the same team, using homogeneous protocols. Pruritus intensity was evaluated by the patient using NRS (Numeric rating scale) Bulk transcriptomic data were generated using Affymetrix Human U133Plus 2.0<sup>®</sup> gene arrays. Expression matrices GSE133385 and GSE133477 were downloaded through the Gene expression omnibus (GEO) interface using GEOquery package (ver. 2.51.1).

#### 3.6.3 Classification Task

The classification was addressed using an ensemble learning approach. The same training/test sets as the ones for feature selection were used. We have performed 5-fold cross-validation and evaluated the average performance of the following supervised classification methods: Nearest Neighbor, {Linear, Sigmoid, Radial Basis Function (RBF), Polynomial Kernel} Support Vector Machines (SVM), Gaussian Process, Decision Trees, Random Forests, AdaBoost, Gradient Boosting, Gaussian Naive Bayes, Bernoulli Naive Bayes, Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP) and Quadratic Discriminant Analysis. These classifiers have been trained using the identified signature. For each binary classification task, a consensus model was designed, selecting the top 5 classifiers. The selected models were trained and combined through a winner takes all approach to determine the optimal outcome. We further developed the method proposed in this chapter by adding a signature refinement step performed through ablation as described in the Section 3.3.1.

#### 3.6.4 Implementation Details

Features with the best combined prevalence (sum of prevalences over the 8 selection techniques) were kept using the feature selection method. For this feature selection task, Decision Tree Classifier was taken of maximum depth 3, Linear SVM was taken with a linear kernel, a polynomial kernel function of degree 3 and a penalty parameter of 0.25, Gradient Boosting was used with a regression tree boosted over 30 stages, AdaBoost was used with a Decision Tree Classifier of maximum depth 2 boosted 3 times, and Lasso method was used with 200 alphas along a regularization path of length 0.01 and limited to 1000 iterations.

Concerning the classification, to overcome the unbalanced dataset for the different classes, each class received a weight inversely proportional to its size. For the majority voting classifier, the top 5 classifiers consist of RBF SVM, Linear SVM, Polynomial SVM, QDA, and MLP. The RBF SVM had a penalty parameter of 0.7 and a kernel coefficient gamma of 1. The Linear kernel had a penalty parameter of 3. The Polynomial SVM was granted a kernel degree of 2. The QDA classifier was considered without any prior or regularization parameter and with an absolute threshold of 10. The MLP classifier was trained with an lbfgs solver, an alpha of 0.1, a relu activation, a maximal number of iteration of 1000, a batch size of 500, and an invscaling learning rate. To prevent overfitting we used early stopping.

#### 3.6.5 Results and Discussion

Relying on the aforementioned selection method, we extracted 23 genes and obtained after ablation a minimalist signature composed of the 7 following genes: Heme Oxygenase 1 (HMOX1), Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Serine Protein Kinase (CASK), Vestigial Like Family Member 2 (VGLL2), Mannosidase Alpha Class 2A Member 1 (MAN2A1), one long non-coding RNA (GPRC5D-AS1) and two novel transcripts (AC113382.1 and AL031123.1). Our proposed ensemble approach reported high performance over all considered evaluation metrics in intra-cohort validation. With only a 7 genes signature, we reached on test 0.77 balanced accuracy, 0.86 precision, 0.67 sensitivity, 0.88 specificity. In addition, we managed to correctly classify 87.5% of the low pruritus class' samples and 66.67% for the high pruritus class.

The genes included in the external cohorts massively varying from the ones of the MAARS dataset, the previously identified gene signature could not be tested in those new settings. Thus, the exact same pipeline was repeated on our external cohort to demonstrate the generalizability of our approach despite the microarray technology disparity. A very different signature was obtained, again including 7 genes: Nuclear Transcription Factor/X-Box Binding Like 1(NFXL1), TOX High Mobility Group Box Family Member 2 (TOX2), Transcription Factor Like 5 (TCFL5), Synaptosome Associated Protein 23 (SNAP23), one long non-coding RNA (ENSG00000279064), and one novel transcript (AC011815.3). Notwithstanding, the differences between the cohorts, we reached excellent results on the test. With only a 7 genes signature, we reached on test 0.90 balanced accuracy, 0.90 precision, 1.00 sensitivity, 0.80 specificity. Also, we managed to correctly classify 80.00% of the low pruritus class' samples and 100.00% for the high pruritus class.

Although independent validation cohorts were selected because of their similarities with our learning cohort, unfortunately, our results were not validated on an external cohort. In general, this can be due to disparities in patient recruitment (age, gender, race disparities), sampling procedure (anatomical localization, skin preparation), microarray technologies, and platform protocols. In our case, differences between learning and validation cohorts are subtle and could be due to various sample anatomical localizations and the diverse Affymetrix microarray generations. A recent study using the same data as ours showed that gene expressions differed according to the anatomical localization in the AD context [Ottman, 2021]. It highlights the importance of standardized sampling procedures within skin transcriptomic studies. The technical bias might be even more substantial in our case. As genome coverage is not homogeneous among Affymetrix technologies [Robinson, 2007], focusing on common genes led to biological information loss.

# 3.7 Future Work

In conclusion, we highlighted the value of ensemble techniques towards both feature selection and classification in this study. We reported robust and promising over three critical medical tasks, patient staging, treatment response prediction, and disease severity determination. We handled several omics data, including CT-scans imaging, histopathological WSI, genes, and clinical information. Our feature selection approach was able to cope with the curse of dimensionality when considering several thousands of features. Besides, we proposed and demonstrated the efficiency of an ablation refinement method to further reduce the size of the selected signature and eliminate information redundancy. To further extend the proposed framework and better identify complementary features, we envision considering a decomposition approach [Danisch, 2017] over a co-occurrence graph. In this setting, features selected simultaneously over several runs of the feature selection algorithms are considered similar. Then, identifying a highly interconnected set of genes in the graph would determine features with low redundancy as they are required together for classification.

With our Covid-19 application, we have shown that the combination of chest CT and artificial intelligence can provide tools for fast, accurate, and precise disease extent quantification and the identification of patients with severe short-term outcomes. It could be of great help in the current pandemic context with healthcare resources under extreme pressure. Beyond the diagnostic value of CT for Covid-19, our study suggests that AI should be part of the triage process. Our methodology designed a deep learning-based pipeline that provides disease quantification comparable to the human experts. At the same time, it explores interpretable image characteristics, fusing them with clinical and biological data to perform staging of the patients to non-severe, needing intubation and deceased. We have highlighted the versatility of our approach through various additional experiments leveraging different omics data from other medical fields. Our prognosis and staging method achieved state-of-the-art results by deploying a highly robust ensemble classification strategy using the image and patients' characteristics within the image's metadata. In terms of future work, we are planning to investigate and generate tools for the multiclass disease segmentation and investigate in depth the characteristics of each class and their association with severity. Our findings could have a substantial impact in terms of (i)patient stratification regarding the different therapeutic strategies, (ii) accelerated drug development through rapid, reproducible, and quantified assessment of treatment response through the different mid/end-points of the trial, and *(iii)* continuous monitoring of patient's response to treatment.

The use of deep features towards unsupervised discovery is also an interesting direction. Despite the absence of reported results in the chapter, it should be noted that advanced deep learning techniques were considered both for classification/severity assessment (deep neural networks with attention, deep features from mid-level lung/disease 3D disease quantification networks) as well as for outcome prediction with explicit integration of clinical/biological variables. The interest of these methods was tested for biomarker discovery - subsequently fed to the ensemble learning method presented in the chapter – and in an end-to-end setting towards automatic quantification, staging, and outcome prediction. Despite engaging performance on training, both

#### Chapter 3. Ensemble Techniques for Patients Stratification: Focus on COVID-19 66 Pneumonia and Cancer

approaches failed to produce explainable, consistent with training results. They were notably inferior in overall performance, explicability, robustness, and generalizability compared to the reported solution. The relatively low number of samples in training could explain it, as it is a known bottleneck for deep representations. Access to a significantly larger cohort with at least one order of magnitude higher-order number of samples is under examination within the Assistance Publique – Hôpitaux de Paris hospitals network. The use of such a cohort could be of great interest for confirming the outcomes of the presented study. It would help to revive the interest in deep features and holistic end-to-end integration of deep features with biological/clinical and imaging data for staging and short/long term outcome prediction.

Our study of patient treatment response for breast cancer patient is one of the first to leverage radiomics information on WSI. We highlighted the complementarity of the gene, clinical and histopathological data for prediction and reported auspicious results. In the future, we are considering using our general and adaptable framework for other kinds of treatments and cancers. Besides, we also want to prove the generalizability of our holistic signature over an external cohort. Regarding our experiments on atopic dermatitis, we are the first to prove the interest in machine learning approaches to predict a patient's pruritus score from genetic information. We reported excellent performance over two different cohorts with very low dimensional signatures of 7 genes extracted from the whole coding genome. A further step in this study would be to consider an external cohort presenting a similar experimental protocol or sequencing technology to attest to our approach's generalizability.

# Chapter 4

# Cancer Gene Profiling through Unsupervised Discovery

#### Contents

4.1 Intr	oduction	69
4.2 Me	thodology	70
4.2.1	Overview of the Proposed Approach	70
4.2.2	Discovering Correlations in Gene Expressions	71
4.2.3	Unsupervised Gene Clustering Evaluation	71
4.2.4	Definition of a Low Dimensional Cancer Signature $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	72
4.2.5	Implementation Details	73
4.3 Dat	aset	76
4.4 Res	ults and Discussion	76
4.4.1	Results on Clustering Gene Data	77
4.4.2	Computational Complexity & Running Times For Gene Clustering	79
4.4.3	Unsupervised Signature Assessment	80
4.4.4	Tumor Types/Subtypes Classification Tasks	90
4.4.5	Global Comparison	91
4.5 Cor	nclusions	93

In chapter 2, we introduce a novel, automatic and unsupervised framework to discover lowdimensional gene biomarkers. Our method is based on the LP-Stability algorithm, a high dimensional center-based unsupervised clustering algorithm, that offers modularity as concerns metric functions and scalability, while being able to automatically determine the best number of clusters. Our evaluation includes both mathematical and biological criteria. The recovered signature is applied to a variety of biological tasks, including screening of biological pathways and functions, and characterization relevance on tumor types and subtypes. Quantitative comparisons among different distance metrics, commonly used clustering methods and a referential gene signature used in the literature, confirm state of the art performance of our approach. In particular, our signature, that is based on 27 genes, reports at least 30 times better mathematical significance (average Dunn's Index) and 25% better biological significance (average Enrichment in Protein-Protein Interaction) than those produced by other referential clustering methods. Finally, our signature reports promising results on distinguishing immune inflammatory and immune desert tumors, while reporting a high balanced accuracy of 92% on tumor types classification and averaged balanced accuracy of 68% on tumor subtypes classification, which represents, respectively 7% and 9% higher performance compared to the referential signature. This study extends our work published in [Battistella, 2019; Battistella, 2021d].

# 4.1 Introduction

Omics data analysis - including genomics, transcriptomics and metabolomics - has greatly benefited from the tremendous sequencing technique advances [Kurian, 2014] allowing to highly increase the quality and the quantity of data. These omics techniques are pivotal aspects of the development of personalized medicine by enabling a better understanding of fine-grained molecular mechanisms [Hanahan, 2011]. In oncology, these techniques provide a more comprehensive insight of the biological processes intricacy in cancers giving momentum to molecular-type characterization through omics or even multi-omics approaches [Ramaswamy, 2001b; Chen, 2017b]. Such a precise and robust characterization is a highly valuable asset for tumor characterization and provides significant acumen on their treatment.

Genomics, probably the most prominent omics technique, refer to the study of entire genomes contrary to genetics that interrogate individual variants or single genes [Hasin, 2017]. In this direction, novel methods study specific variants of genes aimed at producing robust biomarkers, which contribute to both the response of patients to treatment [Wan, 2010; Sun, 2018] and the association with complex and Mendelian diseases [Dunne, 2017]. However, the relatively low number of samples per tumor subtype, along with the curse of dimensionality and the lack of ground truth affect many of these studies [Drucker, 2013], which may prevent any statistically meaningful causal relation discovery.

The use of cluster analysis on RNA-seq transcriptomes is a wide-spread technique [Cowen, 2017] whose main goal is to define groups of genes that have similar expression profiles, proposing compact signatures [Dunne, 2017]. These robust signatures are necessary to identify associations with different biological processes, as tumor types or cancer molecular subtypes, and to highlight gene coding for proteins interacting together or participating in the same biological process [Dam, 2017].

Although dimension reduction through clustering is not new [Pepke, 2017], there is an important shortfall in literature of a thorough, mathematically and biologically meaningful comparison of clusterings methods on a same database. In many studies, a single evaluation metric is used and there is no relevant comparison with other algorithms. By "relevant", we mean here that the optimization of the different baseline algorithm hyperparameters is ensured and compared through a fair evaluation metric. Mathematical metrics for instance, are highly dependent on the property the algorithm is optimizing and the distance notion considered. The evaluation of this bias through, as an example, random clusters using different distance notions to offer a fair comparison between the different algorithms. Finally, a few surveys [Oyelade, 2016] propose a thorough comparison, using several evaluation criteria, albeit reporting results shown in several other studies without actually comparing the methods on a same database with all the criteria at once. In this chapter, we introduce a novel unsupervised approach that is modular, scalable and metric free towards the definition of a predictive gene signature while proposing a complete methodology for comparison, analysis and evaluation of genomic signatures. The backbone of our methodology refers to a powerful graph-based unsupervised clustering method, the LP-Stability algorithm [Komodakis, 2009], which has been successfully adapted in various fields. Our approach offers:

- i. Standardization and automatization concerning gene clustering evaluation for the selection of the best distance notions, metrics, algorithms and hyperparameters;
- ii. Creation of generic, low dimensional signatures using the gene expressions of all coding genes, including comparisons to random signatures to highlight statistical superiority;
- iii. Systematic assessment of the biological power of gene signatures by evaluating the different tumor type and subtype associations via supervised (proving tissue-specificity and predictive power), and unsupervised (proving automatic discovery and expression power) techniques. By this, we demonstrated the power of the proposed gene signature (based on 27 genes) compared to other methods in the literature;
- iv. Thorough biological analysis of the processes involved in sample clusters via gene screening techniques, affirming the robustness of the obtained results.

# 4.2 Methodology

# 4.2.1 Overview of the Proposed Approach

The overview of the method presented in this chapter is summarized in Fig. 4.1. To evaluate and select the best gene signature, we introduce two distinct metrics checking both mathematical and biological properties. In particular, we used the mathematical assessment metric of Dunn's Index (DI) [Kovács, 2005] and the biological one of Enrichment Score in PPI [Pepke, 2017] which are both referential for the assessment of clustering although they have never been combined. Then, a low dimensional aggregated gene signature is defined by combining representative genes in each cluster. To prove the power of the discovered biomarker, a systematic and thorough evaluation regarding its biological and clinical relevance was performed. In particular, the signature was evaluated and compared through sample clustering and sample classification. As targeted by the sample clustering, we chose the different tumor types and assessed the success of the clustering through sample distribution analysis and clustering evaluation metrics such as Rand Index and Mutual Information. In addition, we used the method from [Tusher, 2001] to obtain important genes for the samples of each cluster which were associated to their pathways using [Szklarczyk, 2018]. Finally, the last evaluation criteria was the performance in categorizing the cancer types and subtypes through supervised machine learning techniques. Our proposed signature has been compared against both signatures designed from commonly used algorithms for gene clustering [MacQueen, 1967; Pepke, 2017] and a recently proposed prominent gene signature [Thorsson, 2018]. In particular, we used K-Means algorithm in order to investigate the importance of stable centers in clustering as it is one of the main differences between LP-Stability and K-Means. To assess the statistical significance of the produced clusters we compare them against random clusters.



Figure 4.1: **Proposed Framework.** A general overview of the different steps of our process. Our proposed framework is composed of two steps. First, a clustering algorithm, here LP-Stability, is used to generate clusters of genes having similar expression profiles. Then, the clustering that performs best on both mathematical and biological scores is selected as a gene signature. In the second step, the generated signature is used to perform sample clustering and sample classification. The performance on this step is evaluated by analysing the distribution of the samples into the different clusters or the performance on the classification tasks, here the target was the tumor types and subtypes characterization.

## 4.2.2 Discovering Correlations in Gene Expressions

## 4.2.3 Unsupervised Gene Clustering Evaluation

To evaluate the performance of gene clustering methods, we used both mathematical and biological criteria. The quality of the results was assessed using the biological relevance information brought by the Enrichment Score in PPI, while the prominent Dunn's Index statistical method was considered regarding the clustering mathematical appropriateness. See Section 2.3.3 for a formal definition of those measures.

#### 4.2.4 Definition of a Low Dimensional Cancer Signature

In this section, we focus on gene signature definition and biomarker power evaluation.

#### Signature Selection

The ultimate goal of our approach is to produce low dimensional signatures as a byproduct of unsupervised clustering outcome. To this end, the signatures were produced by selecting the most representative gene per cluster for the clusterings with the highest ES and DI performance. For LP-Stability algorithm, the selected genes were the stable centers that the algorithm relies on, in the the rest of the algorithms, we chose as representatives the clusters medoid (the sample the closest to the cluster center). This choice is motivated by the fact that the stable centers of the clustering obtained through LP-Stability are also medoids.

In complement, once a signature is selected, a redundancy analysis was performed using STRING tool [Szklarczyk, 2018] to decipher any biological process that was particularly overrepresented so suggesting redundancy of the information. In addition, Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) portal (www.gtexportal.org) was used to assess the tissue specificity for the proposed signature. A good signature should present genes with different expression profiles over the different tissues. This tool offers a visual representation for each gene of their expression and regulation in different tissues. It relies on the analysis of multiple human tissues from donors to identify correlations between genotype and tissue-specific gene expression levels.

#### Sample Clustering: Discovery Power

In order to perform sample clustering, we compared several algorithms and distances. The most meaningful results were obtained with the K-medoids method, a variant of K-Means, combined with the Spearman's rank correlation-based distance. The relevance of the obtained results was assessed by analyzing the partition of the different tumor types in the clusters. In particular, driven from known biological evidence, we considered as meaningful the associations of lung tumors (LUSC, LUAD), squamous tumors (LUSC, HNSC, CESC), gynecologic tumors (BRCA, OV, CESC), smoking related tumors (LUSC, LUAD, BLCA, CESC, HNSC). We disregarded samples types in a cluster representing less than 5% of the total cluster size. We considered a poorly defined cluster to be a cluster presenting less than 50 samples or distribution of the samples types in the same proportions as in the whole dataset as it would show random associations.

Gene screening analysis was also used to identify the genes that are expressed differently over the sample clusters and thus indicating the biological processes involved. For that, we used the SAM method [Tusher, 2001], that aims to identify the genes that are differentially expressed over two groups of samples. SAM assesses the significance of the variations of the gene expression using a statistical t-test, providing a significance score and a False Discovery Rate (FDR). To better assess the relevance of separating samples of the same tumor type, we studied the genes that are expressed differently for each tumor type in a cluster compared to all the other samples of the same tumor type. We thus pinpointed significant genes for each cluster and each tumor type by cluster. Once more, the method in [Szklarczyk, 2018] has been used for assessing the biological relevance of the clusters and their association to different tumor types, by studying the biological processes involved. A well-defined sample clustering is characterized by different clusters presenting different enriched biological processes and pathways while different tumor types in a same cluster should be enriched in the same ones.

#### Sample Clustering: Expression Power

To assess how well the different tumor types have been separated, we used several different metrics presented in Section 2.3.3. Namely, we considered the Adjusted Rand Index (ARI), the Normalized Mutual Information (NMI), the Homogeneity, the Completeness and the Fowlkes-Mallow Score.

#### Supervised Tumor Types/SubTypes Categorization

The evaluation of the provided signatures were further assessed by a supervised setting in order to highlight their tissue specificity properties. The supervised framework for tumor types and subtypes categorization was adapted from the method presented in Chapter 3. Please refer to this Chapter for more details of the method used. Our gene clustering pipeline offers here an alternative feature selection method to the one proposed in Chapter 3 the advantages it is less task dependent while offering a guarantee of redundancy freedom and better scalability. The advantages of the task specific, supervised feature selection technique developed in this manuscript will be discussed in Chapter 3. The classification pipeline relies on an ensemble of machine learning classifiers, exploring the ones with strong generalisation power. The best performing in terms of balanced accuracy and generalisation are combined through a probabilistic consensus schema to provide the appropriate label.

Towards the evaluation of the reported performance, we relied on classic machine learning metrics defined in Section 2.2.3. Namely, we considered the balanced accuracy, the weighted precision, the weighted specificity and the weighted sensitivity.

#### 4.2.5 Implementation Details

The parameters of each algorithm for the gene clustering were obtained using grid search. In order to benchmark the behavior of each algorithm on different number of clusters, we evaluated their performance for the following number of clusters: from 2 to 10 with an increment of 1, 15, 20, 25 and between 30 and 100 with an increasing step of 10 for the Random Clustering and K-Means algorithms and 25 for CorEx algorithm because of its computational complexity. LP-Stability automatically determines the number of clusters. In order to create meaningful comparisons, we adjusted the penalty vector S in order to obtain approximately the same number of clusters as with the rest of the algorithms. For comparison purposes, we used the same penalty for all the genes, however, for the LP-Stability algorithm the penalty value could be adjusted and customized depending on the importance of specific genes.

For the ES we reported the behavior of the algorithms with different threshold values *i.e.* 0.005, 0.025, 0.05 and 0.1. Furthermore, in reporting the DI value, each method has been evaluated with the same proximity measure it relies on. For K-Means that is sensitive to initialization, we performed 100 iterations for each parameter and selected the best clustering based on DI only to cope with the computational cost of the ES. This iterative process augments the computational time of the algorithm, but reports clusters with better statistical significance and more stable scores. Similarly, we performed 100 repetitions of random clustering and observed rather similar results, we selected the clustering that reports the best DI score and reported its results.

For the sample clustering, we considered 10 clusters corresponding to the actual 10 tumor types. For the gene screening, we selected the most significant genes that reported a significance score of 7 which corresponds to a q-value of FDR close to zero in most cases, while for the biological processes we considered only the 10 most enriched processes by screening.

Regarding the supervised categorization of tumor types and subtypes classes, the evaluated algorithms were: Nearest Neighbor, {Linear, Sigmoid, Radial Basis Function (RBF), Polynomial Kernel Support Vector Machines (SVM), Gaussian Process, Decision Trees, Random Forests, AdaBoost, XGBoosting, Gaussian Naive Bayes, Bernoulli Naive Bayes, Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP) & Quadratic Discriminant Analysis. We selected the top classifiers regarding balanced accuracy ensuring both good performance and good generalisation. In particular, for tumor types classification the selection criteria include (i) high balanced accuracy (equal or above 80%) on the validation set and (ii) small difference (smaller than 20%) on the balanced accuracy metric between training and validation. While for tumor subtypes classification, we selected the top 5 classifiers regarding balanced accuracy presenting a small difference (smaller than 20%) on the balanced accuracy metric between training and validation. For our experiments on tumor types classification with our proposed signature, the classifiers that fulfill these criteria were the: {Linear, Polynomial, RBF Kernels} SVM, Gaussian Process, Random forest, MLP, XGBoosting. For the sake of conciseness, we do not detail the selected classifiers for other experiments and other signatures. Those top classifiers' good performance were leveraged through a majority voting scheme.

To deal with the problem of the unbalanced dataset, each class received a weight inversely proportional to its size. Concerning the different hyperparameters of the best performing classifiers, SVM was granted a regularization parameter of 10 and polynomial kernel function of degree 4 Table 4.1: **Description of the dataset used in this study.** The different tumors and tumor types together with the corresponding number of samples are summarised. Urothelial Bladder Carcinoma (BLCA), Breast Invasive Carcinoma (BRCA), Cervical Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Endocervical Adenocarcinoma (CESC), Glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM), Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma (HNSC), Liver Hepatocellular Carcinoma (LIHC), Rectum Adenocarcinoma (READ), Lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD), Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma (LUSC) and Ovarian Cancer (OV).

Tumor Tuno	Clustering	Classification				
rumor rype	#Samples #Samples Types		#Samples Subtypes:			
BLCA	427	129				
			Normal:	144		
			LumA:	582		
BRCA	1212	1223	LumB:	220		
			Her2:	83		
			Basal:	194		
CESC	309					
GBM	171	827				
			Mesenchymal:	75		
HNSC	566	270	Basal:	87		
IIIII		219	Atypical:	68		
			Classical:	49		
			iCluster1:	65		
LIHC	423	183	iCluster2:	55		
			iCluster3:	63		
LUAD	576	230				
LUSC	552	178				
			Proliferative:	138		
OV	307	489	Mesenchymal:	109		
0 v	507	409	Differentiated:	135		
			Immunoreactive:	107		
BEAD	79	111	CIN:	102		
ILLAD	12	111	GS:	9		

for the Polynomial method. In addition, the RBF SVM was granted a kernel coefficient of 3. The Gaussian Process was granted a RBF kernel and the multi class predictions were achieved through one versus rest scheme. The Random Forest classifier was composed of 100 Decision Trees of maximum depth 4. The MLP classifier was used with a LBFGS optimizer, a ReLU activation, 3000 maximum iterations, a batch size of 200, learning rate was updated thanks to an inverse scaling exponent of power t with t denoting the current step and early stopping method was used as the termination criteria. XGBoosting was used with  $n_{classes}$  regression trees at each boosting stage, a deviance loss, a learning rate of 0.5 and 40 boosting stages, when looking for the best split,  $\sqrt{n_{features}}$  features were considered.

# 4.3 Dataset

In this study, we based our experiments on The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) dataset [Grossman, 2016]. TCGA contains a comprehensive dataset including several data types such as DNA copy number, DNA methylation, mRNA expression, miRNA expression, protein expression, and somatic point mutation. It allowed the development of several different clustering techniques to cluster samples according to cancer types by using one or several omics data [Hoadley, 2018; Ramaswamy, 2001a]. We focused our study on tumor types relevant for radiotherapy and/or immunotherapy. For the gene clustering part, our dataset consists of **4615** samples (Table 4.1 second column). In particular, we investigated the following types of tumors, namely: Urothelial Bladder Carcinoma (BLCA), Breast Invasive Carcinoma (BRCA), Cervical Squamous Cell Carcinoma and Endocervical Adenocarcinoma (CESC), Glioblastoma Multiforme (GBM), Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma (HNSC), Liver Hepatocellular Carcinoma (LIHC), Rectum Adenocarcinoma (READ), Lung adenocarcinoma (LUAD), Lung Squamous Cell Carcinoma (LUSC) and Ovarian Cancer (OV). For each sample, we had the RNA-seq reads of **20 365** genes processed using normalized RNA-seq by Expectation-Maximization (RSEM) [Li, 2011].

Several articles as [Salem, 2017] consider the challenging and important task of generating biomarkers for distinguishing tumor and subtumor types. In this study, we also focus on this task basing our experiments on the cohort presented in [Thorsson, 2018] by selecting samples from the 10 locations used for the gene signature. This cohort consists of 3653 samples (Table 4.1 third and fourth columns). For the tumor subtypes characterisation, we focused on subtypes that had more than  $50 \times n\_subtype$  samples. At the end, 5 different tumor types namely the BRCA, HNSC, LIHC, READ and OV have been used for subtypes classification.

# 4.4 **Results and Discussion**

This study has been designed upon three pivotal complementary aspects. The first one relates to the genes clustering performance to assess the definition of the signature regarding both a mathematical (DI) and a biological (ES) metric (section 4.4.1). The second evaluates the ability of the signature to relevantly separate the different tumor samples in an unbiased manner in particular through sample clustering (section 4.4.3). The third aspect characterizes the tissue specificity of the signature thanks to classification tasks on tumor types and subtypes (section 4.4.4). To better estimate the results obtained, comparisons with referential clustering methods and gene signatures are performed throughout the different evaluations. A global comparison with all references over all metrics is provided in section 4.4.5.

#### 4.4.1 Results on Clustering Gene Data

The obtained clusters were evaluated using both mathematical and biological evaluation criteria. Starting with the biological criteria, Fig. 4.2 presents a comparison of the different ES per algorithm for different threshold (th) values. We observed that for the different clustering methods the threshold does not significantly change the behavior of the ES, indicating a strong statistical significance for the clusters. But, it is not the case for the random signature on which for a number of clusters higher than 30 one can observe an important disparity between the different th of the ES. For the rest of the study, we will use the most stringent threshold, th = 0.005.



Figure 4.2: Evaluation of the clustering performance for different Enrichment Threshold values. LP-Stability (upper left), CorEx (upper right), K-Means (lower left), Random (lower right). The figure presents the percentage of the enriched clusters for the threshold values of 0.005, 0.025, 0.05, 0.075, 0.1 and using Kendall's correlation-based distance. The higher differences in the enrichment thresholds are reported from the Random Clustering when the number of clusters is relatively high. For the rest of the algorithms and especially LP-Stability, the different thresholds only slightly impact the reported results.

To select the best distance per method we used the DI metric. In Fig. 4.3 one can observe the influence of the distance with respect to the number of clusters for the random and LPstability methods. Compared with random clustering one can observe the bias that each distance introduces for the DI score. In particular, with correlation-based distances the reported DI scores are on average 10 times higher. Thus, to tackle this problem of bias, for our comparisons, we will refer to a clustering difference in DI scores with the corresponding random clustering for the same number of clusters and distance. Based on our experiments we also noticed that the different distances greatly affects the performance of the clustering algorithm, with the correlation-based distances (especially the Kendall's correlation) reporting in general higher performances. To ensure the biological meaning of the clusters, we also report the performance of the different distances for ES. Once again the superiority of correlation-based distances both in terms of performance and stability is indicated. Besides, only the Euclidean distance does not reach the maximal value of 100%. This is due to the unbalanced clusters that Euclidean distance favors, leading to very small clusters that are less likely to be enriched. For the rest of the paper we selected Kendall's correlation-based distance when reporting LP-Stability and Random Clustering performances.



Figure 4.3: Evaluation of the clustering performance for different distances. The performance of the different distances are presented for both Random (left) in terms of Dunn's Index and LP-Stability clustering (middle and right) in terms of Dunn's Index and Enrichment Score. Only DI results are presented for Random as ES computation on a same clustering is not influenced by the distance used. Both ES and DI are presented in percentages in terms of the number of clusters. The figure highlights the superiority of the correlation-based distances and in particular the one reported by Kendall's for both mathematical and biological aspects.

In Table 4.2, we summarize the performance of LP-Stability in comparison to other algorithms based on both ES and DI scores together with the reported number of clusters. Additional information about the average Enrichment and the average computational time per algorithm is also provided in the table. The best performance of DI is achieved with the LP-Stability and the Kendall's Correlation-based distance. Moreover, even if almost all the methods, except K-Means, reached an Enrichment Score of 100%, LP-Stability still reports the highest average Enrichment,

Table 4.2: Comparison of the different evaluated algorithms in terms of PPI Enrichment Score (ES) with a threshold of 0.005, Dunn's Index (DI), Average ES and computational time. LP-Stability algorithm outperforms the rest of the algorithms reporting highest DI and Average ES score and the lowest computational time.

Mathad	Best ES		Best DI			Average FS (%)	Average DL (%)	Timo	
Method	ES (%)	DI (%)	Clusters	ES (%)	DI (%)	Clusters	Average LS (70)	Average DI (70)	Time
Random	100	36	2	100	36	2	54	19.8	-
K-Means (Euclidean)	85.7	2.5	7	50	15.6	5	37	1.2	3h
CorEx (Total Correlation)	100	2.4	5	100	2.4	5	71	0.6	>5 days
LP-Stability (Kendall's)	100	40.6	27	100	40.6	27	96	38.5	1.5h

with 96% while CorEx reaches only 71%. Another interesting point from this analysis is the indication of the optimal number of clusters per algorithm. Only LP-Stability reports its best value with more than 25 clusters while the rest of the algorithms have their best performance with less than 7 clusters and even 2 clusters only if we consider DI alone. This might seem to be an argument in favor of the other algorithms as they are able to define a more compact signature. However, such a low number of clusters highlights failure on characterizing a clustering structure as they favor a disposition where genes are grouped altogether. This is also indicated by the low average ES and DI scores.

A thorough comparison of the different algorithms for a different number of clusters is presented in Fig. 4.4. For both DI and ES the superiority of the proposed LP-Stability in comparison to the other algorithms can be observed both in terms of stability for a varying number of clusters and performance. The reported results indicate that the proposed method can generate clusters that are both mathematically and biologically meaningful. Moreover, one can observe that for Random Clustering, the reported enrichment is very high, however dropping dramatically for more than 30 clusters, while the DI is really low for all the cases. This highlights the need to study both the mathematical performance and the stability of the biological score as ES alone would not give significant results.

# 4.4.2 Computational Complexity & Running Times For Gene Clustering

The computation time is an important parameter playing a significant role for the selection of a clustering algorithm. For each algorithm, the approximate average time needed for the clustering is presented in Table 4.2. The different computational times have been computed using Intel(R) Xeon(R) CPU E5-4650 v2 @ 2.40GHz cores. In general, the computational time increases with the cluster number for all the clustering methods. However, for the reported clusters of Table 4.2, LP-Stability remains one of the fastest with a computational time approximately equal to 1.5h. K-Means needs approximately twice this time due to the several iterations (in our case 100) performed in order to account for different initialization conditions. CorEx is by far the most computationally expensive, requiring more than 5 days for the clustering, making this algorithm



Figure 4.4: **Evaluation of the different clustering algorithms.** For the different evaluated algorithms the ES and the DI are presented in terms of number of clusters and using Kendall's correlation-based distance. For both metrics, LP-Stability reports the highest and more stable values. Moreover, the rest of the algorithms tends to report their higher scores for a very small number of clusters (often 2), indicating their failure to discover clustering structures.



Figure 4.5: Gene Signature Assessment for the CorEx algorithm. The graph depicts the distribution of the different tumor types in 10 different clusters using the best signature produced by CorEx algorithm (5 genes). From the graph one can observe that the different tumor types are quite intermixed across the different clusters without any association between them.

not efficient for data with this high dimensionality.

#### 4.4.3 Unsupervised Signature Assessment

#### Signature Selection

The signature was selected using the method detailed in section 4.2.4 on the clustering presenting the highest DI among clusterings having best ES. However, due to the relatively low number of genes for signatures based on K-Means, CorEx or Random Clustering, the sample clusterings with those signatures gave quite irrelevant intermixed tumor types (Fig. 4.5). To deal with this and for comparison reasons, we used for all these algorithms the gene signatures produced with 25 and 30 genes and in the following, when referring to CorEx and K-Means signatures we will refer to those signatures.

Regarding the evaluation of the enriched biological processes for the different signatures, we found that LP-Stability signature (27 genes with Kendall's correlation-based distance) does not present any redundancy in the biological processes, in contrast to the K-Means (30 genes with Euclidean distance) which presents several hundred of enriched biological processes. Moreover, CorEx signature (30 genes with Total Correlation) presents a low biological redundancy with only phototransduction process being enriched.

Our proposed gene signature using LP-Stability is composed by 27 genes. Their detailed description with main functions and a brief summary of the analysis obtained using GTEx Portal on July 2020 (www.gtexportal.org) is given in Annexes.

Globally these genes are related to cell development and cell cycle (CD53, NCAPH, GNA15, GADD45GIP1, CD302, NCAPH, YEATS2), DNA transcription (HSFX1, CCDC30, MATR3, ASH1L, ANKRD30A, GSX1), gene expression (ZNF767, C1orf159, RPS8, ZEB2), DNA repair (RIF1), antigen recognition (ZNF767), apoptosis (C3P1, CLIP3), mRNA splicing (SNRPG). We also have many genes specific to cancer or having a major impact on cancer (CD53, ANKRD30A, ZEB2, ADNP, SFTA3, ACBD4). All these processes are highly important and significant for cancer. We also report for each gene the main tissues they are overexpressed using GTEx portal, even if we have many genes related to specific tissue types such as brain, blood lymphocytes, liver or gynecologic tissues, the overall profiles of each gene are unique.

#### Sample Clustering: Discovery Power

The predictive powers of the best signature per algorithm together with the random signatures, and the signature presented in [Thorsson, 2018], were further assessed by measuring their ability to separate 10 different tumor types (Table 4.1) in a completely unsupervised manner, through sample clustering. In Fig. 4.7, the results for the LP-Stability (with 27 clusters, ES 100% and DI 40.6% using Kendall's correlation-based distance) signature, K-Means (with 30 genes, ES of 30% and a DI of 0.52% using Euclidean distance), CorEx (with 25 genes, ES 72% and DI 0.06% using Total Correlation), Random Clustering signature (with 27 genes, ES 86.6% and DI of 13.8% using Kendall's correlation-based distance) and the signature from [Thorsson, 2018] are presented. One can observe that CorEx and Random signatures fail to properly separate the tumor types and for this reason for the rest of the section we present a detailed comparison of the K-Means and LP-Stability signatures only.

In Table 4.3, we present a more detailed comparison of the distribution of the tumor types for these LP-Stability and K-Means signatures. Both signatures generate clusters that successfully



Figure 4.6: Gene Assessment performed with LP-Stability clustering and Kendall's correlation-based distance. The plot presents the distribution of tumors using the signature produced by LP-Stability and Kendall's correlation-based distance (right) in comparison to the Spearman's one (left). This assessment is performed in order to compare the influence of the distance in the clustering. We can observe that there are some similar clusters between the two distances such as the well defined clusters of GBM and LIHC together with LUAD/LUSC cluster (Cluster 5), a squamous cluster (Cluster 7) and some well defined BRCA clusters (Clusters 1 and 8). Thus, regarding sample clustering, it appears that the good characterization of monotonic relations offered by Spearman's Rank correlation-based distance is better suited than the more general characterization of the Kendall's one.

associate lung tumors such as LUSC and LUAD (clusters 3 & 4 respectively), squamous tumors mainly composed of BLCA, CESC, LUSC and HNSC types (clusters 0 & 8 and 1 & 8 respectively) and smoking related tumors mainly containing CESC, HNSC, READ, LUSC and LUAD (clusters 7 & 8 respectively). Concerning BRCA, K-Means clusters it into two different groups, one that consists mainly with BRCA samples, while the second one consists of a minority of BRCA samples grouped together with the GBM which types are not really related. Moreover, both algorithms provided a good, almost perfect separation of the LIHC and GBM samples into well defined clusters. This separation indicates that these specific tumor types are very different from the rest or even that at least one gene included in the produced signatures is differently expressed compared to the rest of the samples. On the other hand, LP-Stability clusters BRCA in several small unblended clusters that express the various molecular types of BRCA, and groups the remaining BRCA with the OV type which is directly related (cluster 3).

These results are very promising as they are in accordance with other recent omic studies. In particular in [Hart2019] the authors used a large set of different omics data to define a clustering reporting pan-squamous clusters (LUSC, HNSC, CESC, BLCA), but also pan-gynecology clusters (BRCA, OV) and pan-lung clusters (LUAD, LUSC). The authors highlighted the separation of BRCA into several clusters linked to basal, luminal, Chr 8q amp or HER2-amp subtypes. However, they obtained only one third of mostly homogeneous clusters, and even reported clusters mixing up to 75% of the total number of tumors types they considered.

Table 4.3: Discovery Power: A complete comparison for the distribution of the tumor types (above 10%) from the best performing algorithms. LP-Stability with 27 genes using Kendall's correlation-based distance and K-Means with 30 genes using Euclidean distance. The last column indicates the algorithm that provided the best distribution for the specific tumor type. It highlights the superiority of the LP-Stability signature.

Tumor Types	LP-Stability (27 genes)	<b>K-Means</b> (30 genes)	Best
BLCA	$\begin{array}{l} 57\% \ \mathrm{BLCA} \Rightarrow 33\% \ \mathrm{cluster} \ 8 \\ 26\% \ \mathrm{BLCA} \Rightarrow 10\% \ \mathrm{cluster} \ 0 \\ < 10\% \ \mathrm{BLCA} \Rightarrow \mathrm{clusters} \ 1, \ 3, \ 7 \end{array}$	$54\% \text{ BLCA} \Rightarrow 59\% \text{ cluster 7}$ $18\% \text{ BLCA} \Rightarrow 22\% \text{ cluster 1}$ $14\% \text{ BLCA} \Rightarrow 7\% \text{ cluster 8}$ $< 10\% \text{ BLCA} \Rightarrow \text{ cluster 2, 4, 9}$	~
BRCA	$\begin{array}{c} 26\% \; \mathrm{BRCA} \Rightarrow 75\% \; \mathrm{cluster} \; 1 \\ 20\% \; \mathrm{BRCA} \Rightarrow 100\% \; \mathrm{cluster} \; 2 \\ 19\% \; \mathrm{BRCA} \Rightarrow 100\% \; \mathrm{cluster} \; 6 \\ 18\% \; \mathrm{BRCA} \Rightarrow 100\% \; \mathrm{cluster} \; 9 \\ 10\% \; \mathrm{BRCA} \Rightarrow 20\% \; \mathrm{cluster} \; 3 \\ \mathbf{Homogeneous} \; \mathbf{Clusters} \; \mathbf{or} \; \mathbf{with} \; \mathbf{related} \; \mathbf{types} \end{array}$	55% BRCA $\Rightarrow$ 98% cluster 0 27% BRCA $\Rightarrow$ 20% cluster 4 < 10% BRCA $\Rightarrow$ clusters 1, 2, 7 Clusters unrelated to GBM type	LP-Stability
CESC	$58\% \text{ CESC} \Rightarrow 15\% \text{ cluster } 0$ $38\% \text{ CESC} \Rightarrow 16\% \text{ cluster } 8$ Squamous related clusters	$\begin{array}{c} 54\% \ {\rm CESC} \Rightarrow 15\% \ {\rm cluster} \ 8\\ 25\% \ {\rm CESC} \Rightarrow 16\% \ {\rm cluster} \ 1\\ 16\% \ {\rm CESC} \Rightarrow 16\% \ {\rm cluster} \ 7\\ {\rm Squamous} \ {\rm mixed} \ {\rm with} \ {\rm non} \ {\rm squamous} \end{array}$	LP-Stability
GBM	100% GBM $\Rightarrow$ 79% cluster 7	$98\%$ GBM $\Rightarrow 57\%$ cluster 2 Mixed with unrelated BRCA types	LP-Stability
HNSC	$89\%$ HNSC $\Rightarrow 43\%$ cluster 0 10% HNSC $\Rightarrow 7\%$ cluster 8 Squamous related clusters	$86\%$ HNSC $\Rightarrow 62\%$ cluster 8 11% HNSC $\Rightarrow 18\%$ cluster 1 Squamous related clusters	~
LIHC	$90\%$ LIHC $\Rightarrow 100\%$ cluster 5	$98\%$ LIHC $\Rightarrow$ 98% cluster 5	~
READ	$82\% \text{ READ} \Rightarrow 9\% \text{ cluster } 8$ Smoking related	$55\% \text{ READ} \Rightarrow 10\% \text{ cluster } 7$ $32\% \text{ READ} \Rightarrow 5\% \text{ cluster } 4$ $\mathbf{Smoking \ related}$	~
LUAD	$80\% \text{ LUAD} \Rightarrow 85\% \text{ cluster } 4$ <b>Lung cluster</b>	$93\%$ LUAD $\Rightarrow 83\%$ cluster 3 Lung cluster	~
LUSC	$54\%$ LUSC $\Rightarrow 25\%$ cluster 0 23% LUSC $\Rightarrow 18\%$ cluster 8 15% LUSC $\Rightarrow 15\%$ cluster 4 Squamous and lung clusters	$53\%$ LUSC $\Rightarrow 97\%$ cluster 6 20% LUSC $\Rightarrow 17\%$ cluster 3 11% LUSC $\Rightarrow 21\%$ cluster 1 Squamous and lung clusters	K-Means
OV	92% OV $\Rightarrow$ 60% cluster 3 < 5% OV $\Rightarrow$ clusters 1, 8 Cluster with related BRCA	$\begin{array}{l} 71\% \ \mathrm{OV} \Rightarrow 86\% \ \mathrm{cluster} \ 9 \\ 15\% \ \mathrm{OV} \Rightarrow 10\% \ \mathrm{cluster} \ 4 \\ 10\% \ \mathrm{OV} \Rightarrow 7\% \ \mathrm{cluster} \ 7 \\ < 10\% \ \mathrm{OV} \Rightarrow \mathrm{clusters} \ 0.2 \\ \mathbf{Mixed \ clusters} \end{array}$	LP-Stability

Another interesting point is that the distance used greatly affects the distribution of the different tumor types for the clustering. This proves the importance of the distance selection in combination with the selected algorithm. Based on our experiments, we noticed that Spearman's and Kendall's correlations provide the best sample clustering for all the algorithms. In particular, Spearman's correlation tends to better separate the different tumors into different clusters, while the Kendall's seems to generate clusters that groups tumor-related samples. In Fig. 4.8, we present the influence of the two different distance metrics.

To compare our results with other methods in the literature, we assessed our gene signature against a knowledge-based signature of 78 genes that has been proven to be appropriate for determining immune related sample clusters [Thorsson, 2018]. The obtained tumor distribution is presented in Fig. 4.7, reporting quite intermixed associations. Again, LIHC and BRCA are separated properly while the rest of the tumors are clustered in unrelated groups. This com-



Figure 4.7: Gene Signature Assessment via tumor distribution analysis across 10 sample clusters generated in the different signatures feature space. The graph presents the distribution of the different tumors for Random Clustering signature (27 genes), CorEx, K-Means, a referential gene signature [Thorsson, 2018] and LP-Stability. The distribution of tumors for Random and CorEx algorithms is quite intermixed without a lot of associations between the tumor types while K-Means, referential and LP-Stability signatures seem to favor some good tumor associations.

parison indicates the need for compact signatures, highlighting at the same time the difficulty of capturing the full genome information as well as the need for an automatically computed signature to avoid redundancy and information loss.

#### Gene Screening Analysis

Screening analysis aims to identify the significant genes for each cluster which are then used to determine the enriched biological processes per cluster. To determine those significant genes, we used the SAM method to look for genes that are expressed differently for the samples of one tumor type in a cluster compared to the other samples of the same tumor type (see section 4.2.4 for more details). We will refer to those genes as differentially expressed genes in the remainder of the article. Besides, the SAM method scores allows to determine significant genes, in the following, we will refer in particular to the most significant genes for a cluster or a tumor type in a cluster for the genes reaching the highest SAM scores. This method, allows to check if the tumor types of a given cluster share genes related to similar biological processes, highlighting the biological relevance of the cluster. Meanwhile, this method enables us to verify the relevance of the distribution of the same tumor types into different clusters by checking the absence of similar biological processes. In particular, a summary of the analysis for our proposed signature's sample



Figure 4.8: Gene Assessment performed with LP-Stability clustering and Kendall's correlation-based distance. The plot presents the distribution of tumors using the signature produced by LP-Stability and Kendall's correlation-based distance (right) in comparison to the Spearman's one (left). This assessment is performed in order to compare the influence of the distance in the clustering. We can observe that there are some similar clusters between the two distances such as the well defined clusters of GBM and LIHC together with LUAD/LUSC cluster (Cluster 5), a squamous cluster (Cluster 7) and some well defined BRCA clusters (Clusters 1 and 8). Thus, regarding sample clustering, it appears that the good characterization of monotonic relations offered by Spearman's Rank correlation-based distance is better suited than the more general characterization of the Kendall's one.

clustering is presented in Table 4.4. In this section, we provide a detailed analysis per tumor type for each cluster for both K-Means and LP-Stability selected signatures.

Starting with the gene screening of LP-Stability, cluster 0 is one of the most intermixed clusters. This cluster contains significant genes for different tumor types that are associated with immune, defense response and other inflammatory processes with strong enrichment. Among the most significant genes we can report IL4R for HNSC, this Interleukin is a treatment target for multiple cancers, GNA15 for LUSC which has been highlighted in lung cancer treatment or for CESC. KRT5, has been identified as a potential biomarker to distinguish adenocarcinomas to squamous cell carcinomas [Xiao, 2017]. Continuing our analysis with cluster 1 which includes mainly BRCA samples, its most significant gene is FPR3. This gene seems to be related to immune inflammation and multiple cancers including breast [Li, 2017]. For cluster 2 which is mainly composed of BRCA samples, we identified that it is a basal BRCA cluster. Indeed, its most significant gene TTC28 is related to breast cancer and especially basal BRCA [Hamdi, 2016]. Besides, the cluster is enriched for basal plasma membrane. Cluster 3 is also a mixed cluster mostly composed of BRCA and OV cancers. It seems to be related to mitochondrial complexes and organization. Its most significant gene is the NDUFB10 which is related to breast cancer patients [Zhang, 2015], OV cancer [Permuth-Wey, 2011] and also correlated to a decreased viability in esophageal squamous lineage as LIHC. Cluster 4 is a lung related cluster, composed of LUAD/LUSC samples. LUAD samples are related to immune response and LUSC samples to surfactant homeostasis which is linked to many lung diseases. The most significant gene for LUAD is SFTA3, a lung

Table 4.4: Analysis of the biological pathways and most significant genes per cluster for the
sample clustering performed using our proposed signature of 27 genes via LP-Stability algorithm
and Kendall's correlation-based distance. The table highlights the separation between inflamed
and non-inflamed tumors and the identification of well-known cancer subtypes such as BRCA.

Clustona	Significant	Tumor	Validated Role of the Gene	Biological Pathways	Key Feature
Clusters	Genes	Type	in Tumor Type		of the cluster
	IL4R	HNSC	Treatment target	Immune and defense response	An inflormed collid
Cluster 0	GNA15	LUSC	Lung cancers treatment	Regulation of cell proliferation	An innamed sond
Cluster 0			Biomarker distinguishing adeno-	Interferon-gamma	tumors cluster
	KRT5	CESC	carcinomas from squamous	mediated	tuniors cluster
			cell carcinomas [Xiao, 2017]	process	
Cluster 1	FDD3	BRCA	Immune inflammation	Immune response	An inflamed BRCA
Cluster 1	1110	DICA	related [Li, 2017]	related pathways	tumors cluster
Cluster 2	TTC28	BRCA	Related to basal breast cancer	Basal plasma mombrano	A basal BRCA
Cluster 2	11020	DICA	risk [Hamdi, 2016]	Dasai plasma memorane	tumors cluster
			Related to breast [Zhang, 2015]	Mitochondrial complexes	A gynecologic tumors
	NDUFB10	BRCA	and ovarian [Permuth-Wey, 2011]	wittoenondriar complexes	A gynecologie tumois
Cluster 3	ND01 D10	DICON	cancers, poor prognosis for	and cells organization	
Cluster 6			esophageal lineage and LIHC	related processes	cluster linked to LIHC
	SLC39A6	OV	Poor prognosis for	related processes	
	51005110		esophageal lineage and LIHC		
	SFTA3	LUAD	Related to LUAD and LUSC	Pathways of immune	
Cluster 4	51 1110	LOILD	[Schicht, 2014; Xiao, 2017]	response	An inflamed lung tumors cluster
	NAPSA	LUSC	Related to LUAD	Surfactant homeostasis	
Cluster 5		LIHC			A pure complete LIHC
Crubter o					tumor cluster
Cluster 6	FOXA1	BRCA	Related to Breast	Metabolic processes	A luminal BRCA
Crubter o	10	Bitton	Luminal cancer [Cappelletti, 2017]	inclusione processes	tumors cluster
		GBM	Complete GBM cluster	Response to stimulus,	
Cluster 7	ANGPTL5	BRCA	Angiopoietin-like protein family	cardiovascularity	A GBM tumors cluster
Crubter 1	FERMT2	BLCA	Related to various cancer	curato (aboutario),	with other tumors, all enriched
			including breast ones	blood vessels related	in cardiovascularity pathways
	UQCRH	BRCA	Mitochondrial Hinge protein	Metabolic processes	Mis-splicing related
Cluster 8			related [Modena, 2003]		
	AP1M2	BLCA	Tyrosine-based signals	general compound processes	tumors
Cluster 9	CIRBP	BRCA	Driver of many cancers	Related to alternative splicing	Alternative splicing
				processes and organelles	related to BRCA

protein [Schicht, 2014] and a biomarker distinguishing LUAD and LUSC [Xiao, 2017], whereas the most significant gene for LUSC samples is NAPSA that has been proven to be of relevance for LUAD tumors. Cluster 5 mostly consists of LIHC samples, grouping all the LIHC samples in this cluster. Similarly cluster 7 consists of all GBM tumors. Thus, the screening process is not applicable for them as it compares samples from the same tumor type over different clusters. Cluster 6 is a luminal breast cancer cluster, related to metabolic processes which have already been studied in a breast cancer context [Schramm, 2010]. The most significant gene seems to be the FOXA1, a gene related to Estrogen-Receptor Positive Breast Cancer and Luminal Breast Carcinoma [Cappelletti, 2017]. Cluster 7 is GBM tumors cluster. It is interesting to notice that next two dominant tumor types in the cluster, BRCA and BLCA, are related to cardiovascularity and blood vessels, their respective most significant genes are ANGPTL5 and FERMT2. The latter having been highlighted in GBM proliferation [Alshabi, 2019]. Cluster 8 has no biological process linked to immune response, but presents a strong association to metabolic and structural processes. This group of processes has been found significant for BRCA [Read, 2018]. The most significant genes for this cluster are the AP1M2 for BLCA samples which interacts in tyrosinebased signals and has been considered in epithelial cells studies, the UQCRH for BRCA a gene encoding mitochondrial Hinge protein that is important in soft tissue sarcomas and in particular in two cell lines of breast cancer and one of ovarian cancer [Modena, 2003]. Finally, cluster 9 is a cluster with BRCA tumors, it has CIRP as its most significant gene, which is considered to be an oncogene in several cancers and in particular for BRCA. Cluster 9 presents alternative splicing and coiled coil processes.

This analysis highlights that each cluster is enriched in similar biological processes while the processes from different clusters are different. Moreover, it reveals that even if clusters 0 and 8 contain different tumor types, they present a homogeneity in their biological processes. Cluster 0 is especially interesting as it contains inflamed tumor samples and cluster 8 non-inflamed samples. These two clusters contain all the CESC samples, proving once more the relevance of the LP-Stability signature as they automatically and without any prior knowledge separate inflammatory and non-inflammatory CESC samples. This specific problem is an active field of research [Heeren, 2016]. Clusters 0 and 8 provide an even more valuable insight when studying the genes IFNG, STAT1, CCR5, CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11, IDO1, PRF1, GZMA, MHCII and HLA-DRA highlighted in [Ayers, 2017] for their major role in immunotherapy. Indeed, for each tumor type in cluster 0 all or most of these genes are differentially expressed which is not the case for cluster 8, so proving the specificity and clinical relevance of the separation of these clusters.

On a second level, we analyzed the distribution of the BRCA cancer samples on different clusters, examining its clinical relevance. We chose to highlight BRCA in this comparison, as it is the most represented tumor type and it presents a variety of subtypes. BRCA samples are distributed into clusters 1, 2, 3, 6, 8 and 9 using the LP-Stability signature, featuring the main molecular subtypes of BRCA. In particular, cluster 1 contains immune inflammatory samples, cluster 2 basal samples and cluster 6 the luminal Estrogen-Receptor Positive samples. Additionally cluster 3 is a gynecologic cluster with BRCA samples presenting relations to OV samples. Cluster 8 features mis-plicing related tumors which are strongly related to BRCA samples [Koedoot, 2019]. Cluster 9 is marked by alternative splicing whose implications in cancers are well known and studied [Singh, 2017]. It is also interesting to report that hallmarks genes BRCA1 and BRCA2 are positively and differentially expressed in luminal BRCA cluster 6 which attests of an over-expression of these genes for cluster 6. This observation is consistent with [Mahmoud, 2017], where BRCA1 and BRCA2 were more expressed in luminal BRCA samples as they are markers for good prognosis. Besides, these genes present an under-expression in cluster 3 which is coherent as this mixed cluster groups BRCA and OV samples that are known to present a bad prognosis.

For comparison, we performed the same analysis with the sample clustering produced by the K-Means algorithm with the 30 genes. In this case, cluster 0 which is a well defined cluster containing mainly BRCA samples, presents enrichment in diverse biological processes as regulation of transcription by RNA polymerase II, regulation of nucleobase-containing compound

metabolic process or regulation of gene expression. The most significant gene C10orf32 has not been identified as a gene related to cancer. However, it is more related to the lysosomes movement process. Cluster 1 seems to be very intermixed with different biological processes being enriched. For the BRCA samples different skin related pathways especially keratin are enriched, which are important for several types of cancers. The most significant gene for BRCA samples PKP1 is related to molecular recruitment. However, different processes for other tumor types are also enriched. In particular, for the LUSC samples do not present any significant gene with high enough score. The one with the highest score is ANKRD13B which is related to membrane binding processes. HNSC samples are enriched in general RNA metabolic processes and DNA-binding. Their most significant gene, CADPS2, is involved in calcium binding especially important in autism. BLCA samples have no genes with scores above the considered threshold. The most significant gene is FOXC1 which is involved in DNA-binding and has been shown of utmost interest in several type of cancers. CESC type do not have any significant gene with TRIM8 being the one with the highest score. This gene seems to be related to Interferon gamma signaling and Innate Immune System. Its regulation has been shown to be altered in some cancers. After this analysis, it appears that this cluster contains rather heterogeneous samples without common biological processes even if several are linked to cancer. Besides, the biological relevance of the cluster is not very clear as we can observe very few significant genes per tumor type. Cluster 2 groups GBM and BRCA samples. It presents for the BRCA ones an enrichment in voltage-gated calcium channel activity only. This biological pathway has been identified as a new target for BRCA in [Koltai, 2014]. The most enriched gene is CACNB2 which is an antigene involved in voltage-gated calcium channel. A study for the GBM samples cannot be performed as all the GBM samples are in this cluster. Regarding cluster 3, LUSC samples present enrichment in cilium activity and surfactant homeostasis. Their most significant gene ARRB1 programs a desensitization to stimuli. It seems to be of interest for the chemosensitivity of lung cancer. For the LUAD samples in this cluster, the only significant gene NKX2-1 is a thyroid-specific gene also involved in morphogenesis. It has been found to be a prognostic marker in early stage nonsmall lung cancers. Cluster 4 consists mainly of BRCA samples which are enriched in processes of immune response. However, the most significant gene ACTR3 code for a complex essential for cell shape and motility which is not related to immune response. Cluster 4 seems quite heterogeneous concerning the processes and the significant genes. In particular, the HNSC samples are related to extra-cellular organization. Their most significant gene KLF17 is related to DNA-binding transcription that is involved in epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in breast cancer. READ samples do not have significant genes, the one with the highest score is the GRM2 which is particularly involved in neurotransmission and central nervous diseases. For the OV samples the only significant gene is the SPHK1 which regulates cell proliferation and cell survival. It has been linked to ovarian cancer in [Hart, 2019]. LUAD samples present few significant genes which do not enrich any biological process. The most significant gene, UCA1, plays a role in cell proliferation and has been proven to be of interest in bladder cancer. Clus-

ter 5 groups the entire LIHC tumor type. Thus, a gene screening analysis is so not possible. For the cluster 6, LUSC samples have very few significant genes. The enriched processes that are associated with are related to tissue development, Estrogen signaling and mammary gland morphogenesis. Its most significant gene is FRRS1 which is related to ferric-chelate reductase activity. Thus, this homogeneous cluster does not seem to contain a biological meaningful subset of LUSC samples. Cluster 7 groups BLCA, BRCA, CESC, LUSC and READ samples. OV samples present very few significant genes without enriched biological processes. BLCA samples present significant genes related to transcription and the most significant gene, C17orf28, is related to several cancers. BRCA samples have very few significant genes and are weakly enriched in mitosis processes as there are only two enriched processes. The most significant gene FSD1 is related to coiled-coil region. CESC samples are enriched in cilium organization, cell projection assembly and the most significant gene is EPCAM which is related to gastrointestinal carcinoma and is a target of immunotherapy. So, it does not present links with CESC or other carcinomas of the cluster. It seems that these CESC samples would have been more suitable for cluster 3 since LUSC samples of this cluster are strongly enriched in the same pathways. Finally, READ samples do not present significant enough genes. However, the most significant one is EFNB2 which is involved in several development processes and in particular in the nervous system and in erythropoiesis. This gene has also been found of interest in tumor growth. For cluster 8, LUSC samples have numerous significant genes enriched in epidermis related processes and skin development pathways and in particular the most significant gene KRT14 is related to these processes. This might be related to a subset of non-small cell lung cancers characterized by Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations. Similarly, HNSC samples of cluster 8 are also linked to keratin, epidermis and skin development processes which also characterize a subtype of HNSC. The most significant gene lad1 is related to structural molecule activity and codes for a protein involved in the basement membrane zone. We found the same pathways for CESC samples whose most significant gene is KRT5 and BLCA samples with KRT6A. Cluster 9 mainly contains OV samples which do not present gene significant enough. However, their most significant gene CLU has been identified as a potential cancer target in [Phan, 2017].

After the analysis, we observed that the K-Means signature seems to be very specific for the BRCA tumors while reporting weaker relevance in the separation of other samples. Indeed, we can observe that the separation of BRCA samples is rather meaningful as in each cluster BRCA samples present rather relevant differentially expressed genes and enriched biological processes. However, the clusters are lacking homogeneity as the different tumor types of the clusters present unrelated differentially expressed genes and enriched biological processes. Besides, K-Means signature fails to properly characterize other tumor types. This issue might be explained by the over-representation of BRCA samples in our data set.

Additionally, in order to indicate the significance of the distance used we considered different distances to perform the sample clustering. Our experiments confirmed that the distance that
Table 4.5: **Expression Power** of the sample clustering using as features respectively our proposed signature, a referential signature from literature [Thorsson, 2018] and average performance using 10 sets of randomly-selected genes of same size as the proposed signature. We observe that the two best performing signatures are the ones produced with our pipeline. The first using K-Means clustering the second, our proposed signature, using LP-Stability.

Signature	ARI (%)	NMI (%)	Homogeneity (%)	Completeness (%)	FMS (%)	Expression Power (%)
Random	29+/-5	37 + / -4	37+/-4	37+/-4	39+/-4	36
CorEx	12	20	21	20	23	19
K-Means	52	63	65	62	58	60
Referential [Thorsson, 2018]	34 41		42	40	42	40
Proposed	33	52	52	53	43	46

gave the best biologically relevant clusters was Spearman's correlation-based distance. Moreover, after the screening analysis we observed that the differentially expressed genes are not necessarily the genes selected in the signatures. This observation indicates that the strength of our approach is to combine genes that might not be the most informative taken individually but whose combination allows a good compact representation of the information brought by the whole genome for cancer tumors. It is also worth mentioning that LP-Stability signature correctly separates immune inflammatory samples from the others for all tumor types.

#### Expression Power

The expression power of our signature was further evaluated using the ARI, NMI, homogeneity, completeness and FMS metrics and compared with the rest of the signatures. We called the average of those scores the Expression Power of the signature and report it in Fig.4.9. Detailed results for each score are provided in Table 4.5. For Random Clustering, we calculated the metrics on the average results of sample clustering designed from 10 random signatures. Overall the performances of K-Means and LP-Stability are the best with the first outperforming the second. Good performance of K-Means could be due to the good separation of BRCA clusters, the dominant tumor type in our dataset.

#### 4.4.4 Tumor Types/Subtypes Classification Tasks

The predictive power of our proposed signature has been assessed in a supervised setting by classifying the samples according to their tumor and sub-tumor types. This experiment aims to evaluate the tissue-specific information captured by each signature. In Table 4.6, we report the performance on training and test for each signature using the same classification strategy. Our experiments highlight that even random signatures with the relatively small number of 27 genes reports good performance with a balanced accuracy of 84%. This proves that even a low number of genes are informative enough to perform a good separation of tumor types. However, our proposed signature reports the highest balanced accuracy reaching 92% outperforming the

Table 4.6: **Tumor Types Classification** performance using the average performance of 10 sets of randomly-selected genes of same size as the proposed signature, CorEx, K-Means, the referential [Thorsson, 2018] and our proposed signatures.

Signature	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted	Sensitivity (%)	Weighted Specificity (%)		
	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	
Random	96 + / -5	84+/-2	95 + / -5	87+/-3	94 + / -7	86 + / -4	99+/-1	97 + / -1	
CorEx	100	85	100	90	100	91	100	98	
K-Means	100	90	100	94	100	94	100	98	
Referential	100	85	100	89	100	89	100	98	
[1 norsson, 2018]				0.4	0.0	0.0	100		
Proposed	99	92	99	94	98	93	100	99	

Table 4.7: **Tumor Subtypes Classification** performance using the average performance using 10 sets of randomly-selected genes of same size as the proposed signature, CorEx, K-Means, the referential [Thorsson, 2018] and our proposed signature. Only the 5 types of tumors with more than  $50 \times n\_subtypes$  samples were studied

Signature	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted S	Sensitivity (%)	Weighted Specificity (%)		
	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	
Random	81+/-11	57 + / -9	85+/-8	66 + / -10	82+/-9	62 + / -7	87+/-12	74 + / -23	
CorEx	82+/-19	59+/-14	83 + / -18	70 + / -11	81+/-20	65 + / -8	94+/-6	71 + / -36	
K-Means	85+/-12	53 + / -24	89 + / -10	67 + / -15	79 + / -20	56 + / -19	96+/-3	69 + / -38	
Referential [Thorsson, 2018]	90+/-11	59+/-7	91+/-9	68+/-10	90+/-9	67+/-12	97+/-4	70+/-35	
Proposed	85 + / -11	68 + / -9	90+/-6	73 + / -13	82 + / -16	63 + / -9	93+/-6	89+/-6	

referential signature [Thorsson, 2018] which reached a balanced accuracy of 85%.

Regarding tumor subtypes classification, results averaged over all considered tumor types are provided in Table 4.7. Our proposed method presents the highest performance with a balanced accuracy of 68%, outperforming the other algorithms by at least 9%. This task is quite challenging as we are using the same compact signature to characterize all the different tumor types at a fine molecular level. Considering the complexity of the task and the important number of different classes, results obtained with the proposed signature are very promising. Indeed, it is surpassing the random signatures average balanced accuracy by 11% and the referential signature, devised on this specific dataset, by 9%.

#### 4.4.5 Global Comparison

In order to better summarize the different results and provide a fair comparison with random, the state of the art and the referential signatures a spider chart is presented in Fig. 4.9. The comparison focuses in 3 different criteria: (i) criteria based on the gene clustering performance in blue, (ii) criteria based on the informativeness of the signature for unsupervised clustering tasks in green and (iii) criteria based on the relevance of the signature for supervised classification tasks in gold. Discovery Power is the proportion of tumor types that are relevantly grouped in sample clustering according to related tumor types, the criteria of evaluation are presented in



Figure 4.9: **Comparison of the different signatures.** Blue: criteria based on the gene clustering performance, Green: criteria based on the informativeness of the signature for unsupervised clustering tasks and Gold: criteria based on the relevance of the signature for supervised classification tasks.

section 4.2.4. Expression Power corresponds to the average of the following clustering scores: ARI, NMI, homogeneity, completeness and FMS the results are provided in Table 4.5. Predictive Power: Types is the balanced accuracy on test of the tumor types classification task results are provided in Table 4.6. Predictive Power: Subtypes is the average over all tumor types of the balanced accuracy on test for tumor subtypes classification the results are provided in Table 4.7. Biological Relevance is the average ES of the gene clustering method results provided in Table 4.2. Mathematical Relevance is the average DI score of the gene clustering method results provided in Table 4.2. Decreasing Time Complexity is the average time taken for the gene clustering, the bigger the area in the chart the faster, results are provided in Table 4.2. Our proposed signature is shown to be largely superior by at least 10% to random and referential signatures in all criteria except compactness. It is also superior to the other signatures designed using our pipeline with other prominent clustering methods. One interesting exception is the Tumor-Specific Expression Power of K-Means-derived signature. The signature defined with K-Means differentiates the types of tumor well as also proved by the Predictive Power: Types but does not perform well on identifying the subtypes (Predictive Power: Subtypes). This is also due to the lower Discovery Power of K-Means compared to our proposed signature.

### 4.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, we present a framework for gene clustering definition and comparison, for gene signature selection and evaluation in terms of redundancy, compactness and expression power. In particular, we present a mathematical and biological evaluation of gene clustering, an extensive sample clustering evaluation using quantitative and field specific clinical, biological metrics, and a supervised approach for its association with tumor types and subtypes characterization. In this framework we have shown the interest of using LP-Stability algorithm, a powerful center-based clustering algorithm, for gene clustering. The algorithm surpasses other commonly used methods in terms of computational time, quantitative and qualitative metrics. Notwithstading, the modularity of this framework enables to modify the clustering algorithms, distance metrics and assessment scores considered according to the valued properties and problem at hand.

Our experiments prove the importance of stability to define meaningful clusters and the superiority of correlation-based distances. Moreover, the obtained clusters formulate a gene signature which has been evaluated for ten different tumor locations, proving causality and strong associations with tumor phenotypes. These results compete with those reported in the literature by using a large set of different omics data. In addition, our compact signature has been compared and proved to be more expressive than a prominent knowledge-based gene signature [Thorsson, 2018]. An extensive biological analysis evidenced that the designed signature, leads to sample clusters with high relevance and correlation to cancer-related processes and immune response reporting promising results in tumor types and subtypes classification with 92% balanced accuracy in the former and 68% balanced accuracy in the latter. In the future, we aim to extend the proposed method towards discovering stronger gene dependencies through higher-order relations between gene expression data, as well as further evaluation of this biomarker for therapeutic treatment selection in the context of cancer.

## Chapter 5

# GHOST: Graph Higher-Order Similarity Topologies Learning for Classification

#### Contents

5.1	Intro	oduction
5.2	Rela	ted Work
5.3	$\mathbf{Metl}$	nodology
	5.3.1	Center-Based Clustering
	5.3.2	Metric Learning Formulation
	5.3.3	Max-Margin Energy 102
	5.3.4	Optimizing over $\{x^k\}$
	5.3.5	Dual Decomposition
	5.3.6	Slave Problems Optimization
	5.3.7	Generalization to Higher-Order Distances
	5.3.8	Extension to Cluster Metrics
	5.3.9	Extracting and Leveraging Structural Information from Data $\ .\ .\ .\ .\ 110$
	5.3.10	Leveraging a Task Dedicated Distance for Classification $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ . \ 111$
5.4	Impl	ementation Details $\ldots \ldots 112$
5.5	$\mathbf{Resu}$	lts and Discussion
	5.5.1	Synthesized Dataset
	5.5.2	Covid-19 Dataset
5.6	Cond	clusion

Exploring and identifying a good feature representation to describe large-scale datasets is one of the main problems of machine learning algorithms. However, plenty of feature selection techniques and distance metrics with very different properties exist, which entails an intricacy of identifying the proper method. This paper provides a general algorithm to design a high-order distance metric over a sparse selection of features dedicated to semi-supervised clustering and classification. We extend usual learning methods to design a metric accounting for properties over sets of objects. Our approach is based on Conditional Random Field energy minimization

#### Chapter 5. GHOST: Graph Higher-Order Similarity Topologies Learning for 96

and Dual Decomposition, which allow efficiency and great flexibility in the features to consider. In particular, it enables to leverage the higher-order graph structures information efficiently. The optimization technique employed ensures the tractability of very high dimensionality problems using hundreds of features and samples. On several essentially different datasets from various fields, we compare the classification results between state-of-the-art baselines and our proposed classifier, relying on the distance learned to prove this metric formulation's relevance.

## 5.1 Introduction

In machine learning, the choice of a suitable feature space is of prime importance. Not only, dimensionality curse might affect the data, but some variables might be noisy or non-relevant. Many techniques have been investigated to select the most relevant features using some statistical metrics as correlation [Yu, 2003] or the importance weights an algorithm as elastic-net grants to the variables [Sun, 2018]. Despite the tremendous amount of work carried on this topic, another aspect has been poorly considered. Many approaches as clustering algorithms require a relevant metric to define a similarity notion between the samples. However, depending on the algorithm's mathematical properties and the metric, very different results are obtained [Battistella, 2021d]. To tackle the difficult task of designing a dedicated similarity function, some studies investigated semi-supervised clustering or distance learning [Xing, 2002; Xiang, 2008; Komodakis, 2011]. Such approaches bring the significant advantage to perform both a selection of the most relevant dimensions and a warping of the feature space favoring the spatial proximity of samples presenting the same labels.

Graph structures are a standard model for data representation and allow great expressiveness. However, the information they carry is complex to leverage from both a time and a memory point of view. Most of the studies exploiting these structures are limited to second-order properties [Schaeffer, 2007] i.e., the edges in the graph. Some studies propose various ways to better estimate higher-order properties. However, they mainly focus on local properties [Yin, 2017] or small pattern-based analysis [Benson, 2016]. Additionally, some studies attempt to design methods to avoid resorting to higher-order structure surrogates involving simplification information loss [Grover, 2016]. Nevertheless, in exploratory studies as [Lambiotte, 2019], many different and complex higher-order graph properties are leveraged as the connectivity or the centrality of the nodes or their clique order.

Graph attractiveness is explained by the valuable information they carry in many application fields. They have already significantly spread for biological and medical data and allows to combine interactions [Vermeulen, 2020]. Some of the prominent investigation areas are genomics and proteomics [Szklarczyk, 2016]. Their use for imaging data has been demonstrated in, for instance, graph matching problems [Lê-Huu, 2017; Torresani, 2008]. Nowadays, they are gaining increasing importance with Graph Convolutional Networks [Xu, 2018].

This study proposes a new approach to bridge the gap between feature selection, distance learning, and leveraging higher-order structures. The rest of the chapter is structured as follows. In section 5.2 we position our work compared to existing studies. In section 5.3 we present in detail the method we based our general framework on, our problem formulation and resolution algorithm, how we leverage higher-order graph information and perform classification using the dedicated distance we learn. In section 5.5, we present the different datasets we considered and the results obtained compared to classical classification baselines.

## 5.2 Related Work

Our study is based on the work of [Komodakis, 2011] which has the tremendous advantage of allowing a very general definition of distance, allowing both feature and metric selection, and weighting. Besides, it is designed for a center-based clustering algorithm, which presents the advantage of defining a relevant cluster representative which exciting properties have been demonstrated for feature selection in the previous chapter. This clustering paradigm is the critical point in our approach for exploiting higher-order graph structures in a reasonable computational time and space.

The idea of investigating clustering guided by field experts properties has been poorly studied in the literature. Notwithstanding, we can observe two main trends. First, the semi-supervised approach considers partial annotations in the clustering process. Following this paradigm, the method from [Yu, 2017] or [Wagstaff, 2000] account for information of samples which must or cannot be clustered together to influence the clustering using domain-related knowledge. This approach might be further generalized to constraints on conjunctions and disjunctions of instances [Davidson, 2005]. Second, the most prominent approach, metric learning, aims to learn a measure to discover specific information thanks to a supervised framework. It offers the ability to identify structures similar to a given ground-truth. This paradigm involves a completely annotated dataset at the difference of the semi-supervised approach. However, once the metric learned, its strength dwells in its ability to be applied without the need of any additional label. Besides, many studies demonstrated the essential role of the distance measure considered for clustering [Xiang, 2008], even more prominent than the choice of a correct clustering algorithm. The distance notion has to capture the required information to enable any algorithm to achieve a correct clustering of the data. Following this precept, several studies considered the arduous task of metric learning from different perspectives. In [Law, 2017], the authors leverage a deep learning architecture to define a space representation allowing to define a better similarity notion between instances while authors from [Finley, 2005] resort to a Support Vector Machine algorithm. In [Xing, 2002] constraints are defined to formulate the metric-learning task as a convex optimization problem. Here, we will consider more in detail the formulation proposed in [Komodakis, 2011] which relies on the Conditional Random Field (CRF) energy minimization principle to specify a metric in a center-based clustering context. This model is all the more interesting than the relevance of center-based techniques as been demonstrated in the previous chapter for feature selection and classification purposes.

Despite the excellent expressiveness of CRF and their ability to capture higher-order relations, the toll for fully leveraging this higher-order information might be heavy on memory and time consumption aspects. To cope with this issue, authors from [Fix, 2011; Ishikawa, 2010] proposed to exploit the binary nature of the CRF labels to optimize the resolution. Finally, in [Komodakis, 2014], dual decomposition is exploited to divide the initial energy to minimize in several easier-to-solve sub-problems.

To naturally leverage higher-order information for clustering, some first attempts investigated the presence of simple patterns in a graph [Yin, 2017]. Still, it is generally performed with minimal patterns as a clique of order 3 or only for a local higher-order clustering [Benson, 2016]. However, it is only surrogates incurring an information loss in the complex higher-order relations available [Grover, 2016].

In this study, we adapt and extend the formulation of metric learning presented in [Komodakis, 2011]. The main contribution is to bring the center-based clustering and the notion of pairwise metrics to higher-order settings through the inclusion of graph properties. In addition, we modify the error function that was considered to better account for unbalanced classes. Finally, we leverage graph structural information from our data.

## 5.3 Methodology

Without loss of generality, let us define a metric assessing the similarity of a set of h objects as a  $h^{th}$ -order metric. For instance, a usual distance is referred to as a  $2^{nd}$ -order metric or pairwise metric. For the simple case of pairwise metrics, we based our study on [Komodakis, 2011] which provides a general, flexible and efficient approach to solve the learning problem in a clustering context. This approach relies on CRF energy minimization. In this study, we extend our formulation introducing  $3^{rd}$ -order to  $h^{th}$ -order metrics for any h > 2. The case of  $3^{rd}$ -order metrics will be more detailed for simplicity's sake. However, the same approach is applied to obtain the results for any order. This section first details the notations and potential formulations used to define the problem's energy. Then, we introduce the optimization problem, discussing dual decomposition and its application to the task. Finally, we present the process used to extract the higher-order information we leverage.

#### 5.3.1 Center-Based Clustering

Our approach is based on center-based clustering. Considering a set of objects to cluster  $\mathcal{V}$ , we define a set of binary variables  $\{x_{p,q}\}_{p,q\in V}$  indicating whether p is assigned to the cluster of center q,  $x_{p,q} = 1$ , or not,  $x_{p,q} = 0$ . We consider a distance  $d_{p,q}$  between objects p and q.

$$\min_{x} \sum_{p,q \in V} d_{p,q} x_{p,q} \quad s.t. \quad \sum_{q \in V} x_{p,q} = 1, \quad \forall p$$

$$x_{p,q} \leq x_{q,q}, \quad x_{p,q} \in \{0,1\}, \quad \forall p, q.$$
(5.1)

The above system minimizes the distance between a point and the center of the cluster it is assigned to with respect to three constraints. First, each point has to belong to one and only one cluster. Second, if a point is assigned to a cluster center, this center must be assigned to itself. Third, assignment variables are binary. We can cast the previous optimization problem as an equivalent energy minimization task:

$$E(x,d) = \sum_{p,q} u_{p,q}(x_{p,q},d) + \sum_{p,q} \phi_{p,q}(x_{p,q},x_{q,q}) + \sum_{p} \phi_{p}(x_{p})$$
(5.2)

 $u_{p,q}$  being the second-order potentials of the CRF standing for the distance to the cluster center and  $\phi_p$ ,  $\phi_{p,q}$  the constraints. More precisely:

$$u_{p,q}(x_{p,q},d) = d_{p,q}x_{p,q}$$
  

$$\phi_{p,q}(x_{p,q}, x_{q,q}) = \delta(x_{p,q} \le x_{q,q})$$
  

$$\phi_{p}(x_{p}) = \delta(\sum_{q} x_{p,q} = 1)$$
(5.3)

with  $x_p = \{x_{p,q} \mid q \in V\}$  and  $\delta(e) = 0$  if e True and  $\infty$  otherwise.

In this study, we propose a generalization of this energy formulation for clustering. Here an example in a third-order setting. In addition to the previous notations, we consider a third-order distance  $d_{p,p',q}$  for triplet p, p' and q.

$$E(x,d) = \sum_{p,q} u_{p,q}(x_{p,q},d) + \sum_{p,p',q} u_{p,p',q}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q},d) + \sum_{p,q} \phi_{p,q}(x_{p,q},d_{q,q}) + \sum_{p} \phi_{p}(x_{p})$$
(5.4)

where the new function  $u_{p,p',q}$  being the third-order potentials of the CRF everything else remaining unchanged. More precisely:

$$u_{p,p',q}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q},d) = d_{p,p',q}x_{p,q}x_{p',q}$$
(5.5)

#### 5.3.2 Metric Learning Formulation

Our framework learns a distance between objects using a set of K training subjects  $\{V^k, \mathcal{C}^k, y^k\}$ for each set  $k \in K$ ,  $V^k$  is the set of objects to be clustered according to ground truth  $\mathcal{C}^k$  and knowing input data  $y^k$ . We are also assuming that we can get from the input data a positive feature function for each pair of objects p, q as  $f_{p,q}(y^k)$  and for each triplet of objects p, p', qas  $f_{p,p',q}(y^k)$ . The codomain of the feature's functions will be called meta-feature space as it is obtained from the actual features of the task and is the input space of the framework. We consider a meta-feature space of size d. One should notice that even though there is a ground truth cluster for each set, the cluster centers are still unknown. A feasible solution  $x^k$  of  $\mathcal{C}^k$ denoted as  $x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)$ , will consist in a set of assignment such as for each ground truth cluster  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$  all the objects  $p \in C$  are assigned to the same center  $q \in C$ . Besides, we are looking for a distance over a set S of cardinal  $2 \leq |S| \leq 3$  expressed as:

$$d_S^k = \begin{cases} d_{p,q}^k \text{ if } S = \{p,q\} \\ d_{p,p',q}^k \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$(5.6)$$

where

$$d_{p,q}^k = w^T f_{p,q}(y^k), \quad d_{p,p',q}^k = w^T f_{p,p',q}(y^k)$$

For conciseness sake's, we will denote  $E^k(x,d) = E(x,d^k)$  and  $u^k(x,d) = u(x,d^k)$ .

w being the weight vector we want to estimate. At the difference of the formulation proposed in [Komodakis, 2011], we impose  $w_i \ge 0$ ,  $\forall i \le d$ . This specificity aims to enforce the positivity of the distance obtained. Also, as it has been presented in [Komodakis, 2011], a projection of the weights onto  $\mathbb{R}_+$  ensures better performance in the second-order settings. We impose this constraint to improve the tractability of the higher-order distance learning resolution, as is highlighted in the proofs (Appendix A.3).

Notice that our framework is very robust and flexible as we use the same weight vector w for both the second-order and the third-order distances, which means that a component i of vectors  $f_{p,q}(y^k)$  and  $f_{p,p',q}(y^k)$  have to relate to the same property. The *i*th component of  $f_{p,p',q}(y^k)$ can be a generalization of  $f_{p,q}(y^k)$  one, but it can also stand alone, and in this case,  $f_{p,q}(y^k)$  will be null. Similarly, a component  $f_{p,q}(y^k)$  might not possess any relevant generalization, and in this case,  $f_{p,p',q}(y^k)$  will be null. For instance, a suitable third-order function  $f_{p,p',q}$  could have for component the perimeter or surface of the triangle  $\{p, p', q\}$ . With this particular example, in addition to the initial second-order warping of the space, such as we have a small distance between each object of the cluster and the center, we will also have a small distance between pairs of objects. However, much more intricate properties can be introduced. For instance, we can consider statistical distances as the Mahalanobis distance between the set of observations  $\{p, p'\}$ and q, which is designed to estimate if the object q is a natural center for the set  $\{p, p'\}$  regarding mean and variance considerations. We will present in section 5.3.9, possible higher-order feature functions definition on graph structures. A Max-Margin approach is considered to approximate w. We are looking for  $x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)$ whose energy  $E^k(x^k, d)$  is smaller than the energy of any other solution x by an error function  $\Delta(x, d)$  to be defined, i.e.

$$\exists x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k), \ E^k(x^k, d) \le E^k(x, d) - \Delta(x, d) + \xi_k$$
(5.7)

where slack variable  $\xi_k$  is considered in case of infeasible training sets. Adding this constraint to the previous energy minimization problem gives the regularized loss:

$$\min_{\{x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)\}} \tau J(w) + \sum_k \mathcal{L}_{E^k}$$
(5.8)

where J(w) is a regularization term penalizing w complexity, while the hinge loss  $\mathcal{L}_{E^k}$  includes  $\xi_k$  and is expressed as:

$$\mathcal{L}_{E^{k}}(x^{k}, w) = E^{k}(x^{k}, w) - \min_{x} (E^{k}(x, w) - \Delta(x, \mathcal{C}^{k}))$$
(5.9)

It favors feasible solutions with energy close to the minimal energy for any possible assignment penalized by the error function according to the violated constraints.

#### 5.3.3 Max-Margin Energy

The good choice of  $\Delta(x, \mathcal{C}^k)$  is essential to obtain a relevant w. In particular, we need this error function to be 0 if  $x \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)$  and to have a value representing on what extent x violates the constraints imposed by the ground truth  $\mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)$ . We adapt the error function proposed in [Komodakis, 2011] to better account for unbalanced classes. We consider the training set k with cluster ground truth  $\mathcal{C}^k$  the function:

$$\Delta(x, C^k) = \alpha \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^k} W(1 - \sum_{q \in C} x_{q,q}) + \beta \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^k} \frac{1}{|C|} \sum_{p \in C} (1 - \sum_{q \in C} x_{p,q})$$
(5.10)

 energy  $\bar{E}^k = E^k - \Delta$ :

$$\bar{E}^{k}(x,w) = \sum_{p,q} \bar{u}^{k}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \sum_{p,p',q} \bar{u}^{k}_{p,p',q}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q}) + \sum_{p,q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \sum_{p} \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) + \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^{k}} \bar{\phi}_{C}(x_{C}) - \beta |\mathcal{C}^{k}|$$
(5.11)

with:

$$\bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(x_{p,q}) = u_{p,q}^{k}(x_{p,q},d) + \beta [\exists C \in \mathcal{C}^{k}, \ p,q \in C] \frac{x_{p,q}^{k}}{|C|}$$

$$\bar{u}_{p,p',q}^{k}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q}) = u_{p,p',q}^{k}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q},d)$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) = \phi_{p,q}(x_{p,q},x_{q,q})$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{P}(x_{p}) = \phi_{p}(x_{p})$$

$$\bar{\phi}_{C}(x_{C}) = -\alpha W (1 - \sum_{q \in C} x_{q,q})$$
(5.12)

It is interesting to notice that thanks to the property of  $\Delta$ ,  $\forall x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)$ ,  $\bar{E}^k(x^k, w) = E^k(x^k, w)$ .

## 5.3.4 Optimizing over $\{x^k\}$

For a fixed w, minimizing  $\bar{E}^k(x^k, w)$  requires the constraints to be satisfied,  $\bar{\phi}_p(x_p^k) = 0$  and  $\bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}^k) = 0$ , which entails  $x^k \in \mathcal{X}(C^k)$ . And, in this case,  $\Delta(x, C^k) = 0$ . Thus,

$$x^{k} = \underset{x \in \mathcal{X}(C^{k})}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left( \sum_{p,p',q} d_{p,p',q} x_{p,q} x_{p',q} + \sum_{p,q} d_{p,q} x_{p,q} \right)$$
(5.13)

To minimize this problem, we only need to find the set  $Q^k$  of exemplars q minimizing the above function per cluster in  $\mathcal{C}^k$  and then assign each point of the cluster to its exemplar. In this case, the constraints will be satisfied as we ensure each cluster to have one and only one center and assign all cluster samples to this center.

#### 5.3.5 Dual Decomposition

Dual decomposition is a widespread approach used to reduce an intractable problem to smaller, easier ones, the sum of which is equivalent to the initial task to solve (please refer to Section 2.4.2 for a formal definition). Here, for each k < K, we define a slave problem per datapoint  $p \in V^k$ ,  $\bar{E}_p^k$ , and one per cluster  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ ,  $\bar{E}_C^k$ .

$$\bar{E}_{p}^{k}(x,w) = \sum_{q \neq p} \bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(x_{p,q}) + \sum_{p',q \neq p} \bar{u}_{p,p',q}^{k}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q}) + \sum_{q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) - \frac{\beta}{|V^{k}|} + \sum_{q} (\frac{1}{|V^{k}|+1}(\bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}) + \sum_{p'} \bar{u}_{q,p',q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}x_{p',q}^{k})) + \lambda_{p,q}x_{q,q})$$

$$\bar{E}_{C}^{k}(x,w) = \bar{\phi}_{C}(x_{C}) + \sum_{q} (\frac{1}{|V^{k}|+1}(\bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}) + \sum_{p'} \bar{u}_{q,p',q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}x_{p',q}^{k})) + \lambda_{C_{q}}x_{q,q})$$
(5.14)

where the Lagrangian variables  $\lambda = \{\{\lambda_{p,q}\}, \{\lambda_{C_q}\}\}\$  are used to ensure the consistency of the solution. We impose the satisfaction of:  $\lambda \in \Lambda^k = \{\lambda : \sum_{p \in S^k} \lambda_{p,q} + \lambda_{C_q} = 0, \forall C \in \mathcal{C}^k, q \in C\}.$ Therefore, by design,  $\bar{E}^k(x^k, w) = \sum_p \bar{E}^k_p(x, w) + \sum_C \bar{E}^k_C(x, w)$ . Thus, finally, the loss function to be minimized is:

$$\min_{\{x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)\}, w, \{\lambda^k \in \Lambda^k\}} \tau J(w) + \sum_k \sum_{p \in V^k} \mathcal{L}_{\bar{E}_p^k} + \sum_k \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^k} \mathcal{L}_{\bar{E}_C^k}$$
(5.15)

#### 5.3.6 Slave Problems Optimization

To optimize w, we first need to solve the slave problems by leveraging their specific structures. An essential characteristic to notice is that, for fixed  $\{x^k\}$ , the slaves energy can be related to CRF energies. Details of all the proofs and computation steps are provided in Appendix A.3.

### **Optimizing over** $\{\hat{x}^{k,p}\}$

Regarding the point-wise subproblems, we proceed as follows. The solution in pairwise settings has been demonstrated in [Komodakis, 2011]. In the following lemma, we generalize the solution that was proposed to a third-order context as:

**Lemma 1** For fixed  $p \in V^k$ , let  $\theta_q^k = \frac{\bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1)}{|V|^k + 1} + \lambda_{p,q}$  and  $\bar{\theta}_q^k = [\theta_q^k]_+ + \bar{u}_{p,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1)$  where  $[z]_+ = max(0, z)$ . minimizer  $\hat{x}^p$  of  $\bar{E}_p^k(x, w, \lambda^k)$  is given by

$$\hat{x}_{q,q}^p = [\theta_q^k < 0]$$

$$\hat{x}_{p,q}^p = [q = \bar{q}] \text{ where } \bar{q} = \operatorname*{arg\,min}_{a}(\bar{\theta}_q^k)$$
(5.16)

**Optimizing over**  $\{\hat{x}^{k,C}\}$ 

Regarding the cluster-wise subproblems, we proceed as follows. The solution in pairwise settings has been demonstrated in [Komodakis, 2011]. We can notice that our formulation of the cluster-wise subproblem presents a high similarity with the original formulation, and the only difference for the optimization is in  $\theta_q^k$  expression:

**Lemma 2** For fixed  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ , let  $\theta_q^k = \frac{\overline{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \overline{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1)}{|V^k| + 1} + \lambda_{C_q}, \forall q \in C.$  A minimizer  $\hat{x}^C$  of  $\overline{E}_C^k(x, w, \lambda^k)$  is given by

$$\forall q \in C, \ \hat{x}_{q,q}^{C} = \begin{cases} \left[\theta_{q}^{k} < \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|)\right], & if \ \sum_{q' \in C} [\theta_{q}^{k} - \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|)]_{-} + \alpha \mid V^{k} \mid < 0\\ 0 \ otherwise \end{cases}$$

$$(5.17)$$

with  $[z]_{-} = min(0, z)$ .

#### Optimizing over $\lambda$ and w

To optimize over  $\lambda$  and w, we perform an iterative projected subgradient approach:

$$w \leftarrow w - s_t \delta_w, \quad \lambda^k \leftarrow proj_{\Lambda^k}(\lambda^k - s_t \delta_{\lambda_k})$$
 (5.18)

with  $\{\delta_w\}$  and  $\{\delta_{\lambda_k}\}$  subgradient functions and  $proj_{\Lambda^k}$  the projection onto  $\Lambda^k$ . Then, the following lemma gives the updates to be applied iteratively to efficiently obtain the approximation of w and  $\{\lambda_{p,q}^k, \lambda_{C_q}^k\}$ . The updates are obtained by summing the respective updates of each subproblem according to the formula provided in equation 5.15.

**Lemma 3** Let  $s_t$  be the weight granted to the optimization at step t. We define  $\hat{X}_q^k = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} + \sum_p \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p}$  and  $\hat{X}_{p,q}^k = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} + \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} [p = q, q \in C]$ . Then, update reduces to:

$$w = s_{t}(\tau \nabla J(w) + \sum_{k} \delta_{w}^{k})$$

$$\lambda_{p,q}^{k} = s_{t}(\frac{\hat{X}_{q}^{k}}{|V^{k}| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p})$$

$$\lambda_{p,q}^{k} = s_{t}(\frac{\hat{X}_{q}^{k}}{|V^{k}| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C})$$
(5.19)

where

$$\delta_{w}^{k} = \sum_{p,p',q \in V^{k}} x_{p,q}^{k} x_{p'q}^{k} f_{p,p',q}^{k} + \sum_{p,q \in V^{k}} x_{p,q}^{k} f_{p,q}^{k} - \left(\sum_{p,q \neq p \in V^{k}} (\hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} f_{p,q,q}^{k} + \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} f_{p,p,q}^{k}) + \sum_{p,q \neq p \in V^{k}} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} f_{p,q}^{k} + \sum_{q \in V^{k}} \frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\hat{X}_{q}^{k} f_{q,q}^{k} + \sum_{p \in V^{k}} \hat{X}_{p,q}^{k} f_{q,p,q}^{k}))$$

$$(5.20)$$

Note that  $\nabla J(w)$  has to refer to a subgradient if J is non-differentiable. Besides, a constraint can be imposed over w by applying a projection during w update.

$$w \longleftarrow proj_W(w - s_t \delta_w) \tag{5.21}$$

where W can be any convex set of constraints included in  $\mathbb{R}_+$ . For instance, to mimic a true

distance and satisfy the positivity constraint over w with  $proj_W(z) = max(z, 0)$ . It will also enforce an additional sparsity on the weight vector. Notice that at least a positivity constraint has to be imposed. We summarize the complete learning process in Algorithm 3.

#### Algorithm 3: Learning Process

**Data:** training cohorts  $\{V^k, \mathcal{C}^k, y^k\}$ , features functions  $\{f_{p,q}^2(y^k), f_{p,p',q}^3(y^k)\}$ 1  $\lambda^k \leftarrow 0, \ \forall k$ 2 do Optimize  $x^k$ :  $\forall C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ ,  $q_c = \arg \min_{q \in C} (\sum_{p,p' \in C} d_{p,p',q} x_{p,q} x_{p'q} + \sum_{p \in C} d_{p,q} x_{p,q});$ 3  $x_{p,q}^k = 1, \ p \in C \iff q = q_C;$ 4 Iterate T subgradient updates: 5 6 repeat Solve slaves  $\bar{E}_p^k$ ,  $\bar{E}_C^k$  via lemmas 4, 2; 7 Update  $w, \lambda^k$  via lemma 3 8 until T times; 9 Project w over  $W \subset \mathbb{R}_+$ 10 11 while Not Convergence;

To improve the tractability of the approach we leveraged a stochastic gradient descent (sgd) framework. It consists in randomly selecting a subset of the training samples at each iteration and performing the updates by relying only on those samples.

#### 5.3.7 Generalization to Higher-Order Distances

Our approach's strength is its ability to be efficiently generalized to any order. Let  $h \ge 2$  be the order of the distance we are looking for. h corresponds to the maximal set size we will consider in our metric definition. Our target metric considers any set S of size  $|S| \le h$  and is defined as:

$$d_S = w^T f_{\{p\}_{p \in S}}(y) \tag{5.22}$$

where  $f_{\{p\}_{p\in S}}$  is a positive feature function providing a closeness score on set S. This metric aims to establish a characterization of the meaningfulness to group samples in S altogether. In this case, we consider the energy defined as:

$$E(x,d)^{k} = \sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p,p_{1},\dots,p_{l},q} u_{p,p_{1},\dots,p_{l},q}^{k} (x_{p,q} \prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_{i},q}, d) + \sum_{p,q} \phi_{p,q}(x_{p,q}, x_{q,q}) + \sum_{p} \phi_{p}(x_{p}) + \sum_{C} \phi_{C}(x_{C}) - \beta |\mathcal{C}^{k}|$$
(5.23)

We now consider the higher order potential of order l < h-2,  $u_{p,p_1,...,p_l,q}(\prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_i,q}, d)$  focusing on establishing the cost of assigning  $p, p_1, ..., p_l$  to q. The potentials definitions are:

$$u_{p,p_{1},...,p_{l},q}^{k}(x_{p,q}\prod_{i\in[1,l]}x_{p_{i},q},d) = d_{p,p_{1},...,p_{l},q}^{k}x_{p,q}\prod_{i\in[1,l]}x_{p_{i},q}$$

$$d_{p,\prod_{i\in[1,l]}p_{i}}^{k}x_{p,q}\prod_{i\in[1,l]}x_{p_{i},q} = w^{T}f_{p,p_{1},...,p_{l},q}(y^{k})$$

$$\phi_{p,q}(x_{p,q},x_{q,q}) = \delta(x_{p,q} \le x_{q,q})$$

$$\phi_{p}(x_{p}) = \delta(\sum_{q}x_{p,q} = 1)$$
(5.24)

First, regarding the optimization over  $\{x^k\}$  for a fixed vector w. As previously, the satisfaction of the constraints induces:

$$x^{k} = \underset{x \in \mathcal{X}(C^{k})}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} \left( \sum_{l \in [0, h-2]} \sum_{p, p_{1}, \dots, p_{l}, q} d^{k}_{p, p_{1}, \dots, p_{l}, q} x_{p, q} \prod_{i \in [1, l]} x_{p_{i}, q} \right)$$
(5.25)

And, again, this problem's minimization only requires the set  $Q^k$  of exemplars q minimizing the above function per cluster in  $\mathcal{C}^k$ . Then, we assign each point of the cluster to its exemplar. In this case, the constraints will be satisfied as we ensure each cluster to have one and only one center and assign all cluster samples to this center.

As before, for each k < K, we define a slave problem per datapoint  $p \in V^k$ ,  $\bar{E}_p^k$ , and one per cluster  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ ,  $\bar{E}_C^k$ .

$$\bar{E}_{p}^{k}(x,w) = \sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p_{1},\dots,p_{l},q \neq p} u_{p,p_{1},\dots,p_{l},q}^{k}(x_{p,q}\prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_{i},q},d) + \sum_{q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) - \frac{\beta}{|V^{k}|} + \sum_{q} (\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p_{1},\dots,p_{l}} u_{q,p_{1},\dots,p_{l}}^{k}(x_{q,q}\prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_{i},q},d)) + \lambda_{p,q}x_{q,q})$$

$$\bar{E}_{C}^{k}(x,w) = \bar{\phi}_{C}(x_{C}) + \sum_{q} (\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p_{1},\dots,p_{l}} u_{q,p_{1},\dots,p_{l}}^{k}(x_{q},q\prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_{i},q},d) + \lambda_{C_{q}}x_{q,q})$$
(5.26)

where the Lagrangian variables  $\lambda = \{\{\lambda_{p,q}\}, \{\lambda_{C_q}\}\}\$  are used to ensure the consistency of the solution. We impose the satisfaction of:  $\lambda \in \Lambda^k = \{\lambda : \sum_{p \in S^k} \lambda_{p,q} + \lambda_{C_q} = 0, \forall C \in \mathcal{C}^k, q \in C\}.$ Therefore, by design,  $\bar{E}^k(x^k, w) = \sum_p \bar{E}^k_p(x, w) + \sum_C \bar{E}^k_C(x, w)$ . Thus, finally, the lost function to be minimized is:

$$\min_{\{x^k \in \mathcal{X}(\mathcal{C}^k)\}, w, \{\lambda^k \in \Lambda^k\}} \tau J(w) + \sum_k \sum_{p \in V^k} \mathcal{L}_{\bar{E}_p^k} + \sum_k \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^k} \mathcal{L}_{\bar{E}_C^k}$$
(5.27)

#### **Optimizing over** $\{\hat{x}^{k,p}\}$

Regarding the point-wise subproblems, we proceed as follows. In the following lemma, we generalize the solution that was proposed to a general order setting as:

**Lemma 4** For fixed  $p \in V^k$ , let  $\theta_q^k = \frac{\sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} u_{q,\dots,q}^k(1)}{|V|^k + 1} + \lambda_{p,q}^k$  and  $\bar{\theta}_q^k = [\theta_q^k]_+ + \sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p_1,\dots,p_l \in \{p,q\}} u_{p,p_1,\dots,p_l,q}^k$  where  $[z]_+ = max(0,z)$ . minimizer  $\hat{x}^p$  of  $\bar{E}_p^k(x,w,\lambda^k)$  is given by

$$\hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} = [\theta_q^k < 0]$$

$$\hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} = [q = \bar{q}] \text{ where } \bar{q} = \underset{q}{\operatorname{arg\,min}}(\bar{\theta}_q^k)$$
(5.28)

**Optimizing over**  $\{\hat{x}^{k,C}\}$ 

Regarding the cluster-wise subproblems, The optimization is provided by the following lemma:

**Lemma 5** For fixed  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ , let  $\theta_q^k = \frac{\sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} u_{q,\ldots,q}^k(1)}{|V^k| + 1} + \lambda_{C_q}^k$ ,  $\forall q \in C$ . A minimizer  $\hat{x}^{k,C}$  of  $\bar{E}_C^k(x, w, \lambda^k)$  is given by

$$\forall q \in C, \ \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} = \begin{cases} \left[\theta_q^k < \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|)\right], & if \ \sum_{q' \in C} [\theta_q^k - \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|)]_- + \alpha \mid V^k \mid < 0\\ 0 \ otherwise \end{cases}$$
(5.29)

with  $[z]_{-} = min(0, z)$ .

#### **Optimizing over** $\lambda$ and w

**Lemma 6** Let  $s_t$  be the weight granted to the optimization at step t. We define  $\hat{X}_q^k = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} + \sum_p \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p}$  and  $\hat{X}_{p,\prod_{i\in[1,l]}p_i,q}^k = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p}\prod_{i\in[1,l]} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} + \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C_q}[p_i = q, \forall i \in [1,l]]$ . Then, the updates reduce to:

$$w = s_t(\tau \nabla J(w) + \sum_k \delta_w^k)$$

$$\lambda_{p,q}^k = s_t(\frac{\hat{X}_q^k}{|V^k| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p})$$

$$\lambda_{C_q}^k = -s_t(\frac{\hat{X}_q^k}{|V^k| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C})$$
(5.30)

where

$$\delta_{w}^{k} = \sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p,p_{1},...,p_{l},q \in V^{k}} f_{p,p_{1},...,p_{l},q}(x_{p,q}^{k} \prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_{i},q}^{k}, d) - \sum_{q \in V^{k}} (\hat{X}_{q}^{k} f_{q,q}^{k} + \sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} (\sum_{p \neq q \in V^{k}} \sum_{p_{1},...,p_{l},p_{i} \in \{p,q\} \forall i \in [1,l]} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} f_{p,p_{1},...,p_{l},q}^{k} + \frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} \sum_{p \in V^{k}} \sum_{p_{1},...,p_{l} \in \{p,q\} \forall i \in [1,l]} \hat{X}_{p,\prod_{i \in [1,l]} p_{i},q}^{k} f_{q,\prod_{i \in [1,l]} p_{i},q}^{k} f_{q,\prod_{i \in [1,l]} p_{i},q}^{k}))$$

$$(5.31)$$

#### 5.3.8 Extension to Cluster Metrics

A final interesting addition we can bring to our higher-order distance learning framework is to consider a metric between a sample and a ground truth cluster. The difference between this particular setting and the previous higher-order metrics is that here we will consider a metric able to tackle sets of objects of different sizes (the size of the clusters) and thus will not have a defined order. The interest for such a distance is to benefit from a structural metric characterizing the closeness between a sample and a given cluster. It will be especially valuable during inference to identify the fittest cluster for a sample.

We formulate this new problem by adding to the higher-order distance defined in the previous section a term  $w^T f_{p,C}(y^k)$  for any  $p \in V^k$  and any  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ . Then, from the previously defined energy  $E(x,d)^k$  we will define our new energy

$$E^{k*}(x,d) = E^{k}(x,d) + \sum_{p \in V^{k}} \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^{k}} w^{T} f_{p,C}(y^{k}) \sum_{q \in C} x_{p,q}$$

where we penalize the assignment of a sample p to a center q by the distance between the sample and the center's cluster according to given cluster-wise feature functions. First, regarding the optimization over  $\{x^k\}$  for a fixed vector w. As previously, the satisfaction of the constraints induces to find the cluster centers q minimizing for its cluster C:

$$q = \underset{q \in C}{\operatorname{arg\,min}} (\sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} \sum_{p,p_1,\dots,p_l, p \in C, p_i \in C \forall i \in [1,l]} d^k_{p,p_1,\dots,p_l,q} x_{p,q} \prod_{i \in [1,l]} x_{p_i,q} + \sum_{p \in C} w^T f_{p,C}(y^k) x_{p,q})$$
(5.32)

 $x^k$  is inferred by assigning each sample of a cluster to the cluster center. Then, we modify the cluster-wise slave problems of the dual decomposition as follows:

$$\bar{E}_{C}^{k*}(x,w) = \bar{E}_{C}^{k}(x,w) + \sum_{p \in V^{k}} w^{T} f_{p,C}(y^{k}) \sum_{q \in C} x_{p,q} + \frac{1}{2(|V^{k}|+1)} w^{T} f_{q,C}(y^{k}) \sum_{q \in C} x_{q,q}$$
(5.33)

with  $\bar{E}_C^k(x, w)$  the energy defined as in equation 5.26. Therefore, the cluster-wise slave resolution is now:

#### Chapter 5. GHOST: Graph Higher-Order Similarity Topologies Learning for 110 Classification

 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{Lemma 7} \ \ For \ fixed \ C \in \mathcal{C}^k. \ \ Let \ \theta_q^{k*} = \frac{\sum_{l \in [0,h-2]} u_{q,\ldots,q}^k(1) + f_{q,C}(y^k)}{\mid V^k \mid +1 + \lambda_{C_q}^{k*}}, \ \forall q \in V^k. \ \ A \ \ minimizer \ \hat{x}^{k,C*} \ of \ \ \bar{E}_{k,C*}^k(x,w,\lambda^{k*}) \ is \ given \ by: \end{array}$ 

$$\forall q \in C, \ \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C*} = \begin{cases} \ [\theta_q^{k*} < \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|)], & if \ \sum_{q' \in C} [\theta_q^{k*} - \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|)]_- + \alpha \mid V^k \mid < 0 \\ 0 \ otherwise \end{cases}$$

$$(5.34)$$

Then, the updates are defined as:

**Lemma 8** Let  $s_t$  be the weight granted to the optimization at step t. We consider  $\hat{X}_q^k$  and  $\hat{X}_{p,\prod_{i\in[1,t]}p_{i,q}}^k$  as defined in lemma 6.

$$w^{*} = s_{t}(\tau \nabla J(w) + \sum_{k} \delta_{w}^{k*})$$

$$\lambda_{p,q}^{k*} = s_{t}(\frac{\hat{X}_{q}^{k}}{|V^{k}| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p})$$

$$\lambda_{C_{q}}^{k*} = s_{t}(\frac{\hat{X}_{q}^{k}}{|V^{k}| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C*})$$
(5.35)

where

$$\delta_{w}^{k*} = \delta_{w}^{k} + \sum_{p \in V^{k}} \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^{k}} f_{p,C}(y^{k}) \sum_{q \in C} x_{p,q}^{k*} - \sum_{p \in V^{k}} \sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}^{k}} f_{p,C}(y^{k}) \sum_{q \in C} (x_{p,q}^{k,C*} + x_{p,q}^{k,p}) + (\frac{\hat{X}_{q}^{k}}{|V^{k}| + 1} \sum_{q \neq p \in C} (x_{p,q}^{k,C*} + x_{p,q}^{k,p}))$$

$$(5.36)$$

#### 5.3.9 Extracting and Leveraging Structural Information from Data

Several approaches exist in order to design a graph structure on data set with no natural graph representation. Here, we relied on a distance matrix between objects computed as the sum over all the different feature functions used in the distance learning. Then, a k-nearest neighbors approach was computed, meaning that there is an edge between two objects p and q iff p (resp. or q) is in the k objects the closest of q (resp. or p).

Once a graph structure obtained, we studied different ways of leveraging their properties. Our first, most simple, approach is considering the shortest path  $S_{p,q}$  between objects p and q in the graph. The distance between those objects will then be the weighted length  $L_{p,q}$  of such a path. The generalization of this method for a set of objects  $\{p_1, ..., p_l\}$  and a potential center q

is defined as follows:

$$SP_l(p_1, ..., p_l) = \sum_{i \in \{1, ..., l\}} \sum_{j \in \{i+1, ..., l\}} \frac{L_{p_i, q} + L_{p_j, q}}{L_{p_i, p_j}}$$

The interpretation of this graph metric is that the center of a cluster q has to be a hub for the objects of its cluster i.e. the ratio between the shortest path and the shortest path passing by q has to be small for any pair of objects in the cluster.

Similarly, we considered the eccentricity of a set of objects  $\{p_1, ..., p_l\}$  as a *l*-order graph metric. We deem a set of objects has to have a small maximal weighted graph diameter to belong to the same cluster.

Then, we considered two connectivity related metrics. The first one is based on the clique order of a set of objects  $CO(p_1, ..., p_l)$  and is defined as  $max\_degree(G) - CO(p_1, ..., p_l)$  with  $max\_degree(G)$  the maximal degree of a node in the whole graph. By doing so we consider that the bigger the clique order in the set of objects the more relevant their association in a cluster.

The second metric is based on the connectivity resilience  $CR(p_1, ..., p_l)$  which is the minimal number of nodes to remove to disconnect the set of objects. The metric is defined as  $l - CR(p_1, ..., p_l)$ .

#### 5.3.10 Leveraging a Task Dedicated Distance for Classification

In order to perform the classification, we relied on a K-Nearest Neighbors framework. Once the distance learnt, we predicted the label of a new sample by computing its distance to each ground truth cluster and taking the closest one. We experimented and compared different strategies to determine the closest cluster:

- Average distance to the points of the cluster.
- Minimum distance to the points of the cluster.
- Maximum distance to the points of the cluster.
- Distance to the center of the cluster.
- Majoritarian cluster of the k-nearest neighbors.

The distance between the new sample p and objects of the cluster C is computed using the learnt dedicated distance. For l > 2-order distances, we compute the distance on the set  $\{p, p_1, ..., p_{l-2}, q\}$  where we iterate over all possible sets  $\{p_1, ..., p_{l-2}\} \in C^{l-2}$  and q is the cluster center discovered during the learning step.

## 5.4 Implementation Details

We implemented the algorithm proposed in [Komodakis, 2011] and we used it as a baseline. It is available at https://github.com/ebattistella/Second-order-Distance-learning. Besides, the adaptation to general higher-order distances we propose in this study has been implemented and is available at https://github.com/ebattistella/Higher-order-Distance e-Learning-GHOST-.

To prove the relevance of our higher-order formulation, we leveraged two datasets of a very different nature. First, we synthesized a dataset with samples in dimension 100 with 60 noisy dimensions. Clusters are designed by considering 100 samples generated from Gaussian distributions with different variances and means between the two clusters on the non-noisy dimensions. The noise is simulated by taking a much larger variance. Ideal graphs were generated on this dataset as one clique per cluster with no connection between cliques. Then, we added noise to the graphs using a rewiring method [Jarman, 2017]. For each pair of nodes, we added or removed an edge with a probability of p. We considered values of  $p \in [0, 0.5]$  with an increment of 0.1. We generated a training, a validation, and a test sets considering different variances and means. For each set, we considered base variances randomly chosen for each feature between 0 and 200 shifted by respectively 10, 30 and 30 for the non-noisy dimensions and 1000, 2000 and 10000 for the noisy ones. Regarding the means, we considered base means randomly chosen for each feature between -50 and 50 shifted by respectively 0, 10, and 50. The aim was here to visualize the generalizability of the learned weights and their resilience to increasing noise. We then leveraged a Covid-19 dataset introduced in Chapter 3. We used the same training and testing sets previously and compared the classification performance over the Severe/Non-severe staging task. A graph on the data was obtained through the method proposed in Section 5.3.9 by considering the 5 closest neighbors.

The second-order feature functions we based all our experiments on are feature-wise euclidean distances. In addition, we considered Euclidean, Minkowski, City-block, Cosine, Correlation, Hamming, Jaccard, Chebyshev, Matching, Yule, Braycurtis, Dice, Kulsinski, Russellrao, Pearson-correlation based, Spearman-correlation based, Kendall-correlation based distances on the full feature space.

For those datasets, we performed a thorough set of experiments to highlight the relevance of our higher-order distance formulation and the consideration of graph structures. We first used the simple pairwise distance defined using the basic formulation from [Komodakis, 2011]. Then, we complemented this with our balanced error function to better account for the cluster size. We finally added a shortest-paths-based metric  $SP_2$  to assess the value of graph information even in second-order settings and compare it with the higher-order. We performed the higher-order distance learning using the combination of the second-order meta-features with the different

112

higher-order metrics defined in Section 5.3.9. We considered the third-order, the cluster metric, and the combination of both.

## 5.5 Results and Discussion

#### 5.5.1 Synthesized Dataset

In this subsection, we considered the two synthesized clusters. This experiment aimed to assess the capacity of our higher-order framework to leverage information from a graph according to its level of noise and combine it with usual second-order metrics to perform classification. We used as a baseline the second-order framework performances with and without considering path length information in a graph. First, we reported the results in the second-order without graph information nor balanced error function in Table 5.1. Here, we reported the performance of the different strategies to infer the label of a new sample defined in Section 5.3.10. We observed superior results of the distance to cluster center approach on all metrics. This trend was consistent in the different experiments we performed. Thus, for concision sake's in the following, we only reported results from this strategy.

No balanced error	Balanced Accuracy			Weighted Precision			Weighted Sensitivity			Weighted Specificity		
function, No path	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test
Average	1	0.6	0.42	1	0.76	0.35	1	0.62	0.4	1	0.58	0.43
Minimum	1	0.52	0.4	1	0.75	0.27	1	0.54	0.38	1	0.49	0.42
Maximum	1	0.59	0.38	1	0.68	0.32	1	0.63	0.37	1	0.6	0.39
Min center	1	0.62	0.34	1	0.75	0.26	1	0.6	0.32	1	0.57	0.35
KNN	1	0.62	0.41	1	0.69	0.29	1	0.64	0.4	1	0.61	0.43
Balanced error	Balaı	nced Accurac	y	Weig	hted Precisio	n	Weigh	ted Sensitivi	ty	Weigh	ted Specifici	ty
function, No path	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test
Average	1	0.71	0.61	1	0.72	0.62	1	0.72	0.6	1	0.71	0.62
Min	1	0.66	0.62	1	0.68	0.62	1	0.67	0.62	1	0.65	0.63
Min Max	1	0.65	0.58	1	0.65	0.59	1	0.65	0.56	1	0.65	0.59
Min center	1	0.74	0.62	1	0.75	0.64	1	0.75	0.61	1	0.74	0.63
KNN	1	0.72	0.6	1	0.73	0.62	1	0.72	0.58	1	0.73	0.61
Balanced error	Balaı	iced Accurac	y	Weig	hted Precisio	n	Weigh	ted Sensitivi	ty	Weighted Specificity		
function, Path	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test
Average	1	1	0.77	1	1	0.84	1	1	0.73	1	1	0.82
Min	1	1	0.76	1	1	0.83	1	1	0.71	1	1	0.81
Min Max	1	1	0.79	1	1	0.85	1	1	0.75	1	1	0.83
Min center	1	1	0.78	1	1	0.8	1	1	0.73	1	1	0.8
KNN	1	1	0.69	1	1	0.81	1	1	0.63	1	1	0.75

Table 5.1: Results with the synthetic dataset of the different experiments in the second-order settings for the various inference strategies.

Table 5.2 presents the comparison of the performance using the different frameworks defined in the Chapter. The second-order results with path length information have been obtained with the ideal graph without noise. The foremost point to notice is the greater performance and lesser overfitting of the methods leveraging graph information when resorting to graph with a rewiring probability below 0.4. Although, it is worth mentioning that the second-order metafeatures do not compensate for the noise brought by the graph-based meta-features for the frameworks relying on graph information with p above 0.4. Then, notice that whereas the cluster and the third-order frameworks alone performed similarly, their combination reported

#### Chapter 5. GHOST: Graph Higher-Order Similarity Topologies Learning for 114 Classification

higher results. Besides, additional experiments have been performed with rewiring probabilities p above 0.6. The performance is globally significantly decreased. However, the graph contains as much information as a probability below 1 - p, but the clique structure has been broken. Thus, it shows that complementary graph measures should be investigated to account for different graphical properties.

Third-order only	Balaı	Balanced Accuracy			Weighted Precision			Weighted Sensitivity			Weighted Specificity		
p	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
0.1	0.97	0.91	0.96	0.97	0.92	0.96	0.97	0.92	0.96	0.97	0.91	0.96	
0.2	0.9	0.92	0.91	0.9	0.93	0.92	0.89	0.92	0.9	0.9	0.93	0.92	
0.3	0.59	0.58	0.64	0.78	0.77	0.79	0.61	0.6	0.61	0.63	0.62	0.67	
0.4	0.62	0.62	0.68	0.78	0.78	0.8	0.59	0.58	0.65	0.66	0.65	0.71	
0.5	0.54	0.52	0.48	0.57	0.54	0.48	0.51	0.5	0.46	0.57	0.55	0.5	
Cluster metric only	Balanced Accuracy			Weighted Precision			Weighted Sensitivity			Weighted Specificity			
р	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
0.1	0.97	0.91	0.96	0.97	0.92	0.96	0.97	0.92	0.96	0.97	0.91	0.96	
0.2	0.9	0.92	0.91	0.9	0.93	0.92	0.89	0.92	0.9	0.9	0.93	0.92	
0.3	0.7	0.66	0.64	0.78	0.77	0.79	0.7	0.63	0.61	0.63	0.62	0.67	
0.4	0.61	0.6	0.63	0.76	0.75	0.8	0.6	0.59	0.6	0.67	0.66	0.7	
0.5	0.53	0.48	0.5	0.55	0.47	0.5	0.5	0.47	0.46	0.5	0.49	0.5	
Combination	Balaı	nced Accurac	у	Weig	hted Precisio	n	Weigh	Weighted Sensitivity			ted Specifici	ty	
р	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	Training	Validation	Test	
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	
0.1	0.98	0.91	0.97	0.97	0.92	0.96	0.98	0.92	0.95	0.98	0.91	0.97	
0.2	0.91	0.93	0.91	0.9	0.93	0.92	0.89	0.92	0.9	0.9	0.93	0.92	
0.3	0.71	0.65	0.65	0.79	0.76	0.8	0.71	0.63	0.62	0.62	0.61	0.68	
0.4	0.62	0.62	0.68	0.78	0.78	0.8	0.6	0.59	0.6	0.67	0.66	0.7	
0.5	0.54	0.52	0.48	0.57	0.54	0.48	0.51	0.5	0.46	0.57	0.55	0.5	

Table 5.2: Results on the synthetic dataset of the different higher-order experiments with the distance to center inference strategy.

#### 5.5.2 Covid-19 Dataset

Table 5.3 presents the results of the different frameworks over the Covid-19 dataset and compares them to the results obtained in Chapter 3 denoted by Ensemble. This experiment highlights the interest of considering graph information as it improves the results over the basic framework. Also, it enables to reach performances similar to the ones of an ensembling method over several standard classifiers. Although, the graph extracted from the Covid-19 dataset seems not to favor higher-order graph notions.

## 5.6 Conclusion

This chapter proposed a novel distance learning framework to leverage higher-order information, including cluster-based metrics, towards a dedicated to the task metric definition. Moreover, we demonstrated the value of leveraging graph-based information for classification. In particular, we have highlighted the interest in designing a graphical representation of data to extract structural information. In addition, we studied the relevance of higher-order metrics and experimented several directions to better account for structure in the data. In the future, we aim at

Framework	Balanced Accuracy		Weighted Precision		Weighted	Sensitivity	Weighted Specificity		
	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	
No balanced error	0.65	0.50	0.75	0.7	0.61	0.6	0.66	0.57	
function, No path		0.59	0.75		0.01	0.0	0.00	0.57	
Balanced error	0.67	0.61	0.77	0.74	0.68	0.66	0.65	0.55	
function, No path	0.07	0.01	0.11	0.74	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.00	
Balanced error	0.67	0.71	0.78	0.8	0.60	0.73	0.65	0.60	
function, Path	0.07	0.71	0.78	0.8	0.09	0.75	0.05	0.03	
Combination	0.65	0.67	0.75	0.77	0.68	0.69	0.65	0.67	
Ensemble	0.73	0.7	0.82	0.81	0.67	0.64	0.8	0.77	

Table 5.3: Performance of the different learning frameworks over the Covid-19 dataset. The 3 first rows stand for second-order frameworks with or without the use of a balanced error function and path length information. The fourth row is the higher-order framework combining the second-order, the cluster and the third-order metrics. The last row is the performance of the ensemble of standard classifiers as defined in Chapter 3.

studying other kinds of data with known graphical representations as PPI networks. We also want to study more intricate metrics to better exploit higher-order information, for instance, Mahalanobis distance.

## Chapter 6

# Conclusion

## Contents

6.1 Ma	in Contributions
6.2 Per	spectives and Future Applications
6.2.1	Gene Signature Relevance Exemplification
6.2.2	Treatment Response Prediction
6.2.3	Higher-Order Conditional Random Fields for Proteins 3D Models Sim-
	ilarity Characterization
6.3 Me	dical Graph Generation

### 6.1 Main Contributions

In this thesis, we provided various machine learning approaches using standard algorithms for medical applications. We aimed at developing robust algorithms tailored to tackle several medical field challenges. Moreover, we proved the relevance of graph theory for better leveraging data information and unknown higher-order relations using advanced mathematical tools.

Chapter 3 introduced a thorough end-to-end process to take advantage of medical imaging and clinical information for disease severity characterization, with a main application case to Covid-19. Advanced machine learning ensemble techniques have been proposed for both feature selection and classification tasks. In particular, a robust identification of a low-dimensional feature representation was obtained via the coupling of linear and non-linear feature selection methods with a hierarchical ablation study. We aimed at modelling the relationship between the holistic bio-markers signature and the observed outcomes per application. Besides, towards the creation of a potent ensemble prediction model, we selected for each task generalizable and well-performing state-of-the-art machine learning algorithms. Their combination was achieved through a consensus approach based on a majority voting principle. Our proposed formulation was experimented in three completely different tasks proving its relevance for medical variety of medical data and applications.

In Chapter 4, we proposed a new methodological approach for combining both biological and mathematical metrics for the automatic selection and evaluation of gene clustering. Moreover, we assessed the impact of different clustering algorithms and their optimal combination with different distances, identifying the best strategy for gene signature selection. We applied this approach to design a clinically relevant gene signature for 10 cancer types and subtypes characterization. We demonstrated excellent results for our center-based unsupervised approach outperforming several baselines comparing different algorithms and a knowledge-based signature. We proved the efficiency of our proposed compact signature through a statistical and biological evaluation, tumor samples clustering and classification into types and subtypes.

Chapter 5 elaborated a new higher-order metric algorithm relying on Conditional Random Field energy minimization. Our proposed formulation allowed to handle structural information expressed through higher-order graph properties. We demonstrated higher-order considerations relevance and the strengths of our problem formulation by reporting results surpassing standard classification algorithms reported in Chapter 3. The efficiency and versatility of our novel approach enables to explore and leverage variety of metrics and structural properties.

## 6.2 Perspectives and Future Applications

This thesis presented general machine learning approaches that formulates sound, rigorous and robust methods for feature selection, clustering, classification, and evaluation. We have demonstrated the generalizability potential of our approaches over different application on diverse medical tasks. Our work could be extended in other challenging and exciting research directions.

## 6.2.1 Gene Signature Relevance Exemplification

Towards a better demonstration of the pipeline proposed in Chapter 4, we envision several thrilling leads. An important step is to prove the generalizability of our signature on an external dataset to highlight its expressiveness. Thus, it will extend the comparison we performed with a knowledge-based signature. Besides, as the feature selection process we implemented is unsupervised, another targeted outcome would relevantly complete our signature informativeness assessment.

Another highly clinically relevant topic is to determine metastasis primary sites. metastasis origin is of crucial importance for physicians regarding treatment planning and patients stratification. Therefore, our signature and prediction pipeline would allow characterizing a metastasis cancer type and even subtype while requiring the sequencing of only the 27 genes selected. Thus, we will overcome the two prominent hindrances to wielding gene sequencing routinely by ensuring a far less time-consuming and much cheaper gene expression retrieval. In the same direction, we have established our signature's high correlation to immune response even in an unsupervised setting. Besides, the determination of tissue infiltration and the correlation to T-cells activity is of prime concern for patients' response to treatment, especially in immunotherapy.

Finally, a dynamic research field is aiming at providing a holistic approach relying on multiomics data. A strength of our approach is its modularity and adaptability. Thus, it could be effectively exerted for identifying a common global multi-omics signature by leveraging a general distance between omics information of different kinds, which could, for instance, be learned through the algorithm we define in Chapter 5. In addition, through Protein-Protein Interaction network, we possess an expressive and relevant graph structure to leverage with our higher-order distance learning property. Also, distance-learning interest is to guide clustering with expert knowledge. Thus, we could leverage enrichment in specific biological processes when performing gene clustering or perform a sample clustering reinforced by patient's outcome information.

#### 6.2.2 Treatment Response Prediction

The application scope of our prediction pipeline presented in Chapter 3 and supplemented by the higher-order metric learning formulation of Chapter 5 is vast. The two first applications on breast cancer patients treatment response to a specific drug and on atopic dermatitis severity characterization are presented in Section 3.5-3.6 achieved promising performance. Therefore, more diverse medical fields with different types of information could be investigated using those methods. In particular, we are currently exploring several new leads. For instance, we can report our work on classifying the different sclerosis types from CT scans, on cancer response prediction from microbiota data, or on predicting air trapping for transplant rejection determination using imaging information at 3 different time points. We can finally describe more in detail our work on predicting the response to immunotherapy for cancer patients under radiotherapy. Similar to what we performed on the covid patients dataset in Chapter 3, we isolated 3 different areas on the CT scans (heart, lungs, tumor) to better leverage the whole image volume information. Some preliminary results prove our approach's robustness despite the difficulty of the task and without using any clinical information. We report balanced accuracy of 62%, precision of 53%, sensitivity of 53%, and specificity of 71% on the test set for pCR response.

An exciting area of research we would like to investigate more in-depth is deep radiomics. We are currently involved in leveraging an encoder's latent space used on the covid patients database for segmenting the disease lesions in the lungs. Then, we identified informative deep features and managed promising results on staging patients according to their disease severity by applying our feature selection technique. More specifically, we achieved performance comparable with the ones obtained with classical features reporting 68% balanced accuracy, 79% weighted precision, 72% weighted sensitivity, and 64% weighted specificity. We finally performed the outcome prediction between intubated and deceased patients and the global prediction of non-severe, intubated, and deceased patients and the global prediction of non-severe, intubated, and deceased patients and obtained high performance. On intubated/deceased predictions, we managed 88% balanced accuracy, 94% weighted precision, 94% weighted sensitivity, and 81% weighted specificity. On non-severe/intubated/deceased predictions we reached 65% balanced accuracy, 78% weighted precision, 71% weighted sensitivity and 66% weighted specificity.

## 6.2.3 Higher-Order Conditional Random Fields for Proteins 3D Models Similarity Characterization

A significant challenge in designing immunotherapy is to account for the large variability of possible proteomics profiles of both the particular cancer to treat and the patient's healthy cells. Indeed, there are many protein candidates for such a therapy. Determining the most efficient and with the least harmful side-effects is a very challenging task. A variety of approaches have been proposed [Iakhiaev, 2010] to select the best candidates thanks to cross-reactivity determination and decrease the number of fruitless, expensive, and time-consuming white lab experiments and clinical trials. However, most of the methods tackling this task rely on the protein sequences, which fail to consider the protein's spatial structure and experimental information. To address this problem, we investigated machine learning and computer vision methods to determine similarities between pairs of molecules according to both biological information and proteins' spatial

conformation while not relying on any costly experimental information.

We first considered 29 different HLA proteins that have been studied in [Antunes, 2011] and for which we have a ground truth dendrogram characterizing the experimentally established similarity between proteins. The similarity between the proteins of this dataset was assessed both experimentally by assessing the cross-reactivity to a reference dataset and then using a novel method studying, in particular, the properties of the surface of the molecules' 3D representations. This first dataset was used as a training dataset to select the most relevant features, distance metrics, and algorithm hyperparameters. Graph matching techniques aim to use both graph structure information and some features on a graph's nodes to establish a mapping between the nodes of two different graphs. Here, we consider as graphs meshes on the proteins structures, the nodes being the atoms of the molecule, and the edges characterizing the atoms' spatial proximity. We leveraged different chemical information to characterize the similarity between atoms like chirality, charge, atom symbol, residue it belongs to, number of chemical neighbors, hybridization, or aromaticity. Besides, we consider the relative distance between two pairs of atoms to characterize the higher-order similarity between edges. The algorithm's objective is then to maximize the similarity between matched atoms and between the edges of the matched atoms. This objective function is then used to characterize the similarity between the two molecules and can be expressed with the following formula: With A the set of possible assignments from one molecule to the other (pairs of nodes that can be matched), N the set of neighbors  $(a = (p, p') \in A)$ and  $b = (q, q') \in A$  are neighbors iff p and q on one hand and p' and q' on the other hand are spatially close enough in their respective molecules),  $\theta_a$  and  $\theta_{ab}$  are respectively unary and second-order similarities:

$$\theta_{a} = \log(1 + \sqrt{1 - PearsonCorrelation(v_{p}, v'_{p})})$$
  
$$\theta_{ab} = \log(1 + Norm(Euclidean(p, q) - Euclidean(p', q')))$$

With Norm being a Min-Max normalization to obtain values in [0, 1] comparable to the Pearson's correlation used in  $\theta_a$ . In particular, we used an optimization framework from [Torresani, 2012], relying on an energy minimization scheme similar to the one used in Conditional Random Field (CRF) frameworks. The problem is then solved by relaxation and problem decomposition. It would be an interesting perspective to adapt this approach to the one we have design towards metric learning and relying on similar notions. The matching scores obtained through this method could be used as a distance matrix to perform hierarchical clustering aiming at proteins similarity characterization through a dendrogram or a similarity ranking to a reference.

Promising results for the training set of 29 different HLA proteins have been obtained. We achieved a balanced accuracy of 0.83 for the separation of high, low, and without cross-reactivity molecules, indicating our method's great potential. This task offers a valuable application possi-

bility for higher-order distance learning. Indeed, an intrinsic graphical structure is available, and we have shown with the previously described experiment the relevance of considering higher-order information for proteins.

## 6.3 Medical Graph Generation

A determining limitation by design of the approach we highlighted in Chapter 5 is the quality of the graph we design when relying on data without a natural graphical representation. The presence of noisy information or the lack of a higher-order structure might hamper the prediction performance of our framework. However, many models exist to generate graphs [Agnarsson, 2006]. Several specific graphs have been studied in social science, as the internet, citations, or co-authorship graphs. These studies enabled identifying essential properties of those graphs and techniques to model graphs with such characteristics. For instance, to represent social networks, several utterly referential techniques exist as Barabási–Albert model [Albert, 2002], Erdős–Rényi model [Erdős, 1960] or Watts-Strogatz networks [Watts, 1998]. Even though already highly active, the field of medical graphs is still at its beginnings and crucial discriminative characteristics have still to be investigated.

## Appendix A

## Appendix

## A.1 Appendix: Chapter 3

Another highly promising approach to better leverage medical data for classification is the TPOT [Olson, 2016] approach which aims to automatically determine the most efficient pipeline to process data from the preprocessing and the feature selection to the actual prediction. This task is very similar to what we proposed in this chapter for Cvoid-19 staging. Thus, Table A.1 offers a comparison to the results obtained when applying the TPOT framework on the N/NS classification with the same training/test splits. We performed this experiment at full scale allowing 20 generations, a population size of 200 a 10-fold cross-validation and we scored the results through balanced accuracy, our reference metric for optimization. We report better results with our proposed ensemble method than with the automatically generated pipeline. In particular, we observe an overfitting on the training set performance. This overfitting was reduced with less iterations however, testing results where strongly impaired.

Table A.1: Performance for the Severe (S) and Non-Severe (NS) short-term outcome for each of the top-5 selected classifiers and their ensemble presented in Section 5. Note: L-SVM = Support Vector Machine with a linear kernel; RBF-SVM = Support Vector Machine with a Radial Basis Function kernel.

	Balanced		Weight	ed	Weight	ed	Weighted	
Classifier	Accuracy		Pecisio	n	Sensiti	vity	Specificity	
	Train	Test	Train	Test	Train	Test	Train	Test
L-SVM	0.7	0.67	0.79	0.78	0.71	0.71	0.69	0.64
RBF-SVM	0.75	0.68	0.82	0.79	0.7	0.67	0.79	0.7
Decision	0.71	0.67	0.85	0.82	0.61	0.53	0.81	0.81
Tree		0.07	0.82					
Random	0.72	0.68	0.81	0.70	0.60	0.60	0.75	0.68
Forest	0.12	0.08	0.01	0.19	0.09	0.09	0.75	0.08
AdaBoost	0.72	0.67	0.83	0.82	0.63	0.54	0.82	0.81
Ensemble	0.73	0.7	0.82	0.81	0.67	0.64	0.8	0.77
Classifier	0.75	0.7	0.82	0.01	0.07	0.04	0.8	0.77
ТРОТ	0.84	0.64	0.87	0.76	0.82	0.71	0.84	0.66
Framework	0.04	0.04	0.07	0.70	0.62	0.71	0.04	0.00

	Balanced		Weight	ed	Weight	ed	Weighted	
Classifier	Accuracy		Pecisio	n	Sensiti	vity	Specificity	
	Train	Test	Train	Test	Train	Test	Train	Test
P-SVM	0.88	0.7	0.89	0.76	0.84	0.74	0.92	0.67
Decision	0.0	0.00	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.88	0.81
Tree	0.9	0.88	0.92	0.34	0.52	0.34	0.00	0.01
Random	0.0	0.81	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.0	0.88	0.81
Forest	0.9	0.81	0.92	0.51	0.32	0.3	0.00	0.01
AdaBoost	0.9	0.88	0.92	0.94	0.92	0.94	0.88	0.81
Gaussian	0.05	0.77	0.06	0.82	0.06	0.84	0.04	0.7
Process	0.95	0.77	0.90	0.85	0.90	0.84	0.94	0.7
Ensemble	0.0	0.88	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.88	0.81
Classifier	0.9	0.00	0.92	0.94	0.92	0.94	0.00	0.01

Table A.2: Performance for the Intubated (SI) and Deceased (SD) patients in the short-term outcome outcome for each of the top-5 selected classifiers and their ensemble. Note: P-SVM = Support Vector Machine with a polynomial kernel.

## A.2 Appendix: Chapter 4

We detail below 27 genes of our proposed signature and their main functions. We also provide a brief summary of the analysis obtained using GTEx Portal on July 2020 (www.gtexportal.org):

- HSFX1: DNA binding transcription, GTEx: Overexpressed in brain cerebellum and cerebellar hemisphere and ovary tissues
- C3P1: endopeptidase inhibitor activity, GTEx: Highly overexpressed in liver tissues
- CCDC30: Coiled-Coil Domain, GTEx: Slightly overexpressed in all brain tissues
- CNRIP1: cannabinoid receptor, GTEx: Particularly expressed in many tissues and in particular all brain tissues
- CD53: regulation of cell development GTEx: Highly expressed in blood and lymphocytes
- SPRR4: UV-induced cornification, GTEx: more expressed in sun exposed tissues particularly skin
- RIF1: DNA repair, GTEx: expressed in many tissues including heart, blood lymphocytes and brain
- COL1A2: collagen making, GTEx: highly overexpressed in cultured fibroblasts

- ZNF767: gene expression, GTEx: highly expressed in several tissues including uterus, vagina, ovary, brain cerebellum and cerebellar hemisphere
- CD3E: antigen recognition (linked to immunodeficiency), GTEx: more expressed in whole blood tissues
- MATR3: nucleic acid binding and nucleotide binding, GTEx: highly expressed in several tissues including uterus, vagina, ovary and brain
- NCAPH: Cell Cycle, Mitotic and Mitotic Prometaphase, GTEx: highly expressed in EBVtransformed lymphocytes and on a smaller extend in cultured fibroblasts
- ASH1L: transcriptional activators, GTEx: expressed in many tissues including heart, blood lymphocytes, uterus, vagina, ovary and brain
- ANKRD30A: DNA-binding transcription factor activity (related to breast cancer), GTEx: more expressed in breast mammary tissues
- GNA15: among its related pathways are CREB Pathway and Integration of energy metabolism, GTEx: especially overexpressed in oesophagus mucosa
- GADD45GIP1: Among its related pathways are Mitochondrial translation and Organelle biogenesis and maintenance, GTEx: expressed in many tissues slightly overexpressed in cultured fibroblasts
- CD302: cell adhesion and migration, GTEx: especially overexpressed in lung and liver tissues
- SFTA3: Among its related pathways are Surfactant metabolism and Diseases of metabolism, GTEx: Overexpressed in Lung and thyroid
- C1orf159: Protein Coding gene, GTEx: especially overexpressed in testis
- RPS8: Among its related pathways are Viral mRNA Translation and Activation of the mRNA upon binding of the cap-binding complex and eIFs, and subsequent binding to 43S, GTEx: especially overexpressed in ovary tissues
- ZEB2: Among its related pathways are MicroRNAs in cancer and TGF-beta Receptor Signaling, GTEx: especially overexpressed in spinal cord (c-1) and tibial nerve
- GSX1: sequence-specific DNA binding and proximal promoter DNA-binding transcription activator activity, RNA polymerase II-specific, GTEx: especially expressed in hypothalamus
- ADNP: Vasoactive intestinal peptide is a neuroprotective factor that has a stimulatory effect on the growth of some tumor cells and an inhibitory effect on other, GTEx: overexpressed in quantity of tissues, especially so in EBV-transformed lymphocytes, testis, ovary and uterus
- CLIP3: plays a role in T cell apoptosis by facilitating the association of tubulin and the lipid raft ganglioside GD3, GTEx: expressed in many tissues slightly overexpressed in EBV-transformed lymphocytes
- YEATS2: Among its related pathways are Chromatin organization, GTEx: expressed in many tissues overexpressed in EBV-transformed lymphocytes
- ACBD4: Among its related pathways are Metabolism and Peroxisomal lipid metabolism, GTEx: expressed in many tissues overexpressed in liver, thyroid, uterus and vagina
- SNRPG: Among its related pathways are mRNA Splicing Minor Pathway and Transport of the SLBP independent Mature mRNA, GTEx: expressed in many tissues strongly overexpressed in EBV-transformed lymphocytes and cultured fibroblasts

In Table A.3 we present the training/ validation results of the different classifiers using the LP-Stability and our proposed signature. Moreover, in Table A.4, we present the results for the training/ test tumor classification results for our proposed signature. The table reports the performance of the selected algorithms together with the voting (ensemble) classifier.

Table A.3: **Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Proposed Signature** Training-Validation tumor types classification performance using the proposed signature (27 genes). Voting Classifier is composed of classifiers having reached a balanced accuracy above 80% on validation.

Classifior	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted	Sensitivity (%)	Weighted Specificity (%)	
Classifier	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Training	Validation
Nearest Neighbors	88	79	92	86	92	85	97	95
Linear SVM	91	88	91	90	89	89	99	99
poly SVM	98	91	97	92	96	92	100	99
sigmoid SVM	55	50	70	67	50	49	94	94
RBF SVM	98	89	96	91	96	90	100	98
Gaussian Process	96	90	97	94	97	93	99	98
Decision Tree	68	66	85	38	47	45	94	94
Random Forest	93	89	94	92	92	90	99	99
MLP	100	87	100	92	100	92	100	98
AdaBoost	72	64	81	75	74	70	98	95
Gaussian Naive Bayes	32	32	69	61	58	58	69	69
Bernouilli Naive Bayes	59	59	75	71	74	75	90	91
QDA	71	67	87	82	78	76	98	98
XGBoosting	100	88	100	93	100	92	100	98
Voting Classifier	99	92	98	94	98	94	100	99

Tables A.5 and A.6 we summarise the performances for the signature presented in [Thorsson, 2018]. Using the referential algorithm [28] only three classifiers were selected and used for the tumor classification, reporting also lower performance.

Table A.4: **Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Proposed Signature** Training-Test tumor types classification performance using the proposed signature (27 genes) after retraining on entire Training-Validation set

Classifier	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted Sensitivity (%)		Weighted Specificity (%)	
	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test
Linear SVM	91	89	91	90	89	88	99	98
poly SVM	98	87	97	89	97	88	100	98
RBF SVM	98	88	97	90	97	88	100	99
Gaussian Process	95	88	97	92	97	92	99	98
Random Forest	92	90	93	92	91	90	99	99
MLP	100	87	100	90	100	89	100	98
XGBoosting	100	91	100	94	100	94	100	98
Voting Classifier	99	92	99	94	98	93	100	99

Table A.5: **Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Referential Signature [Thorsson, 2018]** Training-Validation tumor types classification performance using the referential signature (78 genes). Voting Classifier is composed of classifiers having reached a balanced accuracy above 80% on validation and presenting a difference of balanced accuracy between training and validation below 20%.

Classifior	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted Sensitivity (%)		Weighted Specificity (%)	
Classifier	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Training	Validation
Nearest Neighbors	85	70	87	72	86	72	97	95
Linear SVM	88	83	87	84	86	84	98	98
poly SVM	94	78	94	79	93	78	99	97
sigmoid SVM	53	55	59	58	46	48	94	94
RBF SVM	99	80	99	82	99	82	100	97
Gaussian Process	95	86	96	88	96	88	99	98
Decision Tree	50	45	54	46	54	52	90	90
Random Forest	78	75	77	75	75	73	97	96
Neural Net	100	80	100	80	100	80	100	97
AdaBoost	54	52	54	56	53	55	93	93
Gaussian Naive Bayes	30	31	56	48	41	41	83	84
Bernouill Naive Bayes	29	27	37	31	37	35	84	85
QDA	78	65	84	73	83	73	97	96
Gradient Boosting	99	76	100	82	100	82	100	97
Voting Classifier	99	87	99	88	99	88	100	98

Table A.6: **Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Referential Signature** [28] Training-Test tumor types classification performance using the referential signature (78 genes) after retraining on entire Training-Validation set

Classifier	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted Sensitivity (%)		Weighted Specificity (%)	
	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test
Linear SVM	88	82	87	81	86	81	98	98
RBF SVM	99	80	99	81	99	81	100	97
Gaussian Process	95	83	95	83	95	83	99	97
Voting Classifier	100	85	100	89	100	89	100	98

Tables A.7 and A.8 present the performances for the random signature. Using the random signature only two classifiers were selected, fulfilling the used criteria. This signature reports the lowest performance compared to the other two signatures.

Table A.7: **Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Random Signatures** Training-Validation tumor types classification average performance over 10 random signatures (27 genes each). Voting Classifier is composed of classifiers having reached a balanced accuracy above 80% on validation.

Classifier	Balanced	Accuracy (%)	Weighted	Precision (%)	Weighted	Sensitivity (%)	Weighted	Specificity (%)
Classifier	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Training	Validation	Training	Validation
Nearest Neighbors	83+/-2	71 + / -3	84+/-1	72 + / -2	83+/-2	72+/-3	97+/-1	95+/-1
Linear SVM	8+/-1	78 + / -2	78+/-1	77 + / -2	77 + / -2	75 + / -2	97+/-0	97+/-0
poly SVM	94+/-1	79+/-2	93+/-2	78 + / -2	92 + / -2	78+/-2	99+/-0	97+/-0
sigmoid SVM	39+/-6	37+/-7	55 + / -4	56 + / -5	34 + / -6	34+/-6	94+/-1	94+/-1
RBF SVM	9+/-1	8+/-2	88+/-2	8+/-2	88+/-2	8+/-2	98+/-0	97+/-0
Gaussian Process	89+/-1	81+/-2	89+/-1	81+/-2	89+/-1	81+/-2	98+/-0	97+/-0
Decision Tree	49+/-4	48 + / -5	55+/-14	41+/-11	41+/-9	4+/-9	92+/-2	92+/-2
Random Forest	76+/-2	75 + / -3	75+/-2	73 + / -3	73+/-2	71+/-3	97+/-0	96+/- 0
Neural Net	99+/-1	76 + / -2	99+/-1	76 + / -2	99+/-1	76+/-2	100+/-0	96+/-0
AdaBoost	56+/-5	53 + / -5	57+/-4	55 + / -5	53 + / -6	51 + / -7	93+/-1	93+/-1
Gaussian Naive Bayes	26+/-6	28 + / -7	57+/-6	55 + / -8	41 + / -5	42 + / -6	81+/-3	81+/-4
Bernouilli Naive Bayes	28+/-7	28+/-7	42+/-4	34 + / -8	38 + / -5	38+/-5	86+/-3	86+/-3
QDA	60+/-11	57 + / -10	69+/-6	65 + / -6	50+/-15	48+/-14	95+/-1	95+/-1
Gradient Boosting	100 + / - 0	78 + / -3	100+/-0	80+/-2	100 + / - 0	80+/-2	100+/-0	97+/-0
Voting Classifier	94+/-1	83+/-2	93+/-1	82 + / -2	93 + / -1	82+/-2	99+/-0	98+/-1

Table A.8: **Predictive Power: Tumor Types, Random Signatures** Training-Test tumor types classification average performance over 10 random signatures (27 genes each) after retraining entire Training-Validation set

Classifior	Balanced Accuracy (%)		Weighted Precision (%)		Weighted Sensitivity (%)		Weighted Specificity (%)	
Classifier	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test	Training	Test
RBF SVM	90+/-1	79+/-2	88+/-2	79+/-1	88+/-2	78 + / -2	98 + / - 0	97+/-0
Gaussian Process	89+/-1	80+/-1	89+/-1	80+/-1	89+/-1	81+/-1	98 + / - 0	97+/-0
Voting Classifier	96+/-5	84+/-2	95 + / -5	87+/-3	94+/-7	86 + / -4	99+/-1	97+/-1

### A.3 Appendix: Chapter 5

### A.3.1 Optimizing over $\{\hat{x}^{k,p}\}$

For a fixed p.

$$\begin{split} \bar{E}_{p}^{k}(x,w) &= \sum_{p,q\neq p} \bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(x_{p,q}) + \sum_{p,p',q\neq p} \bar{u}_{p,p',q}^{k}(x_{p,q}x_{p',q}) + \sum_{q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) \\ &- \frac{\beta}{|V^{k}|} + \sum_{q} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}|+1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}) + \sum_{p'} \bar{u}_{q,p',q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}x_{p',q}^{k})) + \lambda_{p,q}x_{q,q}\right) \\ &= \sum_{p,q\neq p} \bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(1)x_{p,q} + \sum_{p,p',q\neq p} \bar{u}_{p,p',q}^{k}(1)x_{p,q}x_{p',q} + \sum_{q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) \\ &- \frac{\beta}{|V^{k}|} + \sum_{q} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}|+1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1)x_{q,q}^{k} + \sum_{p'} \bar{u}_{q,p',q}^{k}(1)x_{q,q}^{k}x_{p',q}^{k}) + \lambda_{p,q}x_{q,q}\right) \\ &= \sum_{p,q\neq p} (\bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(1) + \sum_{p,p',q\neq p} \bar{u}_{p,p',q}^{k}(1)x_{p',q})x_{p,q} + \sum_{q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) - \frac{\beta}{|V^{k}|} \\ &+ \sum_{q} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}|+1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1) + \sum_{p'} \bar{u}_{q,p',q}^{k}(1)x_{p',q}^{k}) + \lambda_{p,q}x_{q,q}\right) \end{split}$$
(A.1)

We still have here a complex CRF energy to minimize. To solve this problem in general settings we could use a replacement strategy leveraging the binary nature of the variables as proposed in [Fix, 2011]. However, it would lead to a costly optimization which would hinder the tractability of the whole framework. Thus, we exploit the particularity of our distance learning task and impose a positivity constraint over the distance. Thus,  $\forall p, p', q, \ \bar{u}_{p,p',q}^k(1) > 0$  and we have no constraint on  $x_{p',q}$ , then, fixing  $\forall p' \neq p, q, \ x_{p',q} = 0$  will decrease the objective function. So, it come down to:

$$\min_{x} \bar{E}_{p}^{k}(x,w) = \min_{x} \left( \sum_{p} \sum_{q \neq p} (\bar{u}_{p,q}^{k}(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^{k}(1)x_{q,q} + \bar{u}_{p,p,q}^{k}(1))x_{p,q} + \sum_{q} \bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) + \bar{\phi}_{p}(x_{p}) - \frac{\beta}{|V^{k}|} + \sum_{q} \left( \frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^{k}(1)) + \lambda_{p,q})x_{q,q} \right)$$
(A.2)

Minimizing  $\bar{E}_p^k(x,w)$  requires the constraints  $\bar{\phi}_p(x_p) = 0$  and  $\bar{\phi}_{p,q}(x_{p,q}) = 0$  as the alternative is an infinite cost. It imposes there exists one and only one q such that  $x_{p,q} = 1$  and for that  $q, x_{q,q} = 1$ . Thus,  $\forall q$ , if we denote  $\theta_q^k = \frac{\bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1)}{|V^k| + 1} + \lambda_{p,q}$  and  $\bar{\theta}_q^k = [\theta_q^k]_+ + \bar{u}_{p,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1)$  with  $[z]_+ = max(0, z)$ , the terms containing  $x_{q,q}$  are  $(u_{p,q,q}x_{p,q} + \theta_q^k)x_{q,q}$ . Then, to decrease our objective function, we have to set  $x_{q,q} = 1$  if  $\theta_q^k < 0$  and the cost  $u_{p,q,q}$ will only be paid if p is assigned to q. Regarding this assignment, the cost of  $x_{p,q} = 1$  will be minimal iff  $q = \arg\min\bar{\theta}_q^k$  where the term  $[\theta_q^k]_+$  accounts for the extra cost of satisfying  $x_{p,q} = 1 \implies x_{q,q} = 1$  will entail if  $x_{q,q}$  did not verify  $\theta_q^k < 0$  and so would have been set to 0.

#### Lemma 9

$$\hat{x}_{q,q}^{p} = [\theta_{q}^{k} < 0]$$

$$\hat{x}_{p,q}^{p} = [q = \bar{q}] \text{ where } \bar{q} = \arg\min_{q}(\bar{\theta}_{q}^{k})$$
(A.3)

with  $\theta_q^k = \frac{\bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1)}{|V^k| + 1} + \lambda_{p,q} \text{ and } \bar{\theta}_q^k = [\theta_q^k]_+ + \bar{u}_{p,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{p,p,q}^k(1)$ 

### A.3.2 Optimizing over $\{\hat{x}^{k,C}\}$

For a fixed C.

$$\bar{E}_{C}^{k}(x,w) = \bar{\phi}_{C}(x_{C}) + \sum_{q \in C} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}) + \sum_{p'} \bar{u}_{q,p',q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}x_{p',q})) + \lambda_{C} x_{C}\right)$$
(A.4)

As previously, for a better tractability we will enforce the positivity constraint on our distance, so  $\forall p' \neq q, x_{p',q} = 0$  as  $\bar{u}_{q,p',q}^k > 0$  and we have no constraint over  $x_{p',q}$  when  $p' \neq q$ .

Regarding  $x_{q,q}$ , we consider two cases:

(i)  $\forall q \in C, \ \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} = 0$ . Then, the optimal energy is  $OPT_1 = -\alpha \mid C^k \mid$ .

(ii)  $\exists q, \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} = 1$ . Then:

$$\begin{split} \bar{E}_{C}^{k}(x,w) &= \bar{\phi}_{C}(x_{C}) + \sum_{q \in C} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k}) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^{k}(x_{q,q}^{k})) + \lambda_{C} x_{C} \right) \\ &= \sum_{q \in C} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} ((\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^{k}(1)) x_{q,q}^{k}) + \lambda_{C_{q}} x_{C}) - \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|) (\sum_{q \in C} x_{q,q}^{k} - 1) \\ &= \sum_{q \in C} \left(\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^{k}(1)) + \lambda_{C_{q}} - \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|) x_{q,q}^{k} + \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|) \right) \end{split}$$

In this case,  $\forall q \in C$ ,

$$\hat{x}_{q,q} = 1 \iff \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1) + \lambda_{C_q} - \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|) < 0$$

i.e.

$$\hat{x}_{q,q} = \left[\frac{1}{|V^k| + 1}(\bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1)) + \lambda_{C_q} < \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|)\right]$$

And, in this case, the optimal energy is

$$OPT_2 = \sum_{q \in C} \left[ \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1)) + \lambda_{C_q} - \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|) \right]_{-} + \alpha(|V^k| - |C^k|)$$

with  $[z]_{-} = min(0, z)$ .

Finally, the second case holds true iff

$$OPT_{2} < OPT_{1}$$

$$\iff \sum_{q \in C} [\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^{k}(1)) + \lambda_{C_{q}} - \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|)]_{-} + \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|) < -\alpha |C^{k}|$$

$$\iff \sum_{q \in C} [\frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\bar{u}_{q,q}^{k}(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^{k}(1)) + \lambda_{C_{q}} - \alpha(|V^{k}| - |C^{k}|)]_{-} + \alpha |V^{k}| < 0$$

**Lemma 10** For fixed  $C \in \mathcal{C}^k$ , let  $\theta_q^k = \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} \bar{u}_{q,q}^k(1) + \bar{u}_{q,q,q}^k(1) + \lambda_{C_q}, \forall q \in C$ . A minimizer  $\hat{x}^C$  of  $\bar{E}_C^k(x, w, \lambda^k)$  is given by

$$\forall q \in C, \ \hat{x}_{q,q}^{C} = \begin{cases} \ [\theta_{q}^{k} < \alpha(\mid V^{k} \mid - \mid C^{k} \mid)], \ if \ \sum_{q' \in C} [\theta_{q}^{k} - \alpha(\mid V^{k} \mid - \mid C^{k} \mid)]_{-} + \alpha \mid V^{k} \mid < 0 \\ 0 \ otherwise \end{cases}$$

with  $[z]_{-} = min(0, z)$ 

### A.3.3 Optimizing over $\lambda$ and w

These updates are defined from subgradients of the objective function. We compute the partial derivatives of each subproblem's hinge loss. We denote by  $\hat{x}^{k,p}$  and  $\hat{x}^{k,C}$  binary minimizers of

energies  $\bar{E}_p^k(x, w)$  and  $\bar{E}_C^k(x, w)$ .

$$\begin{split} \delta w^{k,p} &= \sum_{p',q\neq p} x_{p,q}^k x_{p',q}^k f_{p,p',q}^k + \sum_{q\neq p} x_{p,q}^k f_{p,q}^k + \sum_q \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} (x_{q,q}^k f_{q,q}^k + \sum_{p'} x_{q,q}^k x_{p',q}^k f_{qp',q}^k) - \\ &\quad (\sum_{q\neq p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,p} f_{p,p',q}^k + \sum_{q\neq p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} f_{p,q}^k + \sum_q \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} (\hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} f_{q,q}^k + \sum_{p'} \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,p} f_{qp',q}^k)) \\ \delta w^{k,C} &= \sum_q \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} (x_{q,q}^k f_{q,q}^k + \sum_{p'} x_{q,q}^k x_{p',q}^k f_{qp',q}^k) - \sum_q \frac{1}{|V^k| + 1} (\hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} f_{q,q}^k + \sum_{p'} \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,C} f_{qp',q}^k) \\ \delta \lambda^{k,p} &= x_{q,q}^k - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} \\ \delta \lambda^{k,C} &= x_{q,q}^k - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} \end{split}$$

$$(A.5)$$

Thus, we have the update:

$$\delta w = \tau \nabla J(w) + \sum_{k} (\sum_{p} \delta w^{k,p} + \sum_{C} \delta w^{k,C})$$
  
=  $\tau \nabla J(w) + \sum_{k} \delta^{k} w$  (A.6)

with:

$$\delta_{w}^{k} = \sum_{p,p',q} x_{p,q}^{k} x_{p',q}^{k} f_{p,p',q}^{k} + \sum_{q} x_{p,q}^{k} f_{p,q}^{k} - (\sum_{q \neq p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,p} f_{p,p',q}^{k} + \sum_{q \neq p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} f_{p,q}^{k} + \sum_{q} \frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\hat{X}_{q}^{k} f_{q,q}^{k} + \sum_{p'} \hat{X}_{p',q}^{k} f_{qp',q}^{k}))$$
(A.7)

with  $\hat{X}_{q}^{k} = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} + \sum_{p} \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p}$  and  $\hat{X}_{p',q}^{k} = \sum_{p} \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,p} + \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,C}$ 

Finally, to obtain an acceptable solution  $\lambda$  we need to project on set  $\Lambda$ . To that purpose, we simply have to substract by  $\frac{\lambda^{k,C} + \sum_p \lambda^{k,p}}{|V^k| + 1} = x_{q,q}^k - \frac{\hat{X}_q^k}{|V^k| + 1}$ . Thus, we have to update w and  $\lambda$  with the following formulas:

**Lemma 11** Let  $s_t$  be the weight accorded to the optimization at step t. We define  $\hat{X}_q^k = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} + \sum_p \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p}$  and  $\hat{X}_{p',q}^k = \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,P} + \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,C}$ . Then, update reduces to:

$$w = s_t (\tau \nabla J(w) + \sum_k \delta_w^k)$$

$$\lambda_{p,q}^k = s_t (\frac{\hat{X}_q^k}{|V^k| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,p})$$

$$\lambda_{p,q}^k = s_t (\frac{\hat{X}_q^k}{|V^k| + 1} - \hat{x}_{q,q}^{k,C})$$
(A.8)

where

$$\delta_{w}^{k} = \sum_{p,p',q} x_{p,q}^{k} x_{p',q}^{k} f_{p,p',q}^{k} + \sum_{p,q} x_{p,q}^{k} f_{p,q}^{k} - (\sum_{p',q \neq p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} \hat{x}_{p',q}^{k,p} f_{p,p',q}^{k} + \sum_{q \neq p} \hat{x}_{p,q}^{k,p} f_{p,q}^{k} + \sum_{q \neq p} \frac{1}{|V^{k}| + 1} (\hat{X}_{q}^{k} f_{q,q}^{k} + \sum_{p'} \hat{X}_{p',q}^{k} f_{qp',q}^{k}))$$
(A.9)

## Appendix B

# Glossary

Bias errors the model will commit because of simplifying assumptions. 15, 17, 18, 32

- BLCA BLadder CAncer. xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 86, 88, 89
- BRCA BReast CAncer. ix, x, xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85–90
- CESC CErvical Squamous Cell carcinoma. xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85-89
- **Clique** a subset of vertices of a graph such that every two distinct vertices in the clique are adjacent. 2
- **CRF** Conditional Random Field. 6
- **GBM** GBlioblastoma Multiforme. ix, x, xii, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85, 86, 88
- GLDM Gray-Level Dependence Matrix. xi, 42, 43, 55
- GLRLM Gray-Level Run Length Matrix. xi, 42, 43, 53, 55
- GLSZM Gray-Level Size Zone. 42, 43, 54
- HNSC Head-Neck Squamous Cell carcinoma. xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85, 86, 88, 89
- LIHC LIver Hepatocellular Carcinoma. ix, x, xii, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85, 86, 89
- LUAD LUng ADenocarcinoma. ix, x, xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85, 86, 88
- LUSC LUng Squamous Cell carcinoma. ix, x, xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85, 86, 88, 89
- Medoid the sample the closest to the cluster center. 72
- **OV** OVarian cancer. xii, 72, 75, 76, 82, 83, 85–89
- **READ** REctum ADenocarcinoma. xii, 75, 76, 82, 83, 88, 89
- Variance the variation the estimate function will incur under small fluctuations of the training data. 12, 16, 17

# Bibliography

[Abadi, 2016]	Martín Abadi, Ashish Agarwal, Paul Barham, Eugene Brevdo, Zhifeng Chen, et al. "TensorFlow: Large-Scale Machine Learning on Heterogeneous Distributed Systems". In: <i>CoRR</i> abs/1603.04467 (2016). arXiv: 1603.04467 (cit. on p. 44).
[Agnarsson, 2006]	Geir Agnarsson and Raymond Greenlaw. <i>Graph theory: Modeling, applications, and algorithms.</i> Prentice-Hall, Inc., 2006 (cit. on p. 122).
[Ai, 2020]	Tao Ai, Zhenlu Yang, Hongyan Hou, Chenao Zhan, Chong Chen, Wenzhi Lv, Qian Tao, Ziyong Sun, and Liming Xia. "Correlation of Chest CT and RT-PCR Testing for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in China: A Report of 1014 Cases". In: <i>Radiology</i> 296.2 (Aug. 2020), E32–E40 (cit. on p. 5).
[Albert, 2002]	Réka Albert and Albert-László Barabási. "Statistical mechanics of complex networks". In: <i>Reviews of modern physics</i> 74.1 (2002), p. 47 (cit. on p. 122).
[Alon, 1999]	Uri Alon, Naama Barkai, Daniel A Notterman, Kurt Gish, Suzanne Ybarra, Daniel Mack, and Arnold J Levine. "Broad patterns of gene expression revealed by cluster- ing analysis of tumor and normal colon tissues probed by oligonucleotide arrays". In: <i>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</i> 96.12 (1999), pp. 6745–6750 (cit. on p. 1).
[Alshabi, 2019]	Ali Mohamed Alshabi, Basavaraj Vastrad, Ibrahim Ahmed Shaikh, and Chanabasayya Vastrad. "Identification of Crucial Candidate Genes and Pathways in Glioblastoma Multiform by Bioinformatics Analysis". In: <i>Biomolecules</i> 9.5 (May 2019), p. 201 (cit. on p. 86).
[Anonym, 2020]	Anonym. "Rapid outbreak response requires trust". In: Nature Microbiology 5.2 (Jan. 2020), pp. 227–228 (cit. on p. 5).
[Ansell, 2015]	Stephen M Ansell. "Hodgkin lymphoma: diagnosis and treatment". In: <i>Mayo Clinic Proceedings</i> . Vol. 90. 11. Elsevier. 2015, pp. 1574–1583 (cit. on p. 4).
[Anthimopoulos, 2016]	Marios Anthimopoulos, Stergios Christodoulidis, Lukas Ebner, Andreas Christe, and Stavroula Mougiakakou. "Lung pattern classification for interstitial lung diseases using a deep convolutional neural network". In: <i>IEEE transactions on medical imaging</i> 35.5 (2016), pp. 1207–1216 (cit. on p. 34).
[Anthimopoulos, 2018]	Marios Anthimopoulos, Stergios Christodoulidis, Lukas Ebner, Thomas Geiser, Andreas Christe, and Stavroula Mougiakakou. "Semantic segmentation of pathological lung tissue with dilated fully convolutional networks". In: <i>IEEE journal of biomedical and health informatics</i> 23.2 (2018), pp. 714–722 (cit. on pp. 35, 40, 44).
[Antunes, 2011]	Dinler A Antunes, Maurício M Rigo, Jader P Silva, Samuel P Cibulski, Marialva Sini- gaglia, José AB Chies, and Gustavo F Vieira. "Structural in silico analysis of cross- genotype-reactivity among naturally occurring HCV NS3-1073-variants in the context of HLA-A* 02: 01 allele". In: <i>Molecular immunology</i> 48.12-13 (2011), pp. 1461–1467 (cit. on p. 121).
[Ardila, 2019]	Diego Ardila, Atilla P Kiraly, Sujeeth Bharadwaj, Bokyung Choi, Joshua J Reicher, Lily Peng, Daniel Tse, Mozziyar Etemadi, Wenxing Ye, Greg Corrado, et al. "End-

	to-end lung cancer screening with three-dimensional deep learning on low-dose chest computed tomography". In: <i>Nature medicine</i> 25.6 (2019), pp. 954–961 (cit. on p. 33).
[Ayers, 2017]	Mark Ayers, Jared Lunceford, Michael Nebozhyn, Erin Murphy, Andrey Loboda, David R Kaufman, Andrew Albright, Jonathan D Cheng, S Peter Kang, Veena Shankaran, et al. "IFN- $\gamma$ -related mRNA profile predicts clinical response to PD-1 blockade". In: <i>The Journal of clinical investigation</i> 127.8 (2017), pp. 2930–2940 (cit. on p. 87).
[Badrinarayanan, 2017]	Vijay Badrinarayanan, Alex Kendall, and Roberto Cipolla. "Segnet: A deep convolu- tional encoder-decoder architecture for image segmentation". In: <i>IEEE transactions on</i> <i>pattern analysis and machine intelligence</i> 39.12 (2017), pp. 2481–2495 (cit. on pp. 35, 40, 41).
[Bai, 2020]	Xiang Bai, Cong Fang, Yu Zhou, Song Bai, Zaiyi Liu, Liming Xia, Qianlan Chen, Yongchao Xu, Tian Xia, Shi Gong, et al. "Predicting COVID-19 malignant progression with AI techniques". In: (2020) (cit. on p. 58).
[Bailey, 2018]	Matthew H Bailey, Collin Tokheim, Eduard Porta-Pardo, Sohini Sengupta, Denis Bertrand, Amila Weerasinghe, Antonio Colaprico, Michael C Wendl, Jaegil Kim, Bren- dan Reardon, et al. "Comprehensive characterization of cancer driver genes and muta- tions". In: <i>Cell</i> 173.2 (2018), pp. 371–385 (cit. on p. 19).
[Bakas, 2018]	Spyridon Bakas, Mauricio Reyes, Andras Jakab, Stefan Bauer, Markus Rempfler, Alessan- dro Crimi, Russell Takeshi Shinohara, Christoph Berger, Sung Min Ha, Martin Rozycki, et al. "Identifying the best machine learning algorithms for brain tumor segmentation, progression assessment, and overall survival prediction in the BRATS challenge". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:1811.02629</i> (2018) (cit. on p. 8).
[Balmain, 2003]	Allan Balmain, Joe Gray, and Bruce Ponder. "The genetics and genomics of cancer". In: <i>Nature genetics</i> 33.3 (2003), pp. 238–244 (cit. on p. 4).
[Barabâsi, 2002]	Albert-Laszlo Barabâsi, Hawoong Jeong, Zoltan Néda, Erzsebet Ravasz, Andras Schubert, and Tamas Vicsek. "Evolution of the social network of scientific collaborations". In: <i>Physica A: Statistical mechanics and its applications</i> 311.3-4 (2002), pp. 590–614 (cit. on p. 2).
[Battistella, 2021a]	Enzo Battistella, Guillaume Chassagnon, Maria Vakalopoulou, Stergios Christodoulidis, Trieu-Nghi Hoang-Thi, Severine Dangeard, Eric Deutsch, Fabrice Andre, Enora Guillo, Nara Halm, et al. "AI-driven quantification, staging and outcome prediction of COVID- 19 pneumonia". In: <i>Medical Image Analysis</i> 67 (2021), p. 101860 (cit. on p. 8).
[Battistella, 2018]	<ul> <li>Enzo Battistella and Laurence Cholvy. "Modelling and Simulating Extreme Opinion Diffusion". In: International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence. Springer.</li> <li>2018, pp. 79–104 (cit. on p. 3).</li> </ul>
[Battistella, 2021b]	Enzo Battistella, Laia Pare, Mihir Sahasrabudhe, Tomas Pascual, Maria Vakalopoulou, Patricia Villagrasa, Eric Deutsch, Nuria Chic, Guillermo Villacampa, Paolo Nuciforo, et al. "Holistic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2-positive (HER2+) early breast cancer (BC) treated with neoadjuvant lapatinib and trastuzumab without chemotherapy: A correlative analysis from SOLTI-1114 PAMELA". In: <i>CANCER RESEARCH</i> . Vol. 81. 4. American Association for Cancer Research. 2021 (cit. on p. 8).
[Battistella, 2021c]	Enzo Battistella, Laia Paré, Mihir Sahasrabudhe, Tomás Pascual, Maria Vakalopoulou, et al. "Abstract PS5-13: Holistic artificial intelligence-driven predictor in HER2-positive (HER2+) early breast cancer (BC) treated with neoadjuvant lapatinib and trastuzumab

	without chemotherapy: A correlative analysis from SOLTI-1114 PAMELA". In: <i>Poster Session Abstracts</i> . American Association for Cancer Research, Feb. 2021 (cit. on p. 7).
[Battistella, 2019]	Enzo Battistella, Maria Vakalopoulou, Théo Estienne, Marvin Lerousseau, Roger Sun, Charlotte Robert, Nikos Paragios, and Eric Deutsch. "Gene Expression High-Dimensional Clustering towards a Novel, Robust, Clinically Relevant and Highly Compact Cancer Signature". In: <i>IWBBIO 2019.</i> Granada, Spain, May 2019 (cit. on pp. 8, 68).
[Battistella, 2021d]	Enzo Battistella, Maria Vakalopoulou, Roger Sun, Théo Estienne, Marvin Lerousseau, Sergey Nikolaev, Emilie Alvarez Andres, Alexandre Carré, Stéphane Niyoteka, Charlotte Robert, et al. "Cancer Gene Profiling through Unsupervised Discovery". In: <i>arXiv</i> preprint arXiv:2102.07713 (2021) (cit. on pp. 8, 68, 97).
[Becker, 2003]	Oren M Becker, Sharon Shacham, Yael Marantz, and Silvia Noiman. "Modeling the 3D structure of GPCRs: advances and application to drug discovery." In: <i>Current opinion in drug discovery &amp; development</i> 6.3 (2003), pp. 353–361 (cit. on p. 3).
[Bedford, 2020]	Juliet Bedford, Delia Enria, Johan Giesecke, David L Heymann, Chikwe Ihekweazu, Gary Kobinger, H Clifford Lane, Ziad Memish, Myoung-don Oh, Anne Schuchat, et al. "COVID-19: towards controlling of a pandemic". In: <i>The lancet</i> 395.10229 (2020), pp. 1015–1018 (cit. on p. 5).
[Benson, 2016]	A. R. Benson, D. F. Gleich, and J. Leskovec. "Higher-order organization of complex networks". In: <i>Science</i> 353.6295 (July 2016), pp. 163–166 (cit. on pp. 3, 26, 97, 99).
[Bermejo-Peláez, 2020]	David Bermejo-Peláez, Samuel Y Ash, George R Washko, Raúl San José Estépar, and María J Ledesma-Carbayo. "Classification of Interstitial Lung Abnormality Patterns with an Ensemble of Deep Convolutional Neural Networks". In: <i>Scientific Reports</i> 10.1 (2020), pp. 1–15 (cit. on p. 35).
[Bertucci, 2008]	François Bertucci and Daniel Birnbaum. "Reasons for breast cancer heterogeneity". In: Journal of biology 7.2 (2008), pp. 1–4 (cit. on p. 4).
[Beutel, 2000]	Jacob Beutel, Harold L Kundel, and Richard L Van Metter. <i>Handbook of medical imaging</i> . Vol. 1. Spie Press, 2000 (cit. on p. 5).
[Bocchino, 2019]	Marialuisa Bocchino, Dario Bruzzese, Michele D'Alto, Paola Argiento, Alessia Bor- gia, Annalisa Capaccio, Emanuele Romeo, Barbara Russo, Alessandro Sanduzzi, Tullio Valente, et al. "Performance of a new quantitative computed tomography index for in- terstitial lung disease assessment in systemic sclerosis". In: <i>Scientific reports</i> 9.1 (2019), pp. 1–9 (cit. on p. 35).
[Boykov, 2004]	Yuri Boykov and Vladimir Kolmogorov. "An experimental comparison of min-cut/max- flow algorithms for energy minimization in vision". In: <i>IEEE transactions on pattern</i> <i>analysis and machine intelligence</i> 26.9 (2004), pp. 1124–1137 (cit. on p. 26).
[Bray, 2018]	Freddie Bray, Jacques Ferlay, Isabelle Soerjomataram, Rebecca L Siegel, Lindsey A Torre, and Ahmedin Jemal. "Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries". In: <i>CA: a cancer journal for clinicians</i> 68.6 (2018), pp. 394–424 (cit. on p. 4).
[Caba, 2021]	Bastien Caba, Dawei Liu, Aurélien Lombard, Natasha Novikov, Alexandre Cafaro, Daniel Bradley, Enzo Battistella, Elizabeth Fisher, Nathalie Franchimont, Arie Gafson, et al. Machine Learning-Based Classification of Acute versus Chronic Multiple Scle-

	rosis Lesions using Radiomic Features from Unenhanced Cross-Sectional Brain MRI (4121). 2021 (cit. on p. 8).
[Cantini, 2017]	Laura Cantini, Laurence Calzone, Loredana Martignetti, Mattias Rydenfelt, Nils Blüth- gen, Emmanuel Barillot, and Andrei Zinovyev. "Classification of gene signatures for their information value and functional redundancy". In: <i>NPJ systems biology and ap-</i> <i>plications</i> 4.1 (2017), p. 2 (cit. on p. 19).
[Cappelletti, 2017]	Vera Cappelletti, Egidio Iorio, Patrizia Miodini, Marco Silvestri, Matteo Dugo, and Maria Grazia Daidone. "Metabolic Footprints and Molecular Subtypes in Breast Can- cer". In: <i>Disease Markers</i> 2017 (2017), pp. 1–19 (cit. on p. 86).
[Çelikkanat, 2018]	Abdulkadir Çelikkanat and Fragkiskos D Malliaros. "TNE: A latent model for repre- sentation learning on networks". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.06917</i> (2018) (cit. on p. 3).
[Chaganti, 2020]	Shikha Chaganti, Abishek Balachandran, Guillaume Chabin, Stuart Cohen, Thomas Flohr, Bogdan Georgescu, Philippe Grenier, Sasa Grbic, Siqi Liu, François Mellot, et al. "Quantification of Tomographic Patterns associated with COVID-19 from Chest CT". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.01279</i> (2020) (cit. on pp. 58, 59).
[Chandra, 2018]	Siddhartha Chandra, Maria Vakalopoulou, Lucas Fidon, Enzo Battistella, Théo Esti- enne, Roger Sun, Charlotte Robert, Eric Deutsch, and Nikos Paragios. "Context aware 3D CNNs for brain tumor segmentation". In: <i>International MICCAI Brainlesion Work-</i> <i>shop</i> . Springer. 2018, pp. 299–310 (cit. on p. 8).
[Chassagnon, 2019]	<ul><li>Guillaume Chassagnon, Maria Vakalopolou, Nikos Paragios, and Marie-Pierre Revel.</li><li>"Deep learning: definition and perspectives for thoracic imaging". In: <i>European Radiology</i> (2019), pp. 1–10 (cit. on pp. 5, 33, 34).</li></ul>
[Chassagnon, 2020a]	Guillaume Chassagnon, Maria Vakalopoulou, Enzo Battistella, Stergios Christodoulidis, Trieu-Nghi Hoang-Thi, Severine Dangeard, Eric Deutsch, Fabrice Andre, Enora Guillo, Nara Halm, et al. "AI-Driven CT-based quantification, staging and short-term outcome prediction of COVID-19 pneumonia". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:2004.12852</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 7).
[Chassagnon, 2020b]	Guillaume Chassagnon, Maria Vakalopoulou, Nikos Paragios, and Marie-Pierre Revel. "Artificial intelligence applications for thoracic imaging". In: <i>European Journal of Ra-</i> <i>diology</i> 123 (2020), p. 108774 (cit. on p. 5).
[Chen, 2017a]	Daniel S Chen and Ira Mellman. "Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer–immune set point". In: <i>Nature</i> 541.7637 (2017), pp. 321–330 (cit. on p. 4).
[Chen, 2017b]	Fengju Chen, Yiqun Zhang, Dominick Bossé, Aly-Khan A Lalani, A Ari Hakimi, James J Hsieh, Toni K Choueiri, Don L Gibbons, Michael Ittmann, and Chad J Creighton. "Pan-urologic cancer genomic subtypes that transcend tissue of origin". In: <i>Nature communications</i> 8.1 (2017), p. 199 (cit. on p. 69).
[Christe, 2019]	Andreas Christe, Alan A Peters, Dionysios Drakopoulos, Johannes T Heverhagen, Thomas Geiser, Thomai Stathopoulou, Stergios Christodoulidis, Marios Anthimopou- los, Stavroula G Mougiakakou, and Lukas Ebner. "Computer-aided diagnosis of pul- monary fibrosis using deep learning and CT images". In: <i>Investigative radiology</i> 54.10 (2019), p. 627 (cit. on p. 35).

[Çiçek, 2016]	Özgün Çiçek, Ahmed Abdulkadir, Soeren S Lienkamp, Thomas Brox, and Olaf Ron- neberger. "3D U-Net: learning dense volumetric segmentation from sparse annotation". In: <i>International conference on medical image computing and computer-assisted inter-</i> <i>vention</i> . Springer. 2016, pp. 424–432 (cit. on pp. 35, 40, 41).					
[Correa, 1981]	Pelayo Correa. "Epidemiological correlations between diet and cancer frequency". In: <i>Cancer research</i> 41.9 Part 2 (1981), pp. 3685–3689 (cit. on p. 1).					
[Cottin, 2019]	Vincent Cottin and Kevin K Brown. "Interstitial lung disease associated with systemic sclerosis (SSc-ILD)". In: <i>Respiratory research</i> 20.1 (2019), p. 13 (cit. on p. 35).					
[Cover, 1967]	Thomas Cover and Peter Hart. "Nearest neighbor pattern classification". In: <i>IEE transactions on information theory</i> 13.1 (1967), pp. 21–27 (cit. on p. 11).					
[Cowen, 2017]	Lenore Cowen, Trey Ideker, Benjamin J. Raphael, and Roded Sharan. "Network prop gation: a universal amplifier of genetic associations". In: <i>Nature Reviews Genetics</i> 18 (2017), pp. 551–562 (cit. on p. 69).					
[Dam, 2017]	Sipko van Dam, Urmo Võsa, Adriaan van der Graaf, Lude Franke, and João Pedro de Magalhães. "Gene co-expression analysis for functional classification and gene–disease predictions". In: <i>Briefings in Bioinformatics</i> (Jan. 2017), bbw139 (cit. on p. 69).					
[Danisch, 2017]	Maximilien Danisch, T-H Hubert Chan, and Mauro Sozio. "Large scale density-friendly graph decomposition via convex programming". In: <i>Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web.</i> 2017, pp. 233–242 (cit. on p. 65).					
[Davidson, 2005]	Ian Davidson and SS Ravi. "Clustering with constraints: Feasibility issues and the k- means algorithm". In: <i>Proceedings of the 2005 SIAM international conference on data</i> <i>mining.</i> SIAM. 2005, pp. 138–149 (cit. on p. 98).					
[Demšar, 2008]	Urška Demšar, Olga Špatenková, and Kirsi Virrantaus. "Identifying critical locations in a spatial network with graph theory". In: <i>Transactions in GIS</i> 12.1 (2008), pp. 61–82 (cit. on p. 3).					
[Depeursinge, 2015]	Adrien Depeursinge, Anne S Chin, Ann N Leung, Donato Terrone, Michael Bristow, Glenn Rosen, and Daniel L Rubin. "Automated classification of usual interstitial pneumonia using regional volumetric texture analysis in high-resolution CT". In: <i>Investigative radiology</i> 50.4 (2015), p. 261 (cit. on p. 35).					
[Dettling, 2003]	Marcel Dettling and Peter Bühlmann. "Boosting for tumor classification with gene expression data". In: <i>Bioinformatics</i> 19.9 (2003), pp. 1061–1069 (cit. on p. 2).					
[Drucker, 2013]	Elisabeth Drucker and Kurt Krapfenbauer. "Pitfalls and limitations in translation from biomarker discovery to clinical utility in predictive and personalised medicine". In: <i>EPMA journal</i> 4.1 (2013), p. 7 (cit. on p. 69).					
[Dudek, 2019]	Jeffrey M Dudek, Leonardo Duenas-Osorio, and Moshe Y Vardi. "Efficient contraction of large tensor networks for weighted model counting through graph decompositions". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:1908.04381</i> (2019) (cit. on p. 3).					
[Dunne, 2017]	Philip D. Dunne, Matthew Alderdice, Paul G. O. Reilly, Aideen C. Roddy, Amy M. B. McCorry, et al. "Cancer-cell intrinsic gene expression signatures overcome intratu- moural heterogeneity bias in colorectal cancer patient classification". In: <i>Nature Com-</i> <i>munications</i> 8 (May 2017), p. 15657 (cit. on p. 69).					

[Erdős, 1960]	Paul Erdős and Alfréd Rényi. "On the evolution of random graphs". In: <i>Publ. Math. Inst. Hung. Acad. Sci</i> 5.1 (1960), pp. 17–60 (cit. on p. 122).				
[Ferrante, 2017]	Enzo Ferrante, Puneet K Dokania, Rafael Marini, and Nikos Paragios. "Deformable registration through learning of context-specific metric aggregation". In: <i>International Workshop on Machine Learning in Medical Imaging</i> . Springer. 2017, pp. 256–265 (cit. on p. 41).				
[Finley, 2005]	Thomas Finley and Thorsten Joachims. "Supervised clustering with support vector machines". In: <i>Proceedings of the 22nd international conference on Machine learning</i> . 2005, pp. 217–224 (cit. on p. 98).				
[Fisher, 1936]	Ronald A Fisher. "The use of multiple measurements in taxonomic problems". In: Annals of eugenics 7.2 (1936), pp. 179–188 (cit. on p. 14).				
[Fix, 2011]	Alexander Fix, Aritanan Gruber, Endre Boros, and Ramin Zabih. "A graph cut algorithm for higher-order Markov random fields". In: 2011 International Conference of Computer Vision. IEEE. 2011, pp. 1020–1027 (cit. on pp. 6, 26, 99, VII).				
[Freund, 1999]	Yoav Freund, Robert Schapire, and Naoki Abe. "A short introduction to boosting". In: Journal-Japanese Society For Artificial Intelligence 14.771-780 (1999), p. 1612 (cit. on p. 12).				
[Friedman, 1997]	Jerome H Friedman. "On bias, variance, 0/1—loss, and the curse-of-dimensionality". In: Data mining and knowledge discovery 1.1 (1997), pp. 55–77 (cit. on p. 2).				
[Friedman, 2002]	Jerome H Friedman. "Stochastic gradient boosting". In: Computational statistics & data analysis 38.4 (2002), pp. 367–378 (cit. on p. 13).				
[Gandhi, 2013]	Mahendran Gandhi and R Dhanasekaran. "Diagnosis of diabetic retinopathy using morphological process and SVM classifier". In: 2013 International Conference on Communication and Signal Processing. IEEE. 2013, pp. 873–877 (cit. on p. 33).				
[Gangeh, 2010]	Mehrdad J. Gangeh, Lauge Sørensen, Saher B. Shaker, Mohamed S. Kamel, Marleen de Bruijne, and Marco Loog. "A Texton-Based Approach for the Classification of Lung Parenchyma in CT Images". In: <i>Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention – MICCAI 2010.</i> Ed. by Tianzi Jiang, Nassir Navab, Josien P. W. Pluim, and Max A. Viergever. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010, pp. 595–602 (cit. on p. 34).				
[Gao, 2018]	Mingchen Gao, Ulas Bagci, Le Lu, Aaron Wu, Mario Buty, Hoo-Chang Shin, Holger Roth, Georgios Z Papadakis, Adrien Depeursinge, Ronald M Summers, et al. "Holistic classification of CT attenuation patterns for interstitial lung diseases via deep con- volutional neural networks". In: <i>Computer Methods in Biomechanics and Biomedical Engineering: Imaging &amp; Visualization</i> 6.1 (2018), pp. 1–6 (cit. on p. 35).				
[Garraway, 2013]	Levi A Garraway and Eric S Lander. "Lessons from the cancer genome". In: <i>Cell</i> 153.1 (2013), pp. 17–37 (cit. on p. 4).				
[Georgen, 1995]	John Georgen and Langley Pat. "Estimating Continuous Distributions in Bayesian Classifiers". In: Proc. Eleventh Conf. on Uncertainty in Artificial Intelligence. Morgan Kaufmann, Montreal, Canada, 338â345. 1995 (cit. on p. 13).				
[Goecks, 2020]	Jeremy Goecks, Vahid Jalili, Laura M Heiser, and Joe W Gray. "How Machine Learning Will Transform Biomedicine". In: <i>Cell</i> 181.1 (2020), pp. 92–101 (cit. on p. 33).				

[Gottesbüren, 2019]	Lars Gottesbüren, Michael Hamann, and Dorothea Wagner. "Evaluation of a Flow- Based Hypergraph Bipartitioning Algorithm". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:1907.02053</i> (2019) (cit. on p. 3).
[Grossman, 2016]	Robert L Grossman, Allison P Heath, Vincent Ferretti, Harold E Varmus, Douglas R Lowy, Warren A Kibbe, and Louis M Staudt. "Toward a shared vision for cancer genomic data". In: <i>New England Journal of Medicine</i> 375.12 (2016), pp. 1109–1112 (cit. on p. 76).
[Grover, 2016]	<ul><li>Aditya Grover and Jure Leskovec. "node2vec: Scalable feature learning for networks".</li><li>In: Proceedings of the 22nd ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining. 2016, pp. 855–864 (cit. on pp. 3, 97, 99).</li></ul>
[Guo, 2020]	Weina Guo, Mingyue Li, Yalan Dong, Haifeng Zhou, Zili Zhang, Chunxia Tian, Renjie Qin, Haijun Wang, Yin Shen, Keye Du, et al. "Diabetes is a risk factor for the progression and prognosis of COVID-19". In: <i>Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews</i> (2020) (cit. on pp. 33, 59).
[Halkidi, 2001]	Maria Halkidi, Yannis Batistakis, and Michalis Vazirgiannis. "On Clustering Validation Techniques". In: <i>Journal of Intelligent Information Systems</i> 17.2 (Dec. 2001) (cit. on p. 19).
[Hamdi, 2016]	<ul> <li>Yosr Hamdi, Penny Soucy, Véronique Adoue, Kyriaki Michailidou, Sander Canisius,</li> <li>Audrey Lemaçon, Arnaud Droit, Irene L Andrulis, Hoda Anton-Culver, and Volker</li> <li>Arndt et al. "Association of breast cancer risk with genetic variants showing differential</li> <li>allelic expression: Identification of a novel breast cancer susceptibility locus at 4q21".</li> <li>In: Oncotarget 7.49 (Oct. 2016) (cit. on pp. 85, 86).</li> </ul>
[Hanahan, 2011]	Douglas Hanahan and Robert A. Weinberg. "Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation". In: <i>Cell</i> 144.5 (Mar. 2011), pp. 646–674 (cit. on pp. 4, 69).
[Hart, 2019]	Peter C Hart, Tatsuyuki Chiyoda, Xiaojing Liu, Melanie Weigert, Marion Curtis, Chun- Yi Chiang, Rachel Loth, Ricardo Lastra, Stephanie M McGregor, Jason W Locasale, et al. "SPHK1 is a novel target of metformin in ovarian cancer". In: <i>Molecular Cancer</i> <i>Research</i> 17.4 (2019), pp. 870–881 (cit. on p. 88).
[Hasin, 2017]	Yehudit Hasin, Marcus Seldin, and Aldons Lusis. "Multi-omics approaches to disease". In: <i>Genome Biology</i> 18.1 (May 2017), p. 83 (cit. on p. 69).
[He, 2020]	Kelei He, Wei Zhao, Xingzhi Xie, Wen Ji, Mingxia Liu, Zhenyu Tang, Feng Shi, Yang Gao, Jun Liu, Junfeng Zhang, et al. "Synergistic Learning of Lung Lobe Segmentation and Hierarchical Multi-Instance Classification for Automated Severity Assessment of COVID-19 in CT Images". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.03832</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 58).
[Hearst, 1998]	Marti A. Hearst, Susan T Dumais, Edgar Osuna, John Platt, and Bernhard Scholkopf. "Support vector machines". In: <i>IEEE Intelligent Systems and their applications</i> 13.4 (1998), pp. 18–28 (cit. on p. 11).
[Heeren, 2016]	A Marijne Heeren, Simone Punt, Maaike CG Bleeker, Katja N Gaarenstroom, Jacobus van der Velden, Gemma G Kenter, Tanja D de Gruijl, and Ekaterina S Jordanova. "Prognostic effect of different PD-L1 expression patterns in squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma of the cervix". In: <i>Modern Pathology</i> 29.7 (Apr. 2016), pp. 753–763 (cit. on p. 87).

[Hellmann, 2017]	Matthew D Hellmann, Naiyer A Rizvi, Jonathan W Goldman, Scott N Gettinger, Hossein Borghaei, Julie R Brahmer, Neal E Ready, David E Gerber, Laura Q Chow, Rosalyn A Juergens, et al. "Nivolumab plus ipilimumab as first-line treatment for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 012): results of an open-label, phase 1, multicohort study". In: <i>The lancet oncology</i> 18.1 (2017), pp. 31–41 (cit. on p. 4).
[Hinton, 1990]	Geoffrey E Hinton. "Connectionist learning procedures". In: <i>Machine learning</i> . Elsevier, 1990, pp. 555–610 (cit. on p. 15).
[Ho, 1995]	Tin Kam Ho. "Random decision forests". In: <i>Proceedings of 3rd international confer-</i> <i>ence on document analysis and recognition</i> . Vol. 1. IEEE. 1995, pp. 278–282 (cit. on p. 12).
[Hoadley, 2018]	Katherine A Hoadley, Christina Yau, Toshinori Hinoue, Denise M Wolf, Alexander J Lazar, Esther Drill, Ronglai Shen, Alison M Taylor, Andrew D Cherniack, Vésteinn Thorsson, et al. "Cell-of-origin patterns dominate the molecular classification of 10,000 tumors from 33 types of cancer". In: <i>Cell</i> 173.2 (2018), pp. 291–304 (cit. on p. 76).
[Hofmanninger, 2020]	Johannes Hofmanninger, Florian Prayer, Jeanny Pan, Sebastian Rohrich, Helmut Prosch, and Georg Langs. "Automatic lung segmentation in routine imaging is a data diversity problem, not a methodology problem". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:2001.11767</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 41).
[Horvat, 2018]	Natally Horvat, Harini Veeraraghavan, Monika Khan, Ivana Blazic, Junting Zheng, Marinela Capanu, Evis Sala, Julio Garcia-Aguilar, Marc J Gollub, and Iva Petkovska. "MR imaging of rectal cancer: radiomics analysis to assess treatment response after neoadjuvant therapy". In: <i>Radiology</i> 287.3 (2018), pp. 833–843 (cit. on p. 2).
[Huang, 2020]	Lu Huang, Rui Han, Tao Ai, Pengxin Yu, Han Kang, Qian Tao, and Liming Xia. "Serial Quantitative Chest CT Assessment of COVID-19: Deep-Learning Approach". In: <i>Radiology: Cardiothoracic Imaging</i> 2.2 (2020), e200075 (cit. on pp. 57, 59).
[Huber, 2012]	Markus B Huber, Kerstin Bunte, Mahesh B Nagarajan, Michael Biehl, Lawrence A Ray, and Axel Wismüller. "Texture feature ranking with relevance learning to classify interstitial lung disease patterns". In: <i>Artificial intelligence in medicine</i> 56.2 (2012), pp. 91–97 (cit. on p. 34).
[Hubert, 1985]	Lawrence Hubert and Phipps Arabie. "Comparing partitions". In: <i>Journal of classification</i> 2.1 (1985), pp. 193–218 (cit. on p. 23).
[Iakhiaev, 2010]	Mikhail A Iakhiaev and Alexei V Iakhiaev. "Graph-theoretical comparison of protein surfaces reveals potential determinants of cross-reactivity and the molecular mimicry". In: <i>Molecular immunology</i> 47.4 (2010), pp. 719–725 (cit. on p. 120).
[Ishikawa, 2010]	Hiroshi Ishikawa. "Transformation of general binary MRF minimization to the first- order case". In: <i>IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence</i> 33.6 (2010), pp. 1234–1249 (cit. on pp. 6, 26, 99).
[Jain, 1997]	Anil Jain and Douglas Zongker. "Feature selection: Evaluation, application, and small sample performance". In: <i>IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence</i> 19.2 (1997), pp. 153–158 (cit. on p. 2).
[Jarman, 2017]	Nicholas Jarman, Erik Steur, Chris Trengove, Ivan Y Tyukin, and Cees Van Leeuwen. "Self-organisation of small-world networks by adaptive rewiring in response to graph diffusion". In: <i>Scientific Reports</i> 7.1 (2017), pp. 1–9 (cit. on p. 112).

[Kadoury, 2013]	Samuel Kadoury, Hubert Labelle, and Nikos Paragios. "Spine segmentation in medical images using manifold embeddings and higher-order MRFs". In: <i>IEEE transactions on medical imaging</i> 32.7 (2013), pp. 1227–1238 (cit. on p. 26).
[Kaufmann, 1987]	Leonard Kaufmann and Peter Rousseeuw. "Clustering by Means of Medoids". In: <i>Data Analysis based on the L1-Norm and Related Methods</i> (Jan. 1987), pp. 405–416 (cit. on pp. 6, 23).
[Kingrani, 2017]	Suneel Kumar Kingrani, Mark Levene, and Dell Zhang. "Estimating the number of clusters using diversity". In: <i>Artificial Intelligence Research</i> 7.1 (Dec. 2017), p. 15 (cit. on p. 23).
[Kleinfeld, 2002]	Judith S Kleinfeld. "The small world problem". In: <i>Society</i> 39.2 (2002), pp. 61–66 (cit. on p. 3).
[Koedoot, 2019]	Esmee Koedoot, Liesanne Wolters, Bob van de Water, and Sylvia E. Le Dévédec. "Splicing regulatory factors in breast cancer hallmarks and disease progression". In: Oncotarget 10.57 (Oct. 2019), pp. 6021–6037 (cit. on p. 87).
[Kolb, 2014]	Martin Kolb and Harold R Collard. "Staging of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: past, present and future". In: <i>European Respiratory Review</i> 23.132 (2014), pp. 220–224 (cit. on p. 35).
[Koltai, 2014]	Tomas Koltai. "Clusterin: a key player in cancer chemoresistance and its inhibition". In: <i>OncoTargets and therapy</i> 7 (2014), p. 447 (cit. on p. 88).
[Komodakis, 2011]	Nikos Komodakis. "Learning to cluster using high order graphical models with latent variables". In: 2011 International Conference on Computer Vision. IEEE, Nov. 2011 (cit. on pp. 97–99, 101, 102, 104, 112).
[Komodakis, 2009]	Nikos Komodakis, Nikos Paragios, and Georgios Tziritas. "Clustering via LP-based Stabilities". In: <i>Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems 21</i> . 2009, pp. 865–872 (cit. on pp. 19, 20, 70).
[Komodakis, 2010]	Nikos Komodakis, Nikos Paragios, and Georgios Tziritas. "MRF energy minimization and beyond via dual decomposition". In: <i>IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence</i> 33.3 (2010), pp. 531–552 (cit. on pp. 6, 26, 27).
[Komodakis, 2014]	Nikos Komodakis, Bo Xiang, and Nikos Paragios. "A framework for efficient structured max-margin learning of high-order MRF models". In: <i>IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence</i> 37.7 (2014), pp. 1425–1441 (cit. on pp. 26, 27, 99).
[Konecny, 2000]	Gottfried Konecny, Corinna Crohns, Mark Pegram, Margret Felber, Sandra Lude, Christian Kurbacher, Ian A Cree, Herrmann Hepp, and Michael Untch. "Correlation of drug response with the ATP tumorchemosensitivity assay in primary FIGO stage III ovarian cancer". In: <i>Gynecologic oncology</i> 77.2 (2000), pp. 258–263 (cit. on p. 1).
[Koseoglu, 2016]	Mehmet Ali Koseoglu. "Growth and structure of authorship and co-authorship network in the strategic management realm: Evidence from the Strategic Management Journal". In: <i>BRQ Business Research Quarterly</i> 19.3 (2016), pp. 153–170 (cit. on p. 3).
[Kovács, 2005]	Ferenc Kovács, Csaba Legány, and Attila Babos. "Cluster validity measurement tech- niques". In: 6th International symposium of hungarian researchers on computational intelligence. Citeseer. 2005 (cit. on pp. 23, 24, 70).

[Kratz, 2019]	Johannes R Kratz, Greg J Haro, Nancy R Cook, Jianxing He, Stephen K Van Den Eeden, Gavitt A Woodard, Matthew A Gubens, Thierry M Jahan, Kirk D Jones, Il-Jin Kim, et al. "Incorporation of a Molecular Prognostic Classifier Improves Conventional Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer Staging". In: <i>Journal of Thoracic Oncology</i> 14.7 (2019), pp. 1223–1232 (cit. on p. 33).
[Krioukov, 2004]	Dmitri Krioukov, Kevin Fall, and Xiaowei Yang. "Compact routing on Internet-like graphs". In: <i>IEEE INFOCOM 2004</i> . Vol. 1. IEEE. 2004 (cit. on p. 3).
[Kumar, 2012]	Virendra Kumar, Yuhua Gu, Satrajit Basu, Anders Berglund, Steven A Eschrich, Matthew B Schabath, Kenneth Forster, Hugo JWL Aerts, Andre Dekker, David Fen- stermacher, et al. "Radiomics: the process and the challenges". In: <i>Magnetic resonance</i> <i>imaging</i> 30.9 (2012), pp. 1234–1248 (cit. on p. 5).
[Kurian, 2014]	Allison W. Kurian, Emily E. Hare, Meredith A. Mills, Kerry E. Kingham, Lisa McPherson, et al. "Clinical Evaluation of a Multiple-Gene Sequencing Panel for Hereditary Cancer Risk Assessment". In: <i>Journal of Clinical Oncology</i> 32.19 (July 2014), pp. 2001–2009 (cit. on pp. 1, 69).
[Lafata, 2019]	Kyle J Lafata, Zhennan Zhou, Jian-Guo Liu, Julian Hong, Chris R Kelsey, and Fang- Fang Yin. "An exploratory Radiomics Approach to Quantifying pulmonary function in ct images". In: <i>Scientific reports</i> 9.1 (2019), pp. 1–9 (cit. on p. 35).
[Lafferty, 2001]	John Lafferty, Andrew McCallum, and Fernando CN Pereira. "Conditional random fields: Probabilistic models for segmenting and labeling sequence data". In: (2001) (cit. on p. 25).
[Lambiotte, 2019]	Renaud Lambiotte, Martin Rosvall, and Ingo Scholtes. "From networks to optimal higher-order models of complex systems". In: <i>Nature Physics</i> 15.4 (Mar. 2019), pp. 313–320 (cit. on p. 97).
[Lassau, 2020]	Nathalie Lassau, Samy Ammari, Emilie Chouzenoux, Hugo Gortais, Paul Herent, Matthieu Devilder, Samer Soliman, Olivier Meyrignac, Marie-Pauline Talabard, Jean- Philippe Lamarque, et al. "AI-based multi-modal integration of clinical characteristics, lab tests and chest CTs improves COVID-19 outcome prediction of hospitalized pa- tients". In: <i>medRxiv</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 58).
[Law, 2017]	Marc T Law, Raquel Urtasun, and Richard S Zemel. "Deep spectral clustering learn- ing". In: <i>International conference on machine learning</i> . PMLR. 2017, pp. 1985–1994 (cit. on p. 98).
[Le, 2020]	Trang T Le, Weixuan Fu, and Jason H Moore. "Scaling tree-based automated machine learning to biomedical big data with a feature set selector". In: <i>Bioinformatics</i> 36.1 (2020), pp. 250–256 (cit. on p. 33).
[Lê-Huu, 2017]	D Khuê Lê-Huu and Nikos Paragios. "Alternating direction graph matching". In: 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). IEEE. 2017, pp. 4914–4922 (cit. on p. 97).
[Li, 2011]	Bo Li and Colin N. Dewey. "RSEM: accurate transcript quantification from RNA-Seq data with or without a reference genome". In: <i>BMC Bioinformatics</i> 12.1 (Aug. 2011), p. 323 (cit. on p. 76).
[Li, 2020a]	Kunwei Li, Yijie Fang, Wenjuan Li, Cunxue Pan, Peixin Qin, Yinghua Zhong, Xueguo Liu, Mingqian Huang, Yuting Liao, and Shaolin Li. "CT image visual quantitative

	evaluation and clinical classification of coronavirus disease (COVID-19)". In: <i>European Radiology</i> (2020), pp. 1–10 (cit. on pp. 33, 58).
[Li, 2020b]	Lin Li, Lixin Qin, Zeguo Xu, Youbing Yin, Xin Wang, Bin Kong, Junjie Bai, Yi Lu, Zhenghan Fang, Qi Song, et al. "Artificial intelligence distinguishes covid-19 from community acquired pneumonia on chest ct". In: <i>Radiology</i> (2020), p. 200905 (cit. on pp. 33, 57).
[Li, 2020c]	Matthew D Li, Nishanth Thumbavanam Arun, Mishka Gidwani, Ken Chang, Francis Deng, Brent P Little, Dexter P Mendoza, Min Lang, Susanna I Lee, Aileen O'Shea, et al. "Automated assessment of COVID-19 pulmonary disease severity on chest ra- diographs using convolutional Siamese neural networks". In: <i>medRxiv</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 58).
[Li, 2017]	Shu-Qin Li, Ning Su, Ping Gong, Hai-Bo Zhang, Jin Liu, Ding Wang, Yan-Ping Sun, Yan Zhang, Feng Qian, Bo Zhao, et al. "The expression of formyl peptide receptor 1 is correlated with tumor invasion of human colorectal cancer". In: <i>Scientific reports</i> 7.1 (2017), p. 5918 (cit. on pp. 85, 86).
[Lippitz, 2016]	Bodo E Lippitz and Robert A Harris. "Cytokine patterns in cancer patients: A review of the correlation between interleukin 6 and prognosis". In: <i>Oncoimmunology</i> 5.5 (2016), e1093722 (cit. on p. 1).
[Litjens, 2017]	Geert Litjens, Thijs Kooi, Babak Ehteshami Bejnordi, Arnaud Arindra Adiyoso Setio, Francesco Ciompi, Mohsen Ghafoorian, Jeroen Awm Van Der Laak, Bram Van Gin- neken, and Clara I Sánchez. "A survey on deep learning in medical image analysis". In: <i>Medical image analysis</i> 42 (2017), pp. 60–88 (cit. on p. 33).
[Liu, 1995]	Huan Liu and Rudy Setiono. "Chi2: Feature selection and discretization of numeric attributes". In: <i>Proceedings of 7th IEEE International Conference on Tools with Artificial Intelligence</i> . IEEE. 1995, pp. 388–391 (cit. on p. 2).
[Lomax, 2007]	Richard G Lomax. <i>Statistical concepts: A second course</i> . Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers, 2007 (cit. on p. 17).
[MacQueen, 1967]	J. MacQueen. "Some methods for classification and analysis of multivariate observa- tions". In: 1967 (cit. on pp. 19, 20, 71).
[Mahmoud, 2017]	Abeer M Mahmoud, Virgilia Macias, Umaima Al-alem, Ryan J Deaton, Andre Kadjaksy- Balla, Peter H Gann, and Garth H Rauscher. "BRCA1 protein expression and subcel- lular localization in primary breast cancer: Automated digital microscopy analysis of tissue microarrays". In: <i>PloS one</i> 12.9 (2017), e0184385 (cit. on p. 87).
[Marusyk, 2010]	Andriy Marusyk and Kornelia Polyak. "Tumor heterogeneity: causes and consequences". In: <i>Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer</i> 1805.1 (2010), pp. 105–117 (cit. on p. 4).
[Mei, 2020]	Xueyan Mei, Hao-Chih Lee, Kai-yue Diao, Mingqian Huang, Bin Lin, Chenyu Liu, Zongyu Xie, Yixuan Ma, Philip M Robson, Michael Chung, et al. "Artificial intelligence– enabled rapid diagnosis of patients with COVID-19". In: <i>Nature Medicine</i> (2020), pp. 1–5 (cit. on pp. 33, 57, 58).
[Modena, 2003]	Piergiorgio Modena, Maria Adele Testi, Federica Facchinetti, Delia Mezzanzanica, Maria Teresa Radice, Silvana Pilotti, and Gabriella Sozzi. "UQCRH gene encoding mitochondrial Hinge protein is interrupted by a translocation in a soft-tissue sarcoma

	and epigenetically inactivated in some cancer cell lines". In: <i>Oncogene</i> 22.29 (July 2003), pp. 4586–4593 (cit. on pp. 86, 87).
[Motzer, 2015]	Robert J Motzer, Bernard Escudier, David F McDermott, Saby George, Hans J Ham- mers, Sandhya Srinivas, Scott S Tykodi, Jeffrey A Sosman, Giuseppe Procopio, Eliza- beth R Plimack, et al. "Nivolumab versus everolimus in advanced renal-cell carcinoma". In: <i>New England Journal of Medicine</i> 373.19 (2015), pp. 1803–1813 (cit. on p. 4).
[Obermeyer, 2016]	Ziad Obermeyer and Ezekiel J Emanuel. "Predicting the future—big data, machine learning, and clinical medicine". In: <i>The New England journal of medicine</i> 375.13 (2016), p. 1216 (cit. on p. 2).
[Olson, 2016]	Randal S. Olson, Ryan J. Urbanowicz, Peter C. Andrews, Nicole A. Lavender, La Creis Kidd, and Jason H. Moore. "Applications of Evolutionary Computation: 19th European Conference, EvoApplications 2016, Porto, Portugal, March 30 – April 1, 2016, Proceedings, Part I". In: ed. by Giovanni Squillero and Paolo Burelli. Springer International Publishing, 2016. Chap. Automating Biomedical Data Science Through Tree-Based Pipeline Optimization, pp. 123–137 (cit. on p. I).
[Onder, 2020]	Graziano Onder, Giovanni Rezza, and Silvio Brusaferro. "Case-fatality rate and char- acteristics of patients dying in relation to COVID-19 in Italy". In: <i>Jama</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 33).
[Ottman, 2021]	Noora Ottman, Mauricio Barrientos-Somarribas, Nanna Fyhrquist, Helen Alexander, Lukas Wisgrill, Peter Olah, Sophia Tsoka, Dario Greco, Francesca Levi-Schaffer, Vassili Soumelis, et al. "Microbial and transcriptional differences elucidate atopic dermatitis heterogeneity across skin sites". In: <i>Allergy</i> 76.4 (2021), pp. 1173–1187 (cit. on p. 64).
[Oyelade, 2016]	Jelili Oyelade, Itunuoluwa Isewon, Funke Oladipupo, Olufemi Aromolaran, Efosa Uwoghiren, Faridah Ameh, Moses Achas, and Ezekiel Adebiyi. "Clustering Algorithms: Their Ap- plication to Gene Expression Data". In: <i>Bioinformatics and Biology Insights</i> 10 (Jan. 2016), BBI.S38316 (cit. on p. 69).
[Pearson, 1900]	Karl Pearson. "X. On the criterion that a given system of deviations from the probable in the case of a correlated system of variables is such that it can be reasonably sup- posed to have arisen from random sampling". In: <i>The London, Edinburgh, and Dublin</i> <i>Philosophical Magazine and Journal of Science</i> 50.302 (1900), pp. 157–175 (cit. on p. 17).
[Pedregosa, 2011]	Fabian Pedregosa, Gaël Varoquaux, Alexandre Gramfort, Vincent Michel, Bertrand Thirion, Olivier Grisel, Mathieu Blondel, Peter Prettenhofer, Ron Weiss, Vincent Dubourg, et al. "Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python". In: <i>Journal of machine learning re-</i> <i>search</i> 12.Oct (2011), pp. 2825–2830 (cit. on p. 46).
[Pepke, 2017]	Shirley Pepke and Greg Ver Steeg. "Comprehensive discovery of subsample gene expression components by information explanation: therapeutic implications in cancer". In: <i>BMC Medical Genomics</i> 10.1 (Mar. 2017) (cit. on pp. 19, 20, 23, 69–71).
[Permuth-Wey, 2011]	J. Permuth-Wey, Y. A. Chen, YY. Tsai, Z. Chen, X. Qu, et al. "Inherited Variants in Mitochondrial Biogenesis Genes May Influence Epithelial Ovarian Cancer Risk". In: <i>Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers &amp; Prevention</i> 20.6 (Mar. 2011), pp. 1131–1145 (cit. on pp. 85, 86).

[Phan, 2017]	Nam Nhut Phan, Chih-Yang Wang, Chien-Fu Chen, Zhengda Sun, Ming-Derg Lai, and Yen-Chang Lin. "Voltage-gated calcium channels: Novel targets for cancer therapy". In: <i>Oncology letters</i> 14.2 (2017), pp. 2059–2074 (cit. on p. 89).
[Ramaswamy, 2001a]	S. Ramaswamy, P. Tamayo, R. Rifkin, S. Mukherjee, CH. Yeang, et al. "Multiclass cancer diagnosis using tumor gene expression signatures". In: <i>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</i> 98.26 (Dec. 2001) (cit. on p. 76).
[Ramaswamy, 2001b]	Sridhar Ramaswamy, Pablo Tamayo, Ryan Rifkin, Sayan Mukherjee, Chen-Hsiang Yeang, Michael Angelo, Christine Ladd, Michael Reich, Eva Latulippe, Jill P Mesirov, et al. "Multiclass cancer diagnosis using tumor gene expression signatures". In: <i>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</i> 98.26 (2001), pp. 15149–15154 (cit. on p. 69).
[Read, 2018]	Abigail Read and Rachael Natrajan. "Splicing dysregulation as a driver of breast cancer". In: <i>Endocrine-Related Cancer</i> 25.9 (Sept. 2018), R467–R478 (cit. on p. 86).
[Reck, 2016]	Martin Reck, Delvys Rodríguez-Abreu, Andrew G Robinson, Rina Hui, Tibor Csőszi, Andrea Fülöp, Maya Gottfried, Nir Peled, Ali Tafreshi, Sinead Cuffe, et al. "Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1–positive non–small-cell lung cancer". In: <i>N engl J med</i> 375 (2016), pp. 1823–1833 (cit. on p. 4).
[Robbie, 2017]	Hasti Robbie, Cécile Daccord, Felix Chua, and Anand Devaraj. "Evaluating disease severity in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis". In: <i>European Respiratory Review</i> 26.145 (2017), p. 170051 (cit. on p. 35).
[Robinson, 2007]	Mark D Robinson and Terence P Speed. "A comparison of Affymetrix gene expression arrays". In: <i>BMC bioinformatics</i> 8.1 (2007), pp. 1–16 (cit. on p. 64).
[Ronneberger, 2015]	Olaf Ronneberger, Philipp Fischer, and Thomas Brox. "U-net: Convolutional networks for biomedical image segmentation". In: <i>International Conference on Medical image</i> <i>computing and computer-assisted intervention</i> . Springer. 2015, pp. 234–241 (cit. on p. 35).
[Ruta, 2005]	Dymitr Ruta and Bogdan Gabrys. "Classifier selection for majority voting". In: <i>Information fusion</i> 6.1 (2005), pp. 63–81 (cit. on p. 2).
[Safavian, 1991]	S Rasoul Safavian and David Landgrebe. "A survey of decision tree classifier method- ology". In: <i>IEEE transactions on systems, man, and cybernetics</i> 21.3 (1991), pp. 660– 674 (cit. on p. 11).
[Sahasrabudhe, 2020]	Mihir Sahasrabudhe, Stergios Christodoulidis, Roberto Salgado, Stefan Michiels, Sherene Loi, Fabrice André, Nikos Paragios, and Maria Vakalopoulou. "Self-supervised Nuclei Segmentation in Histopathological Images Using Attention". In: <i>International Con-</i> <i>ference on Medical Image Computing and Computer-Assisted Intervention</i> . Springer. 2020, pp. 393–402 (cit. on p. 59).
[Salem, 2017]	Hanaa Salem, Gamal Attiya, and Nawal El-Fishawy. "Classification of human cancer diseases by gene expression profiles". In: <i>Applied Soft Computing</i> 50 (Jan. 2017), pp. 124–134 (cit. on p. 76).
[Schaeffer, 2007]	Satu Elisa Schaeffer. "Graph clustering". In: Computer Science Review 1.1 (Aug. 2007), pp. 27–64 (cit. on p. 97).

[Schicht, 2014]	<ul> <li>M. Schicht, F. Rausch, S. Finotto, M. Mathews, A. Mattil, et al. "SFTA3, a novel protein of the lung: three-dimensional structure, characterisation and immune activation".</li> <li>In: <i>European Respiratory Journal</i> 44.2 (Apr. 2014), pp. 447–456 (cit. on p. 86).</li> </ul>
[Schramm, 2010]	Gunnar Schramm, Eva-Maria Surmann, Stefan Wiesberg, Marcus Oswald, Gerhard Reinelt, Roland Eils, and Rainer König. "Analyzing the regulation of metabolic pathways in human breast cancer". In: <i>BMC Medical Genomics</i> 3.1 (Sept. 2010) (cit. on p. 86).
[Segler, 2018]	Marwin HS Segler, Mike Preuss, and Mark P Waller. "Planning chemical syntheses with deep neural networks and symbolic AI". In: <i>Nature</i> 555.7698 (2018), pp. 604–610 (cit. on p. 33).
[Shannon, 1948]	Claude E Shannon. "A mathematical theory of communication". In: <i>The Bell system technical journal</i> 27.3 (1948), pp. 379–423 (cit. on p. 17).
[Sharma, 2016]	Richa Sharma, Shailendra Narayan Singh, and Sujata Khatri. "Medical data mining us- ing different classification and clustering techniques: a critical survey". In: 2016 Second International Conference on Computational Intelligence & Communication Technol- ogy (CICT). IEEE. 2016, pp. 687–691 (cit. on p. 2).
[Singh, 2017]	Babita Singh and Eduardo Eyras. "The role of alternative splicing in cancer". In: <i>Transcription</i> 8.2 (2017), pp. 91–98 (cit. on p. 87).
[Stefan, 2020]	Norbert Stefan, Andreas L Birkenfeld, Matthias B Schulze, and David S Ludwig. "Obe- sity and impaired metabolic health in patients with COVID-19". In: <i>Nature Reviews</i> <i>Endocrinology</i> (2020), pp. 1–2 (cit. on p. 59).
[Suárez-Fariñas, 2010]	Mayte Suárez-Fariñas, Kejal R Shah, Asifa S Haider, James G Krueger, and Michelle A Lowes. "Personalized medicine in psoriasis: developing a genomic classifier to predict histological response to Alefacept". In: <i>BMC dermatology</i> 10.1 (2010), pp. 1–8 (cit. on p. 33).
[Sun, 2018]	Roger Sun, Elaine Johanna Limkin, Maria Vakalopoulou, Laurent Dercle, Stéphane Champiat, Shan Rong Han, Loïc Verlingue, David Brandao, Andrea Lancia, and Samy Ammari et al. "A radiomics approach to assess tumour-infiltrating CD 8 cells and response to anti-PD-1 or anti-PD-L1 immunotherapy: an imaging biomarker, retro- spective multicohort study". In: <i>The Lancet Oncology</i> 19.9 (Sept. 2018), pp. 1180– 1191 (cit. on pp. 5, 35, 36, 69, 97).
[Szklarczyk, 2018]	Damian Szklarczyk, Annika L Gable, David Lyon, Alexander Junge, Stefan Wyder, Jaime Huerta-Cepas, Milan Simonovic, Nadezhda T Doncheva, John H Morris, Peer Bork, et al. "STRING v11: protein–protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets". In: <i>Nucleic acids research</i> 47.D1 (2018), pp. D607–D613 (cit. on pp. 24, 70, 72, 73).
[Szklarczyk, 2016]	Damian Szklarczyk, John H Morris, Helen Cook, Michael Kuhn, Stefan Wyder, Mi- lan Simonovic, Alberto Santos, Nadezhda T Doncheva, Alexander Roth, Peer Bork, et al. "The STRING database in 2017: quality-controlled protein–protein association networks, made broadly accessible". In: <i>Nucleic acids research</i> (2016), gkw937 (cit. on p. 97).
[Tang, 2020]	Ning Tang, Dengju Li, Xiong Wang, and Ziyong Sun. "Abnormal coagulation parame- ters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia". In: <i>Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 33).

[Telesford, 2011]	Qawi K Telesford, Karen E Joyce, Satoru Hayasaka, Jonathan H Burdette, and Paul J Laurienti. "The ubiquity of small-world networks". In: <i>Brain connectivity</i> 1.5 (2011), pp. 367–375 (cit. on p. 3).
[Terpos, 2020]	Evangelos Terpos, Ioannis Ntanasis-Stathopoulos, Ismail Elalamy, Efstathios Kastri- tis, Theodoros N Sergentanis, Marianna Politou, Theodora Psaltopoulou, Grigoris Gerotziafas, and Meletios A Dimopoulos. "Hematological findings and complications of COVID-19". In: <i>American Journal of Hematology</i> (2020) (cit. on pp. 33, 59).
[Thorsson, 2018]	Vésteinn Thorsson, David L Gibbs, Scott D Brown, Denise Wolf, Dante S Bortone, Tai- Hsien Ou Yang, Eduard Porta-Pardo, Galen F Gao, Christopher L Plaisier, James A Eddy, et al. "The immune landscape of cancer". In: <i>Immunity</i> 48.4 (2018), pp. 812–830 (cit. on pp. 19, 71, 76, 81, 83, 84, 90, 91, 93, IV, V).
[Tibshirani, 1996]	Robert Tibshirani. "Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso". In: Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological) 58.1 (1996), pp. 267–288 (cit. on pp. 2, 16).
[Tilborghs, 2020]	Sofie Tilborghs, Ine Dirks, Lucas Fidon, Siri Willems, Tom Eelbode, Jeroen Bertels, Bart Ilsen, Arne Brys, Adriana Dubbeldam, Nico Buls, et al. "Comparative study of deep learning methods for the automatic segmentation of lung, lesion and lesion type in CT scans of COVID-19 patients". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:2007.15546</i> (2020) (cit. on p. 58).
[Tomassetti, 2015]	Sara Tomassetti, Jay H Ryu, and V Poletti. "Staging systems and disease severity assessment in interstitial lung diseases". In: <i>Current opinion in pulmonary medicine</i> 21.5 (2015), pp. 463–469 (cit. on p. 35).
[Torresani, 2008]	Lorenzo Torresani, Vladimir Kolmogorov, and Carsten Rother. "Feature correspon- dence via graph matching: Models and global optimization". In: <i>European conference</i> <i>on computer vision</i> . Springer. 2008, pp. 596–609 (cit. on p. 97).
[Torresani, 2012]	Lorenzo Torresani, Vladimir Kolmogorov, and Carsten Rother. "A dual decomposition approach to feature correspondence". In: <i>IEEE transactions on pattern analysis and machine intelligence</i> 35.2 (2012), pp. 259–271 (cit. on pp. 26, 121).
[Tusher, 2001]	Virginia Goss Tusher, Robert Tibshirani, and Gilbert Chu. "Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response". In: <i>Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences</i> 98.9 (2001), pp. 5116–5121 (cit. on pp. 70, 72).
[Vakalopoulou, 2018]	M. Vakalopoulou, G. Chassagnon, N. Bus, R. Marini, E. I. Zacharaki, MP. Revel, and N. Paragios. "AtlasNet: Multi-atlas Non-linear Deep Networks for Medical Image Segmentation". In: <i>Medical Image Computing and Computer Assisted Intervention –</i> <i>MICCAI 2018.</i> Ed. by Alejandro F. Frangi, Julia A. Schnabel, Christos Davatzikos, Carlos Alberola-López, and Gabor Fichtinger. Cham: Springer International Publish- ing, 2018, pp. 658–666 (cit. on pp. 35, 40, 44).
[Van Griethuysen, 2017]	Joost JM Van Griethuysen, Andriy Fedorov, Chintan Parmar, Ahmed Hosny, Nicole Aucoin, Vivek Narayan, Regina GH Beets-Tan, Jean-Christophe Fillion-Robin, Steve Pieper, and Hugo JWL Aerts. "Computational radiomics system to decode the radio- graphic phenotype". In: <i>Cancer research</i> 77.21 (2017), e104–e107 (cit. on p. 42).
[Vapnik, 1995]	Vladimir Vapnik, Isabel Guyon, and Trevor Hastie. "Support vector machines". In: Mach. Learn 20.3 (1995), pp. 273–297 (cit. on p. 11).

[Vellido, 2019]	Alfredo Vellido. "The importance of interpretability and visualization in machine learn- ing for applications in medicine and health care". In: <i>Neural computing and applications</i> (2019), pp. 1–15 (cit. on p. 2).
[Ver Steeg, 2014]	Greg Ver Steeg and Aram Galstyan. "Discovering structure in high-dimensional data through correlation explanation". In: <i>Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems</i> . 2014, pp. 577–585 (cit. on pp. 19, 20).
[Verhaak, 2010]	Roel GW Verhaak, Katherine A Hoadley, Elizabeth Purdom, Victoria Wang, Yuan Qi, Matthew D Wilkerson, C Ryan Miller, Li Ding, Todd Golub, Jill P Mesirov, et al. "Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1". In: <i>Cancer cell</i> 17.1 (2010), pp. 98–110 (cit. on p. 23).
[Vermeulen, 2020]	Roel Vermeulen, Emma L Schymanski, Albert-László Barabási, and Gary W Miller. "The exposome and health: Where chemistry meets biology". In: <i>Science</i> 367.6476 (2020), pp. 392–396 (cit. on p. 97).
[Wagner, 2015]	Florian Wagner. "GO-PCA: an unsupervised method to explore gene expression data using prior knowledge". In: <i>PloS one</i> 10.11 (2015), e0143196 (cit. on pp. 6, 23).
[Wagstaff, 2000]	Kiri Wagstaff. "Refining inductive bias in unsupervised learning via constraints". In: $AAAI/IAAI$ . 2000, p. 1112 (cit. on p. 98).
[Wainwright, 2005]	Martin J Wainwright, Tommi S Jaakkola, and Alan S Willsky. "MAP estimation via agreement on trees: message-passing and linear programming". In: <i>IEEE transactions on information theory</i> 51.11 (2005), pp. 3697–3717 (cit. on p. 27).
[Wan, 2010]	Ying-Wooi Wan, Yong Qian, Shruti Rathnagiriswaran, Vincent Castranova, and Nancy Lan Guo. "A breast cancer prognostic signature predicts clinical outcomes in multiple tumor types". In: <i>Oncology reports</i> 24.2 (2010), pp. 489–494 (cit. on p. 69).
[Wang, 2018]	Chendi Wang and Rafeef Abugharbieh. "Hypergraph based subnetwork extraction us- ing fusion of task and rest functional connectivity". In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:1801.05017</i> (2018) (cit. on p. 3).
[Wang, 2011]	Dashun Wang, Dino Pedreschi, Chaoming Song, Fosca Giannotti, and Albert-Laszlo Barabasi. "Human mobility, social ties, and link prediction". In: <i>Proceedings of the 17th</i> <i>ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining.</i> 2011, pp. 1100–1108 (cit. on p. 2).
[Warton, 2008]	David I Warton. "Penalized normal likelihood and ridge regularization of correlation and covariance matrices". In: <i>Journal of the American Statistical Association</i> 103.481 (2008), pp. 340–349 (cit. on p. 16).
[Watts, 1998]	Duncan J Watts and Steven H Strogatz. "Collective dynamics of 'small-world'networks". In: <i>nature</i> 393.6684 (1998), pp. 440–442 (cit. on p. 122).
[Wiens, 2012]	Jenna Anne Marleau Wiens, John V Guttag, and Eric Horvitz. "Patient risk strati- fication for hospital-associated c. diff as a time-series classification task". In: (2012) (cit. on p. 33).
[Williams, 1998]	Christopher KI Williams and David Barber. "Bayesian classification with Gaussian processes". In: <i>IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence</i> 20.12 (1998), pp. 1342–1351 (cit. on p. 15).

[Wu, 2019]	Xiaoping Wu, Grace H Kim, Margaret L Salisbury, David Barber, Brian J Bartholmai, Kevin K Brown, Craig S Conoscenti, Jan De Backer, Kevin R Flaherty, James F Gruden, et al. "Computed tomographic biomarkers in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. The future of quantitative analysis". In: <i>American journal of respiratory and critical</i> <i>care medicine</i> 199.1 (2019), pp. 12–21 (cit. on p. 35).
[Wynants, 2020]	Laure Wynants, Ben Van Calster, Marc MJ Bonten, Gary S Collins, Thomas PA De- bray, Maarten De Vos, Maria C Haller, Georg Heinze, Karel GM Moons, Richard D Riley, et al. "Prediction models for diagnosis and prognosis of covid-19 infection: sys- tematic review and critical appraisal". In: <i>bmj</i> 369 (2020) (cit. on p. 59).
[Xiang, 2008]	Shiming Xiang, Feiping Nie, and Changshui Zhang. "Learning a Mahalanobis distance metric for data clustering and classification". In: <i>Pattern Recognition</i> 41.12 (Dec. 2008), pp. 3600–3612 (cit. on pp. 97, 98).
[Xiao, 2017]	Jian Xiao, Xiaoxiao Lu, Xi Chen, Yong Zou, Aibin Liu, Wei Li, Bixiu He, Shuya He, and Qiong Chen. "Eight potential biomarkers for distinguishing between lung ade- nocarcinoma and squamous cell carcinoma". In: <i>Oncotarget</i> 8.42 (May 2017) (cit. on pp. 85, 86).
[Xing, 2002]	Eric P Xing, Andrew Y Ng, Michael I Jordan, and Stuart Russell. "Distance metric learning with application to clustering with side-information". In: <i>NIPS</i> . Vol. 15. 505– 512. Citeseer. 2002, p. 12 (cit. on pp. 97, 98).
[Xu, 2018]	Keyulu Xu, Weihua Hu, Jure Leskovec, and Stefanie Jegelka. "How powerful are graph neural networks?" In: <i>arXiv preprint arXiv:1810.00826</i> (2018) (cit. on p. 97).
[Xu, 2008]	Rui Xu and Don Wunsch. Clustering. Vol. 10. John Wiley & Sons, 2008 (cit. on p. 1).
[Yin, 2017]	Hao Yin, Austin R. Benson, Jure Leskovec, and David F. Gleich. "Local Higher-Order Graph Clustering". In: <i>Proceedings of the 23rd ACM SIGKDD International Con-</i> <i>ference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining.</i> KDD '17. Halifax, NS, Canada: Association for Computing Machinery, 2017, pp. 555–564 (cit. on pp. 3, 97, 99).
[Yip, 2016]	Stephen SF Yip and Hugo JWL Aerts. "Applications and limitations of radiomics". In: Physics in Medicine & Biology 61.13 (2016), R150 (cit. on p. 5).
[Yu, 2003]	Lei Yu and Huan Liu. "Feature selection for high-dimensional data: A fast correlation- based filter solution". In: <i>Proceedings of the 20th international conference on machine</i> <i>learning (ICML-03)</i> . 2003, pp. 856–863 (cit. on p. 97).
[Yu, 2017]	Zhiwen Yu, Zongqiang Kuang, Jiming Liu, Hongsheng Chen, Jun Zhang, Jane You, Hau-San Wong, and Guoqiang Han. "Adaptive ensembling of semi-supervised clus- tering solutions". In: <i>IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering</i> 29.8 (2017), pp. 1577–1590 (cit. on p. 98).
[Yuan, 2020]	Mingli Yuan, Wen Yin, Zhaowu Tao, Weijun Tan, and Yi Hu. "Association of radiologic findings with mortality of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China". In: <i>PLoS One</i> 15.3 (2020), e0230548 (cit. on pp. 33, 58).
[Zhang, 2015]	Yanfeng Zhang and Qiuyin Cai. "Whole-Exome Sequencing Identifies Novel Somatic Mutations in Chinese Breast Cancer Patients". In: <i>Journal of Molecular and Genetic</i> <i>Medicine</i> 09.04 (2015) (cit. on pp. 85, 86).
[Zhou, 2020a]	Fei Zhou, Ting Yu, Ronghui Du, Guohui Fan, Ying Liu, Zhibo Liu, Jie Xiang, Yeming Wang, Bin Song, Xiaoying Gu, et al. "Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of

	adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study". In: <i>The Lancet</i> (2020) (cit. on pp. 5, 33, 59).
[Zhou, 2020b]	Peng Zhou, Xing-Lou Yang, Xian-Guang Wang, Ben Hu, Lei Zhang, Wei Zhang, Hao- Rui Si, Yan Zhu, Bei Li, Chao-Lin Huang, et al. "A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin". In: <i>nature</i> 579.7798 (2020), pp. 270–273 (cit. on p. 5).
[Zhu, 2020]	Na Zhu, Dingyu Zhang, Wenling Wang, Xingwang Li, Bo Yang, Jingdong Song, Xiang Zhao, Baoying Huang, Weifeng Shi, Roujian Lu, et al. "A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019". In: <i>New England Journal of Medicine</i> (2020) (cit. on pp. 5, 33).
[Zou, 2005]	Hui Zou and Trevor Hastie. "Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net". In: Journal of the royal statistical society: series B (statistical methodology) 67.2 (2005), pp. 301–320 (cit. on pp. 2, 17).



#### Approches de théorie des graphes d'ordre supérieur pour diverses données omiques

Mots clés: Conditional Random Field, Feature Selection, Clustering/Classification, Omiques

Cette thèse introduit l'usage d'approches reposant sur les « conditional random fields » à diverses applications médicales et données omiques. Ces méthodes permettent de tirer parti au mieux d'informations structurelles lourdes à interpréter et analyser. En particulier, l'emploi de la théorie des graphes d'ordre supérieur revêt un intérêt majeur pour l'expression de relations biologiques complexes. Nous démontrons leur pertinence dans les domaines du « clustering » et de la sélection de variables pour la classification. Nous nous sommes appuyé sur plusieurs applications médicales et données omiques pour mettre ces résultats en lumière.

Dans un premier temps, nous avons proposé un système générique et résilient de sélection de variables et de classification que nous avons développé pour déterminer la sévérité de la maladie de patients atteints de la Covid-19. Dans ce but, nous nous sommes appuyés sur des informations extraites de segmentations automatiques des organes et zones lésées que nous avons combinés avec des informations cliniques. Nous avons identifié un nombre restraint de facteurs déterminants la classification. Nous avons obtenu des performances prometteuses dépassant celles de radiologues experts sur les tâches considérées. Nous avons étendu plus avant et adapté cette méthodologie pour traiter d'autres données omiques, maladies et attendus médicaux.

Par la suite, nous avons étudié un procédé de clustering pour la définition d'une signature de gènes présentant un intérêt clinique vis-à-vis de la caractérisation pan-cancer de lésions. Bien des études ce sont essayées à la description du cancer grâce à la génomique. Cependant, la grande dimensionalité des données représente un formidable obstacle. Nous avons prouvé la pertinence de la signature génétique très compacte générée par notre méthode en recourrant à des approches supervisées et non-supervisées pour la caractérisation des types et sous-types de tumeurs.

Finalement, nous avons défini une nouvelle approche d'apprentissage de distance d'ordre supérieur à viser de sélection et de pondération de variables. Fort de la grande expressivité de ce paradigme, nous avons exploré diverses propriétés de théorie des graphes d'ordre supérieur et avons établi que, dans le cadre d'une tâche de classification, ils possèdent une grande expressivité et permettent d'obtenir des résultats supérieurs à ceux des méthodes standards.

### High dimensional graph theory approaches for various omics data

Keywords: Conditional Random Field, Feature Selection, Clustering/Classification, Omics

This thesis presented conditional-random-field-based approaches for medical applications on diverse omics data. This methodology allowed leveraging more complex, structural information and notable assets from graph theory, particularly interesting to express intricate biological properties. We demonstrated their usefulness for clustering and feature selection towards classification. Their relevance was exemplified over several medical applications and omics data.

First, we focused on a clustering process towards the determination of a clinically relevant gene signature for pan-cancer tumors characterization. We highlighted our compact signature's relevance by resorting to unsupervised and supervised tumor types and subtypes distinction.

Second, we proposed a generic and resilient feature selection and classification pipeline we developed for Covid-19 patients staging and outcome prediction using only CT scans and clinical information. Relying on an automated segmentation technique, we extracted imaging information. We singled out few relevant factors for classification. We obtained promising performance outperforming radiologist experts on all the tasks. We further extended and adapted our methodology to cope with other different omics data, diseases, and medical expectations.

Finally, we formulated a new higher-order distance learning framework for feature selection and weighting. We proposed a mathematical optimization method for its resolution able to handle the high-order information complexity efficiently. We established those attributes informativeness in classification settings and reported superior results than with standard approaches.